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No securities are being offered pursuant to this Prospectus. 

This non-offering preliminary prospectus (the “Prospectus”) of 1014379 B.C. Ltd. (the “Company”), is 
being filed with the British Columbia Securities Commission (“BCSC”), as principal regulator, and the 
Alberta Securities Commission for the purposes of becoming a reporting issuer pursuant to applicable 
securities legislation in the Provinces of British Columbia and Alberta. Upon the final receipt of this 
Prospectus by the BCSC, the Company will become a reporting issuer in British Columbia and Alberta. 
Since no securities are being offered pursuant to this Prospectus, no proceeds will be raised, and all 
expenses incurred in connection with the preparation and filing of this Prospectus will be paid by the 
Company from its general corporate funds.  

There is no market through which the securities of the Company may be sold. This may affect the 
pricing of the Company’s securities in the secondary markets; the transparency and availability of 
trading prices; the liquidity of the Company’s securities and the extent of issuer regulations. Please 
refer to the risk factor disclosure throughout the Prospectus. 

An application has been filed by the Company to have its common shares (the “Common Shares”) listed 
for trading on the Canadian Securities Exchange (the “CSE”) under the proposed symbol “LITE”. Listing on 
the CSE (the “Listing”) is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing requirements the CSE including 
meeting all minimum requirements. The CSE has not conditionally approved the Company’s listing 
application and there is no assurance that it will do so. As at the date of this Prospectus, the Company does 
not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not applied to list or quote any of its securities, and does 
not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the Toronto Stock Exchange, Aequitas NEO 
Exchange Inc., a US marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and the United States of America. 

An investment in the securities of the Company or the Resulting Issuer is subject to a number of 
risks. Investors should carefully consider the risk factors described under “Captios – Risk Factors” 
and “The Resulting Issuer – Risk Factors” before purchasing any securities of the Company. 

No underwriter or selling agent has been involved in the preparation of this Prospectus or 
performed any review or independent due diligence investogation of the contents of this 
propsectus. 

This Prospectus does not constitute an offer to sell or the solicitation of an offer to buy any 
securities. 

No person has been authorized to provide any information or to make any representation not contained in 
this Prospectus and, if provided or made, such information or representation should not be relied upon. The 
information contained in this Prospectus is accurate only as of the date of this Prospectus. 



Unless otherwise noted all currency amounts in this Prospectus are stated in Canadian dollars. 

Investors are advised that it may not be possible for investors to enforce judgments obtained in 
Canada against any person or company that is incorporated, continued or otherwise organized 
under the laws of a foreign jurisdiction or that resides outside of Canada, even if the party has 
appointed an agent for service of process.
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GLOSSARY 

“Acquisition” has the meaning set out under the heading “The Company – Corporate Structure – Name, 
Address and Incorporation”. 

“Arrangement” means the statutory plan of arrangement effected among the Company, Bravura Ventures 
Corp. and Nuran Wireless Inc. pursuant to the Arrangement Agreement. 

“Arrangement Agreement” means the arrangement agreement between the Company, Bravura Ventures 
Corp. and Nuran Wireless Inc. dated October 14, 2014.  

“Audit Committee” means the Audit Committee of the Company constituted in accordance with NI 52-110. 

“BCBCA” means Business Corporations Act (British Columbia). 

“BCSC” means the British Columbia Securities Commission.  

“Board of Directors” or “Board” means the board of directors of the Company. 

“Captios” means Captios, LLC. 

“Captios Board” means the board of directors of Captios. 

“Captios Shares” means the common shares of Captios. 

“CEO” means Chief Executive Officer. 

“CFO” means Chief Financial Officer. 

“Closing” means the completion of the Acquisition in accordance with the Securities Exchange Agreement. 

“Common Shares” means the common shares of the Company. 

“Company” means 1014379 B.C. Ltd. 

“CSE” or the “Exchange” means the Canadian Securities Exchange. 

“CSE Escrow Agreement” means the escrow agreement to be entered into prior to Listing, among the 
Company, the Escrow Agent and certain security holders of the Company pursuant to NP 46-201. 

“CSE Escrow Securities” means the Resulting Issuer Shares that are held in escrow pursuant to the CSE 
Escrow Agreement. 

“DSCSA” means the United States Drug Supply Chain Security Act. 

“Escrow Agent” means National Securities Administrators Ltd. 

“Escrow Holder” has the meaning set out under the heading “Escrowed Securities”. 

“FDA” means United States Food and Drug Administration. 

“IFRS” means International Financial Reporting Standards. 

“IoT” means internet of things. 
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“Listing” means the proposed listing of the Resulting Issuer Shares on the CSE. 

“Management” means the management of the Company. 

“MD&A” means Management’s Discussion and Analysis included in this Prospectus. 

“Named executive officers” or “NEOs” means the CEO and CFO and the next two next most highly 
compensated executive officers of the given organization who are currently serving as executive officers. 

“NI 41-101” means National Instrument 41-101 – General Prospectus Requirements. 

“NI 52-110” means National Instrument 52-110 – Audit Committees. 

“NI 58-101” means National Instrument 58-101 – Disclosure of Corporate Governance Practices. 

“NP 46-201” means National Policy 46-201 – Escrow for Initial Public Offerings. 

“Partum Agreement” means the corporate management agreement dated August 1, 2019 with Partum 
Advisory Services Corp. to provide certain management and administrative services to the Company. 

“Private Placement Financing” means the non-brokered private placement of the Company completed on 
September 3, 2020 consisting of 4,090,506 Common Shares at a price of $0.15 per Common Share for 
aggregate proceeds of $613,575.90. 

“Prospectus” means this preliminary non-offering prospectus of the Company. 

“Resulting Issuer” means the Company following completion of the Acquisition. 

“Resulting Issuer Board” means the board of directors of the Resulting Issuer. 

“Resulting Issuer Shares” means the common shares of the Resulting Issuer.  

“SaaS” means software-as-a-service, a software licensing and delivery model.  

“SEDAR” means the system for electronic document analysis and retrieval. 

“Shareholder” means a holder of Common Shares. 

“Spotlite360” means Spotlite360, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Captios.  

“Tax Act” means Income Tax Act (Canada). 

“TrackX” means TrackX Holdings Inc., a corporation incorporated under the laws of British Columbia and 
licensor of a SaaS-based supply chain technology platform.

“Transfer Agent Agreement” means the transfer agent and registrar agreement dated August 1, 2019, 
with National Securities Administrators Ltd. to provide transfer agent and registrar services to the Company. 

“US” or “United States” means United States of America. 
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GENERAL MATTERS 

Unless otherwise noted or the context indicates otherwise the terms “we”, “us”, “our” or the “Company” 
refer to 1014379 B.C. Ltd. 

Certain capitalized and other terms and phrases used in this Prospectus are defined in the “Glossary”. 

An investor should rely only on the information contained in this Prospectus. The Company has not 
authorized anyone to provide investors with additional or different information. Any graphs, tables or other 
information demonstrating the historical performance of the Company or of any other entity contained in 
this Prospectus are intended only to illustrate past performance and are not necessarily indicative of our 
future performance or the future performance of such entities. The information contained in this Prospectus 
is accurate only as of the date of this Prospectus or the date indicated.  

This Prospectus includes a summary description of certain material agreements of the Company under 
“The Company – Material Contracts”, of Captios under “Captios – Material Contracts” and of the Resulting 
Issuer under “The Resulting Issuer – Material Contracts”. The summary description discloses attributes 
material to an investor but is not complete and is qualified by reference to the terms of the material 
agreements, which will be filed with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities and available on SEDAR 
at www.sedar.com. Investors are encouraged to read the full text of such material agreements. 

Financial Statement Presentation in this Prospectus 

This Prospectus contains financial information for the Company and Captios for the periods and dates 
indicated. The selected financial information of the Company has been derived from (i) the audited financial 
statements of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018; (ii) the audited financial 
statements of the Company for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017; the unaudited interim 
financial statements of the Company for the six-month period ended June 30, 2020; the audited financial 
statements of Captios for the period ended August 31, 2020; and the pro forma consolidated financial 
statements for the combined business of the Resulting Issuer as at June 30, 2020, which have been 
prepared in accordance with IFRS (collectively, the “Financial Statements”), and are included in this 
Prospectus, as follows:  

Schedule “A” ─ 
the audited financial statements of the Company for the years ended 
December 31, 2019 and 2018; 

Schedule “B” ─ 
the audited financial statements of the Company for the years ended 
December 31, 2018 and 2017; 

Schedule “C” ─ 
the unaudited condensed interim financial statements of the Company for 
the six-month period ended June 30, 2020 and 2019; 

Schedule “D” ─ 
the audited financial statements of Captios for the period ended August 
31, 2020; and 

Schedule “E” ─
the unaudited pro forma consolidated financial statements of the combined 
business of the Resulting Issuer as at June 30, 2020.  

For information on the Company’s MD&A in respect of the above financial information, please see “The 
Company – Selected Financial Information of the Company and MD&A – Selected Management’s 
Discussion and Analysis”. 
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Forward-Looking Information 

This Prospectus contains “forward-looking information” within the meaning of applicable Canadian 
securities legislation, with respect to the Company, Captios, and the Resulting Issuer. The forward-looking 
information included in this Prospectus is not based on historical facts, but rather on the expectations of the 
Company’s management regarding the future growth of the Resulting Issuer, its results of operations, 
performance, business prospects, and opportunities. This Prospectus uses words such as “will”, “expects”, 
“anticipates”, “intends”, “plans”, “believes”, “estimates”, or similar expressions to identify forward-looking 
information. Such forward-looking information reflects the current beliefs of the Company’s management, 
based on information currently available to them. 

This forward looking information includes, among other things, statements relating to: the completion of the 
Acquisition, the Listing and matters related thereto; the intentions, plans and future actions of the Company, 
Captios and the Resulting Issuer; statements relating to the business and future activities of the Company, 
Captios and the Resulting Issuer; anticipated developments in operations of the Company, Captios and the 
Resulting Issuer; market position, ability to compete and future financial or operating performance of the 
Company, Captios and the Resulting Issuer; the timing and amount of funding required to execute the 
business plans of the Company, Captios and the Resulting Issuer; capital expenditures of the Company, 
Captios and the Resulting Issuer; the effect on the Company, Captios and the Resulting Issuer of any 
changes to existing or new legislation or policy or government regulation; the length of time required to 
obtain permits, certifications and approvals; the availability of labour; estimated budgets; currency 
fluctuations; requirements for additional capital; limitations on insurance coverage; the timing and possible 
outcome of regulatory and permitting matters; goals; strategies; future growth; the adequacy of financial 
resources; our proposed use of available funds; our expectations regarding revenues, expenses and 
anticipated cash needs. 

In addition, any statements that refer to expectations, intentions, projections or other characterizations of 
future events or circumstances contain forward looking information. Forward looking statements are based 
on certain assumptions and analyses made by the Company in light of the experience and perception of 
historical trends, current conditions, and expected future developments and other factors it believes are 
appropriate, and are subject to risks and uncertainties. Although the Company, Captios and the Resulting 
Issuer believe that the assumptions underlying these statements are reasonable, they may prove to be 
incorrect, and there can be no assurance that actual results will be consistent with these forward looking 
statements. Given these risks, uncertainties, and assumptions, prospective investors should not place 
undue reliance on these forward looking statements. Whether actual results, performance, or achievements 
will conform to the expectations and predictions of the Company, Captios or the Resulting Issuer, as 
applicable, is subject to a number of known and unknown risks, uncertainties, assumptions, and other 
factors, including those listed under “Captios – Risk Factors” and “The Resulting Issuer – Risk Factors”, 
which include:  

 operational risks; 

 market price of the Common Shares may not be high enough to create positive return for current 
investors; 

 no prior market for the Common Shares;  

 high level of price and volume volatility in the capital markets; 

 no dividends for the foreseeable future; 

 reliance on management and key employees; 

 risks associated with foreign operations in other countries; 
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 risk associated with acquisitions; 

 exposure to information systems security threats; 

 lack of sufficient insurance; 

 changes in laws, regulations, and guidelines relating to the Company’s or Captios’ business, 
including tax and accounting requirements; 

 conflict of interests of directors and officers; 

 competition in the industry in which the Company or Captios operates; 

 uncertainty an adverse changes in the economy; 

 the impact of COVID-19 on the Company’s or Captios’ business; 

 increased expenses as a result of being a public company and having public company disclosure 
obligations; 

 dilution as a result of future sale of Common Shares; 

 evolving market and difficulty of evaluation future prospects; 

 rapid technological change in the industry in which the Company or Captios operates; 

 managing growth in a high-tech environment;  

 a highly competitive industry;  

 defective products; 

 failure to obtain or maintain required regulatory approvals;  

 regulatory regime the Company or Captios operates in; 

 possibility of data breaches and inadequacy of consumer protection and data privacy policies; 

 increased research and development costs and reduced profitability as a result; 

 lack of outside funding available for research and development; 

 shipping products outside of Canada and approvals required for exporting; 

 potential litigation; 

 reliance on business partners; 

 failure to protect and maintain and the consequential loss of intellectual property rights; 



- vi - 

 adverse impacts on reported results of operations as a result of adopting new accounting standards 
or interpretations; and 

 changes in accounting standards and subjective assumptions, estimates and judgments by 
management related to complex accounting matters. 

If any of these risks or uncertainties materialize, or if assumptions underlying the forward looking statements 
prove incorrect, actual results might vary materially from those anticipated in the forward looking 
statements. 

Information contained in forward looking statements in this Prospectus is provided as of the date of this 
Prospectus, and the Company disclaims any obligation to update any forward looking statements, whether 
as a result of new information or future events or results, except to the extent required by applicable 
securities laws. Accordingly, potential investors should not place undue reliance on forward looking 
statements or the information contained in those statements. 

All of the forward-looking information contained in this Prospectus is expressly qualified by the 
foregoing cautionary statements. Investors should read this entire Prospectus and consult their 
own professional advisors to ascertain and assess the income tax, legal, risk factors and other 
aspects of their investment.

Market and Industry Data 

Market and industry data presented throughout this Prospectus was obtained from third party sources, 
industry reports and publications, websites and other publicly available information as well as industry and 
other data prepared by the Company or on the Company’s behalf on the basis of our knowledge of the 
markets in which the Company, Captios and the Resulting Issuer operate, including information provided 
by suppliers, customers and other industry participants. Each of the Company, Captios and the Resulting 
Issuer believe that the market and economic data presented throughout this Prospectus is accurate and, 
with respect to data prepared by the Company, Captios and the Resulting Issuer or on their behalf, that 
such estimates and assumptions are currently appropriate and reasonable, but there can be no assurance 
as to the accuracy or completeness thereof. The accuracy and completeness of the market and economic 
data presented throughout this Prospectus are not guaranteed and none of the Company, Captios or the 
Resulting Issuer make any representation as to the accuracy of such data. Actual outcomes may vary 
materially from those forecast in such reports or publications, and the prospect for material variation can 
be expected to increase as the length of the forecast period increases. Although the Company, Captios and 
the Resulting Issuer believe it to be reliable, there has been no independent verification any of the data 
from third party sources referred to in this Prospectus, analyzed or verified the underlying studies or surveys 
relied upon or referred to by such sources, or ascertained the underlying market, economic and other 
assumptions relied upon by such sources. Market and economic data is subject to variations and cannot 
be verified due to limits on the availability and reliability of data inputs, the voluntary nature of the data 
gathering process and other limitations and uncertainties inherent in any statistical survey.  

Currency Presentation 

In this Prospectus, unless otherwise specified or the context otherwise requires, all dollar amounts are 
expressed in Canadian dollars. 
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PROSPECTUS SUMMARY 

This summary highlights principal features of the Company and certain information contained elsewhere in 
this Prospectus. You should read this entire Prospectus carefully, especially the “Captios – Risk Factors”
and “The Resulting Issuer – Risk Factors” sections of this Prospectus and our financial statements and 
related notes appearing elsewhere in this Prospectus. Certain capitalized terms and phrases used in this 
Prospectus are defined in the “Glossary”.  

The Company

The Company was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on September 23, 
2014. The address of its head office is 810-789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, 
V6C 1H2.  

On October 14, 2014, the Company entered into an arrangement agreement with Bravura Ventures Corp 
(“Bravura,” its former parent company) and Nuran Wireless Inc. (“Nuran”, previously 1014372 B.C. Ltd.) 
whereby the Company formed part of a statutory plan of arrangement (the “Arrangement”) to become a 
reporting issuer in the provinces of British Columbia and Alberta. The arrangement was approved 
November 14, 2014 and was completed March 11, 2015.  

Captios 

The business of Captios is comprised of the delivery of a SaaS-based supply chain execution and 
sustainability platform to enterprise customers in the pharmaceutical, healthcare and agricultural industries, 
and is known as Spotlite360. By leveraging IoT technologies, blockchain, machine learning and analytics, 
Spotlite360 is uniquely positioned to meet customer needs for supply chain execution, tracing, tracking, 
and sustainability. Customers will benefit by realizing improved visibility, a reduction in loss and theft, 
increased supply chain velocity, labor efficiency, improves asset utilization, and support of their global 
sustainability initiatives. 

Business of the Resulting Issuer 

The business of Captios will become the business of the Resulting Issuer under the name Captios 
Technologies Inc. or such other name as may be approved by the Company shareholders or as may be 
approved by the regulatory authorities.  

The Resulting Issuer will carry on the business of Captios.  

The Acquisition 

On June 21, 2020, the Company entered into a securities exchange agreement dated as of June 21, 2020, 
with Captios, LLC (“Captios”) and the members of Captios (the “Securities Exchange Agreement”). 
Pursuant to the Securities Exchange Agreement, the Company agreed to purchase and the members of 
Captios agreed to sell 20,100,000 ordinary shares of Captios (the “Captios Shares”), being all of the issued 
and outstanding ordinary shares of Captios, to the Company (the “Acquisition”). As consideration for the 
sale of the Captios Shares, the Company has agreed to issue to the vendors an aggregate of 20,100,000 
Common Shares. A condition of Closing includes, among other things, that the Common Shares will have 
been approved for listing on the CSE. 

Business Objectives and Milestones 

The primary objective business objectives for the Company over the next 12 months are: 

(a) to complete the Acquisition of Captios; and 
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(b) to develop Captios’ business. 

Available Funds and Principal Purposes 

Upon completion of the Acquisition, it is anticipated the Resulting Issuer will have available funds as follows:  

Sources of Available Funds 

Private Placement Financing .............................................................  $613,576

Total (unaudited) .............................................................................  $613,576 

Upon completion of the Acquisition, the principal purposes for the foregoing available funds will be as 
follows: 

Principal Purposes 

General and administrative costs(1) ...................................................  $83,276 

Solution Delivery ................................................................................  $32,000 

Sales and marketing $32,000 

Research and development $64,300 

License fee for technology platform $402,000

Total .................................................................................................. $613,576 

Unallocated Funds ..........................................................................  $nil 

Notes:  

(1) Inclusive of fees and expenses associated with the Listing and the Prospectus.  

The Resulting Issuer intends to spend the funds available to it as stated in this Prospectus. There may be 
circumstances, however, where for sound business reasons a reallocation of funds may be necessary. Use 
of funds will be subject to the discretion of management. Until the Resulting Issuer uses the unallocated 
funds, it will hold them in cash and/or invest them in short-term, interest-bearing, investment-grade 
securities. Please see “The Resulting Issuer – Available Funds and Principal Purposes”, “Captios – Risk 
Factors” and “The Resulting Issuer – Risk Factors” for further detail.  

Directors and Officers of the Company 

The Board consists of Eugene Beukman, Alexander Somjen and Joel Dumaresq. Management of the 
Company is Eugene Beukman, CEO and Peter Nguyen, CFO and Corporate Secretary. 

Risk Factors: An investment in the securities of the Company is subject to a number of risk factors 
that should be carefully considered by prospective investors. These risks include, but 
are not limited to:

 operational risks; 

 market price of the Common Shares may not be high enough to create positive 
return for current investors; 

 no prior market for the Common Shares;  
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 high level of price and volume volatility in the capital markets; 

 no dividends for the foreseeable future; 

 reliance on management and key employees; 

 risks associated with foreign operations in other countries; 

 risk associated with acquisitions; 

 exposure to information systems security threats; 

 lack of sufficient insurance; 

 changes in laws, regulations, and guidelines relating to the Company’s or 
Captios’ business, including tax and accounting requirements; 

 conflict of interests of directors and officers; 

 competition in the industry in which the Company or Captios operates; 

 uncertainty an adverse changes in the economy; 

 increased expenses as a result of being a public company and having public 
company disclosure obligations; 

 dilution as a result of future sale of Common Shares; 

 evolving market and difficulty of evaluation future prospects; 

 rapid technological change in the industry in which the Company or Captios 
operates; 

 managing growth in a high-tech environment;  

 a highly competitive industry;  

 having defective products; 

 failure to obtain or maintain required regulatory approvals;  

 regulatory regime the Company or Captios operates in; 

 possibility of data breaches and inadequacy of consumer protection and data 
privacy policies; 

 increased research and development costs and reduced profitability as a 
result; 

 lack of outside funding available for research and development; 
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 shipping products outside of Canada and approvals required for exporting; 

 potential litigation; 

 reliance on business partners; 

 failure to protect and maintain and the consequential loss of intellectual 
property rights; 

 adverse impacts on reported results of operations as a result of adopting new 
accounting standards or interpretations;  

 changes in accounting standards and subjective assumptions, estimates and 
judgments by management related to complex accounting matters; and 

 impacts of COVID-19 on the Company’s or Captios’ business. 

Please see “Captios – Risk Factors”, “The Resulting Issuer – Risk Factors” and other 
information included in this Prospectus for a discussion of the risks that an investor
should carefully consider before deciding to invest in Common Shares.  

Summary of Financial Information 

The following table sets forth selected pro forma financial information for the Resulting Issuer as at June 
30, 2020, after giving effect to the Acquisition as described in the pro forma financial statements of the 
Resulting Issuer attached as Schedule “E” hereto.  

Pro Forma balance Sheet 

Company 
Pro Forma as at 
June 30, 2020 

Current Assets $909,666

Current Liabilities $599,067 

Total Liabilities and 
Shareholders’ Equity 

$4,155,926 

Market for Securities 

An application has been filed by the Company to have its common shares listed for trading on the CSE 
under the proposed symbol “LITE”. Listing on the CSE is subject to the Company fulfilling all of the listing 
requirements the CSE including meeting all minimum requirements. The CSE has not conditionally 
approved the Company’s listing application and there is no assurance that it will do so. As at the date of 
this Prospectus, the Company does not have any of its securities listed or quoted, has not applied to list or 
quote any of its securities, and does not intend to apply to list or quote any of its securities, on the Toronto 
Stock Exchange, Aequitas NEO Exchange Inc., a US marketplace, or a marketplace outside Canada and 
the United States of America. 

No Proceeds Raised 

This Prospectus is a non-offering prospectus prepared and filed in order to satisfy certain listing 
requirements for the CSE and in connection with the Acquisition. No proceeds will be raised pursuant to 
this Prospectus. 
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Risk Factors 

An investment in the Company or the Resulting Issuer following completion of the Acquisition involves a 
high degree of risk. There are risks inherent with completion of the Acquisition and with respect to the 
business of the Resulting Issuer. You should carefully consider the information in this Prospectus and the 
information set out under “Captios – Risk Factors” and “The Resulting Issuer – Risk Factors”.
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THE COMPANY 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

Name, Address and Incorporation  

The full corporate name of the Company is 1014379 B.C. Ltd. The Company was incorporated on 
September 23, 2014 under the BCBCA. The head office and registered office is located at Suite 810-789 
West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 1H2. The Company's Common Shares do not 
currently trade on any stock exchange.  

BUSINESS OF THE COMPANY 

Description of the Business  

The principal business of the Company is to identify, evaluate and then acquire an interest in a business or 
assets. The Company’s continuing operations, as intended, are dependent upon its ability to identify, 
evaluate and negotiate an acquisition of or participation in an interest in properties, assets or businesses. 
There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to complete such activities or obtain financing to 
continue; therefore, a material uncertainty exists that casts significant doubt over the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. The Company does not have a history of earnings, nor has it paid any 
dividends and will not generate earnings or pay dividends. 

On June 21, 2020, the Company entered into a securities exchange agreement dated as of June 21, 2020, 
with Captios, LLC (“Captios”) and the members of Captios (the “Securities Exchange Agreement”). 
Pursuant to the Securities Exchange Agreement, the Company agreed to purchase and the members of 
Captios agreed to sell 20,100,000 ordinary shares of Captios (the “Captios Shares”), being all of the issued 
and outstanding ordinary shares of Captios, to the Company (the “Acquisition”). As consideration for the 
sale of the Captios Shares, the Company has agreed to issue to the vendors an aggregate of 20,100,000 
Common Shares. A condition of Closing includes, among other things, that the Common Shares will have 
been approved for listing on the CSE. 

Three Year History  

On October 14, 2014, the Company entered into the Arrangement Agreement with Bravura Ventures Corp 
(“Bravura,” the Company’s former parent entity) and Nuran Wireless Inc. (“Nuran”, previously 1014372 
B.C. Ltd.) whereby the Company would form part of a statutory plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement") 
to become a reporting issuer in the provinces of British Columbia and Alberta. The Arrangement was 
approved November 14, 2014 and was completed March 11, 2015.  

The Arrangement was approved by the shareholders at the annual and special general meeting of the 
Company held November 14, 2014 and was completed March 11, 2015. Pursuant to the Arrangement 
Agreement: 

 each of the issued and outstanding common shares of Bravura was exchanged for one new 
common share, one Class 1 reorganization share and one Class 2 reorganization shares of 
Bravura, and all of the common shares of Bravura outstanding prior to the Arrangement were 
cancelled; 

 all Class 2 reorganization shares were transferred to the Company in exchange for Common 
Shares; 

 Bravura redeemed all of the Class 2 reorganization shares and satisfied the redemption amount 
of such shares by the transfer to the Company of $45,000 of cash; and the Company completed 
a financing of 2,938,349 common shares for gross proceeds of $58,767.  
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On May 6, 2019, a cease trade order (“CTO”) was issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission 
(the “BCSC”), as a result of the failure of the Company, under its previous management, to file annual 
financial statements and related management’s discussion and analysis within the required time. On 
November 7, 2019, the CTO was revoked as the Company addressed all of the outstanding filing 
deficiencies and brought its continuous disclosure records on SEDAR up to date. As a condition of receiving 
the revocation order, the Company provided the BCSC with an undertaking to hold its annual shareholders’ 
meeting within three months from November 7, 2019. The Company satisfied this condition and held its 
annual shareholders’ meeting on February 7, 2020. 

On November 21, 2019, pursuant to debt settlement agreements, the Company issued 13,440,000 common 
shares with a fair value of $336,000 to certain creditors of the Company, including a company controlled by 
a director of the Company, to settle accounts payable of $336,000.  

On May 8, 2020 the Company completed a private placement and issued 2,040,000 common shares at a 
purchase price of $0.025 for gross proceeds of $51,000. 

On June 21, 2020 the Company entered into the Securities Exchange Agreement with Captios and the 
members of Captios in respect of the Acquisition, whereby the Company will acquire all of the issued and 
outstanding Captios Shares, being 20,100,000 Captios Shares, in exchange for 20,100,000 Common 
Shares.  

On September 3, 2020, the Company completed the Private Placement Financing.  

DIVIDENDS OR DISTRIBUTIONS 

To date, the Company has not declared any dividends or distributions on the Common Shares although 
there are no restrictions precluding the Company from declaring any such dividends. The Company intends 
to direct its cash towards the development of its business and the identification and evaluation of assets or 
businesses, and does not expect to declare or pay any dividends or distributions in the foreseeable future. 

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF THE COMPANY AND MD&A 

Selected Financial Information 

The following table sets forth selected annual financial information of the Company as at December 31, 
2019 and pro forma financial information for the Resulting Issuer as at June 30, 2020 and should be read 
in conjunction with the annual financial statements of the Company attached as Schedule “A” hereto and 
the pro forma financial statements of the Resulting Issuer attached as Schedule “E” hereto. 

Pro Forma balance Sheet 

Company as at 
December 31, 

2019 

Resulting Issuer 
Pro Forma as at 
June 30, 2020 

Current Assets $298 $909,666

Current Liabilities $63,975 $599,067 

Total Liabilities and 
Shareholders’ Equity 

$298 $4,155,926 

Annual Information 

The following table provides a brief summary of the financial information of the Company as at and for the 
fiscal years ended December 31, 2019, 2018 and, 2017 the interim six-month period ended June 30, 2020. 
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Item 
Six Months Ended June 

30, 2020 

Fiscal Year 
Ended 

December 31, 
2019 

Fiscal Year 
Ended  

December 31, 
2018 

Fiscal Year 
Ended  

December 31, 
2017 

Total Revenues Nil Nil Nil Nil 

Total Expenses  (57,585) (92,421) (73,513) (77,932) 

Net Income   (57,585) (92,421) (73,513) (77,932) 

Total Assets 59,523 298 84 1,189 

Total Liabilities  109,435 63,975 307,340 234,927 

Shareholder 
Deficit 

(561,030) (503,445) (411,024) (337,506) 

Basic & Diluted 
loss per Share 

(0.00) (0.05) (0.15) (0.15)  

Quarterly Information 

The following table summarizes certain amounts for each of the eight most recently completed quarters 
ending at the end of the most recently completed financial year of the Company:  

Three Months Ended Revenue Net Loss Loss per Share 

June 30, 2020 Nil (29,505) (0.00) 

March 31, 2020 Nil (28,080) (0.00) 

December 31, 2019 Nil (30,760) (0.00) 

September 30, 2019 Nil (25,916) (0.05) 

June 30, 2019 Nil (17,728) (0.04) 

March 31, 2019 Nil (18,017) (0.04) 

December 31, 2018 Nil 122,203 0.24 

September 30, 2018 Nil (60,065) (0.12) 

Selected Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

The following MD&A of the Company are included in this Prospectus as follows:  

Schedule “F” ─ MD&A of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2019; 

Schedule “G” ─ MD&A of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2018; and 

Schedule “H” ─ MD&A of the Company for the six-month period ended June 30, 2020.  

The Financial Statements and the financial data derived therefrom and included in this Prospectus have 
been prepared in accordance with IFRS. 
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The Company’s MD&A included herein should read in conjunction with the Financial Statements and the 
disclosure contained in this Prospectus. The discussions of results are as of the dates stated in the 
applicable MD&A. 

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Outlook 

As at the most recent month end October 30, 2020, the Company had working capital of $504,141. This 
included $563,664 in cash, $673,099 in assets and $109,435 in liabilities. Management believes that it has 
sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet its ongoing obligations and its objective of completing the 
Acquisition.  

Transactions with Related Parties 

Related parties include the Company Board, close family members and enterprises which are controlled by 
these individuals as well as persons performing similar functions. There was no remuneration paid to key 
management personnel during the period ended June 30, 2020. 

Additional Disclosure for Venture Issuers without Significant Revenue 

Item 
Year ended December 31, 2019 

($) 

Consulting fees (accounting, corporate)  14,375

Filing fees 20,007

Management fees 31,500

Audit and Legal Fees 15,153

Administrative  1,386

92,421

DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL 

Common Shares 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Common Shares without nominal or par value 
of which, as at the date hereof, 20,362,863 Common Shares are issued and outstanding as fully paid and 
non-assessable.  

Each Common Share carries one vote at all meetings of shareholders, carries the right to receive a 
proportionate share, on a per share basis, of the assets of the Company available for distribution in the 
event of a liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of the Company and the right to receive any dividend if 
declared by the Company. 

All Common Shares which are to be outstanding after completion of the Acquisition will be fully paid and 
non-assessable. 

Preferred Shares 

The Company is authorized to issue an unlimited number of preferred shares without nominal or par value 
with certain rights and restrictions. As at the date hereof, no preferred shares are issued and outstanding. 
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CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

For information regarding changes in the Company’s consolidated capitalization since December 31, 2019, 
that will result from the Acquisition, please see “The Resulting Issuer – Pro Forma Consolidated 
Capitalization of the Resulting Issuer”. 

PRIOR SALES 

The following table summarizes issuances of our Common Shares, or securities convertible into Common 
Shares, during the 12-month period preceding the date of this Prospectus.  

Date of Issuance Type of Security 
Number of 

Securities Issued 
Issuance/Exercise Price 

per Security 

September 3, 2020 Common Shares 4,090,506 $0.15

May 8, 2020 Common Shares 2,040,000 $0.025

November 21, 2019 Common Shares 13,440,000 $0.025

PRINCIPAL SECURITYHOLDERS 

No persons beneficially own, directly or indirectly or exercise control or direction over more than 10% of the 
issued and outstanding Common Shares as at the date of this Prospectus. For information on principal 
holders of Resulting Issuer Shares after giving effect to the Acquisition, please see “The Acquisition”. 

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

The following table sets out, for each of our directors and executive officers, the person’s name, place of 
residence, position with the Company, principal occupation, age and the date on which the person became 
a director or officer of the Company. Our directors are expected to hold office until our next annual general 
meeting of shareholders. Our directors are elected annually and, unless re-elected, retire from office at the 
end of the next annual general meeting of shareholders. As a group, the directors and executive officers 
do not beneficially own, or control or direct, directly or indirectly, any Common Shares.  

Name and 
Province or 
State and 
Country of 
Residence

 Age 
Position with 
the Company 

Director / Officer
Since  

Principal Occupation 

Eugene 
Beukman(1) 

British Columbia, 
Canada

62 
President, CEO 

and Director 
July 17, 2019 

Corporate Counsel, Partum Advisory 
Services Corp. 

Alexander 
Somjen(1) 

Ontario, Canada

34 Director November 7, 2019 Business executive 

Joel 
Dumaresq(1) 

British Columbia, 
Canada

56 Director November 7, 2019 Business executive 
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Name and 
Province or 
State and 
Country of 
Residence

 Age 
Position with 
the Company 

Director / Officer
Since  

Principal Occupation 

Peter Nguyen 

British Columbia, 
Canada

34 

Chief Financial 
Officer and 
Corporate 
Secretary 

July 17, 2019 Chartered Professional Accountant 

Notes:  

(1) Member of the Audit Committee. 

Set forth below is a description of the background of the directors and officers of the Company.  

Eugene Beukman, age 62 – CEO, President and Director: Mr. Beukman is the corporate counsel of 
Partum Advisory Services Corp. He graduated from the Rand University of Johannesburg, South Africa, 
with a bachelor of law degree and a bachelor of law honours postgraduate degree in 1987. After practising 
as a lawyer, Mr. Beukman was employed as a legal adviser to the BHP Billiton group companies, a leading 
global resources company and a producer of major commodities, including iron ore, metallurgical coal, 
copper and uranium, with substantial interests in conventional and unconventional oil and gas and energy 
coal. He also has over 30 years of experience in the acquisition of assets and joint ventures, and serves as 
chief executive officer and director of a number of TSX Venture Exchange and CSE listed companies.  

Alexander Somjen, age 34 – Director: Mr. Somjen, having most recently spent over a decade in capital 
markets at a large financial institution, has worked in both investment banking and sales- and trading-
related capacities. In these roles, Mr. Somjen forged deep relationships with large institutional investors 
and major corporations, and worked on many notable debt capital and equity capital issuances. During his 
career, Mr. Somjen also pivoted away from capital markets for a time to found and serve as chief financial 
officer of an artificial-intelligence-related tech concern. Mr. Somjen began his career as a preferred share 
sales trader servicing Canada's largest institutional investors. In his most recent role, he advised both 
issuers and institutional investors on the preferred share market and hybrid capital space. He holds a BA 
in economics from the University of Toronto.  

Joel Dumaresq, age 56 – Director: Mr. Dumaresq has over 30 years of experience in the capital markets 
having begun his career with investment banking firm RBC Dominion Securities and has been active in 
both private and public equity markets in Canada, the US, Europe and South America. Mr. Dumaresq brings 
an extensive business history in effecting mergers and acquisitions, as well as assembling strong 
management teams. He is a former Chair of the British Columbia Chapter of the Young President’s 
Organization, a current member of the Board of Trustees of the Vancouver Police Foundation and a 
recipient of the Star of Courage. 

Peter Nguyen, age 34 – CFO and Corporate Secretary: Mr. Nguyen is a Chartered Professional 
Accountant and an alumnus of the University of British Columbia. Mr. Nguyen serves as the chief financial 
officer and director of several publicly traded companies in a variety of industries and is instrumental in 
managing the financial operations, as well as the integrated business strategies. Mr. Nguyen has more than 
10 years of experience and has held several senior financial positions for public and private entities, where 
he provided assurance, corporate financing, tax and business advisory services. 

Other Reporting Issuer Experience 

The following table sets out the directors and officers of the Company that are, or have been within the 
last five years, directors or officers of other issuers that are or were reporting issuers in any Canadian 
jurisdiction (or the equivalent in a jurisdiction outside of Canada):  
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Name Name of Reporting Issuer Trading Market 

Eugene Beukman Bard Ventures Ltd. TSXV 

Black Isle Resources Corporation Not Listed 

BluKnight Aquafarms Inc. Not Listed 

Global Care Capital Corp. CSE 

Icanic Brands Company CSE 

International Cobalt Corp. CSE 

ICC International Cannabis 
Company 

CSE 

La Jolla Capital Inc. Not Listed 

Lincoln Mining Corporation TSXV 

Osino Resources Corp. TSXV 

Range Energy Resources Inc. CSE 

Reliq Health Technologies Inc. TSXV 

SLAM Exploration Ltd. TSXV 

Vinergy Cannabis Capital Inc. CSE 

Joel Dumaresq Clean Power Capital Corp. CSE 

Major Precious Metals Corp. CSE 

Natcore Technology Inc. TSXV 

Orion Nutraceuticals Inc. CSE 

Parkit Enterprise Inc. TSXV 

ProSmart Enterprises Inc. TSXV 

Sojourn Exploration Inc. TSXV 

Solution Financial Inc. TSXV 

TAAT Lifestyle and Wellness Ltd. CSE 

Alexander Somjen Global Care Capital Inc. CSE 

Eat Beyond Global Holdings Inc. CSE 

Hollister Biosciences Inc. CSE 

Peter Nguyen Agraflora Organics International Inc. CSE 

Christina Lake Cannabis Corp. CSE 

Cameo Industries Corp. CSE 

Clarity Gold Corp. CSE 

ICC International Cannabis 
Company 

CSE 

MegumaGold Corp. CSE 

Myconic Capital Corp. CSE 
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Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

Other than as set out below, no director, officer, insider or promoter of the Company is, or within the 10 
years prior to the date of this prospectus has been, a director, officer or promoter of any other Issuer that, 
while that person was acting in that capacity: 

(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the other Issuer access 
to any exemptions under applicable securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive 
days; or 

(b) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or 
was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a 
receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

On May 6, 2019, during the period when Eugene Beukman was acting as a director of the Company, the 
Company was subject to a cease trade order issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission for 
failure to file its financial statements within the required time period. The cease trade order was revoked on 
November 7, 2019. 

On October 1, 2019, during the period when Joel Dumaresq was acting as the CEO and Director of Orion 
Nutraceuticals Inc. (“Orion”), the BCSC granted Orion a management cease trade order to provide Orion 
with additional time in order to file its annual audited financial statements and accompanying management’s 
discussion and analysis for the year-ended May 31, 2019 (the “Orion Annual Filings”). Orion was granted 
an extension until November 29, 2019 to submit the Orion Annual Filings. On November 26, 2019, Orion 
made a subsequent application to the BCSC in order to extend the term of the management cease trade 
order until December 13, 2019. The application was subsequently not accepted by the BCSC. On 
December 4, 2019, the BCSC issued a cease trade order against Orion for failure to file the Orion Annual 
Filings, Orion subsequently submitted the Orion Annual Filings on December 4, 2019 and on December 5, 
2019, the cease trade order was revoked.   

Penalties or Sanctions 

No director, officer, insider or promoter of the Company or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of the 
Company to affect materially the control of the Company, has been subject to any penalties or sanctions 
imposed by a court relating to securities legislation or by any securities regulatory authority or has entered 
into a settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority, or has been subject to any other penalties 
or sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body or self-regulatory authority that would be likely to be 
considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

Personal Bankruptcies 

No director, officer, insider or promoter of the Company or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of the 
Company to affect materially the control of the Company, or a personal holding company of any such 
persons has, within the 10 years before the date of this prospectus, as applicable, become bankrupt or 
made a voluntary assignment in bankruptcy, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy 
or insolvency or been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, 
or had a receiver or receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that individual. 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee will meet with the President and CFO of the Company and the independent auditors 
to review and inquire into matters affecting financial reporting matters, the system of internal accounting 
and financial controls and procedures and the audit procedures and audit plans. The Audit Committee will 
recommend to the Board the independent registered public accounting firm to be appointed. In addition, 
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the Audit Committee will review and recommend to the Board for approval the annual financial statements, 
the annual report and certain other documents required by regulatory authorities. 

The Board has not developed a written position description for the Chairman of the Audit Committee but 
considers the Chairman to be responsible for setting the tone for the committee work, ensuring that 
members have the information needed to do their jobs, overseeing the logistics of the Audit Committee’s 
operations, reporting to the Board on the Audit Committee’s decisions and recommendations, setting the 
agenda and running and maintaining minutes of the meetings of the Audit Committee.  

The Audit Committee’s Charter 

A copy of the Company’s Audit Committee charter is attached as Schedule “J” hereto. 

Composition of the Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee is composed of the following members: 

Name Independent Financially Literate 

Joel Dumaresq (Chair) Independent Yes(1)

Alexander Somjen Independent Yes(1)

Eugene Beukman Not Independent Yes(1)

Notes: 

(1) Within the meaning of NI 52-110. 

Relevant Education and Experience  

All members of the Audit Committee have the ability to read, analyze and understand the complexities 
surrounding the issuance of financial statements that present a breadth and level of complexity of 
accounting issues that are generally comparable to the breadth and complexity of the issues that can 
reasonably be expected to be raised by the Company’s financial statements, and have an understanding 
of internal controls. All members of the Audit Committee intend to maintain their currency by periodically 
taking continuing education courses. 

Reliance on Certain Exemptions  

Since the Company is a “venture issuer” pursuant to applicable Canadian securities legislation, it is relying 
upon the exemption provided for at section 6.1 of NI 52-110 in respect of the composition of the Audit 
Committee. 

At no time since the commencement of the Company’s most recently completed financial year has the 
Company relied on the exemptions provided for in subsections 2.4, 6.1.1(4), 6.1.1(5), or 6.1.1(6) of NI 52-
110 or an exemption from NI 52-110, in whole or in part, granted pursuant to Part 8 of NI 52-110.  

Pre-Approval Policies and Procedures  

The Audit Committee charter sets out responsibilities regarding the provision of non-audit services by the 
Company’s external auditors. The Audit Committee will be responsible for the pre-approval of all audit 
services and permissible non-audit services to be provided to the Company by the external auditors, subject 
to any exceptions provided in NI 52-110. 

Details of the composition and function of the remaining standing committees to be formed following the 
Listing will be discussed at the first meeting of the directors following the Listing.  
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External Auditor Service Fee  

For the period ended December 31, 2019 and the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company incurred 
the following fees by its external auditor, Smythe LLP:  

2019 2018

Audit fees(1) $ 4,000 $ 4,000

Audit related fees(2) Nil Nil 

Tax fees(3) Nil Nil 

All other fees(4) Nil Nil 

Total fees paid $ 4,000 $ 4,000

Notes:  

(1) Fees for audit service on an accrued basis.  
(2) Fees for assurance and related services not included in audit service above.  
(3) Fees for tax compliance, tax advice and tax planning.  
(4) All other fees not included above.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

Set forth below is a description of the Company’s corporate governance practices, provided pursuant to 
Form 58-101F2 of NI 58-101.  

Board of Directors 

The Board is responsible for the general supervision of the management of the Company’s business and 
affairs with the objective of enhancing shareholder value. The Board discharges its responsibilities directly 
and through its committees. 

A director is considered independent within the meaning of NI 58-101 if he or she has no direct or indirect 
"material relationship" with the company. In addition to certain objective criteria, a "material relationship" is 
defined as a relationship which could, in the view of the board, be reasonably expected to interfere with the 
exercise of a director's independent judgment. 

The Board consists of three directors. Of the current directors of the Company, Alexander Somjen and Joel 
Dumaresq are considered “independent” as such term is defined in NI 58-101. Eugene Beukman is not be 
considered independent by virtue of his position as CEO. 

The directors’ mandate of the Company is attached as Schedule “K” hereto. 

Orientation and Continuing Education  

The CEO and/or the CFO are responsible for providing an orientation for new directors. Director orientation 
and ongoing training includes presentations by senior management to familiarize directors with the 
Company’s strategic plans, its significant financial, accounting and risk management issues, its compliance 
programs, its principal officers and its internal and independent auditors. On occasions where it is 
considered advisable, the Board provides individual directors with information regarding topics of general 
interest, such as fiduciary duties and continuous disclosure obligations. The Board ensures that each 
director is up to date with current information regarding the business of the Company, the role the director 
is expected to fulfill and basic procedures and operations of the Board. The Board members are given 
access to management and other employees and advisors, who can answer any questions that may arise. 
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Regular technical presentations are made to the directors to keep them informed of the Company’s 
operations.  

Ethical Business Conduct  

We have adopted a written code of ethics (the “Code of Ethics”) that applies to all of our officers, directors, 
employees, contractors and agents acting on behalf of the Company. The objective of the Code of Ethics 
is to provide guidelines for maintaining our and our subsidiaries integrity, trust and respect. The Code of 
Ethics addresses compliance with laws, rules and regulations, conflicts of interest, confidentiality, 
commitment, preferential treatment, financial information, internal controls and disclosure, protection and 
proper use of our assets, communications, fair dealing, fair competition, due diligence, illegal payments, 
equal employment opportunities and harassment, privacy, use of Company computers and the internet, 
political and charitable activities and reporting any violations of law, regulation or the Code of Ethics. Any 
person subject to the Code of Ethics should report all violations of law, regulation or of the Code of Ethics 
of which they become aware to any one of the Company’s senior executives. Our Board has ultimate 
responsibility for monitoring compliance with the Code of Ethics. The Code of Ethics will be filed with the 
Canadian securities regulatory authorities on SEDAR at www.sedar.com. 

Nomination of Directors  

The Board does not have a nominating committee. The Board will consider its size each year when it passes 
a resolution determining the number of directors to be appointed at each annual general meeting of 
shareholders. The Board has determined that the configuration of five directors is the appropriate number 
of directors, taking into account the number required to carry out duties effectively while maintaining a 
diversity of views and experience. The Board determines new nominees to the Board, although a formal 
process has not been adopted. The nominees are generally the result of recruitment efforts by the Board 
members, including both formal and informal discussions among Board members, the Chairman and CEO. 
The Board monitors but does not formally assess the performance of individual Board members or 
committee members or their contributions.  

Compensation  

The Board does not have a compensation committee. There are no current plans for the Company to pay 
any cash compensation to directors for services rendered in their capacity as directors. This matter will be 
reconsidered by the Board upon completion of Listing.  

It is also expected that the Company will grant options and/or restricted share units to directors in 
recognition of the time and effort that such directors devote to the Company. The timing, amounts, exercise 
price of these future option based and share based awards are not yet determined. 

Other Board Committees  

Other than the Audit Committee, the Company will have no other standing committees upon completion of 
the Acquisition. Following the completion of the Acquisition, the Resulting Issuer Board will consider 
addition of other committees as appropriate.  

Assessments  

The Board does not conduct any formal evaluation of the performance and effectiveness of the members 
of the Board, the Board as a whole or any committee of the Board, however, the Board considers the 
effectiveness and contribution of the Board, its members and the Audit Committee on an ongoing basis. 
The directors and the independent directors are free to discuss specific situations from time to time among 
themselves and/or with the CEO and, if need be, steps are taken to remedy the situation, which steps may 
include a request for resignation. Furthermore, management and directors will communicate with 
shareholders on an ongoing basis, and shareholders will be regularly consulted on the effectiveness of 
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Board members and the Board as a whole. The majority of the Board also serve as directors for other public 
companies and will utilize that experience when assessing the Board, its members and committees.  

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The following discussion describes the significant elements of the compensation of the Company’s named 
executive officers, (collectively, the “named executive officers” or “NEOs”).

Named executive officers or NEOs means each of the following individuals: (i) each CEO; (ii) each CFO; 
(iii) the most highly compensated executive officer other than CEO and CFO at the end of the most recently 
completed financial year whose total compensation was more than $150,000; (iv) each individual who would 
be a named executive officer under (iii) but for the fact that the individual was not an executive officer of the 
company, and was not acting in a similar capacity, at the end of that financial year. 

Director and Named Executive Officer Compensation, Excluding Compensation Securities 

Name and 
Position 

Year 

Salary, 
consulting 

fee, retainer 
or 

commission 

($) 

Bonus 

($) 

Committee 
or meeting 

fees  

($) 

Value of 
perquisites 

($) 

Value of all 
other 

compensation 

($) 

Total 
compensation 

($) 

Anthony 
Jackson, 
Former CEO, 
CFO and 
Director(1)

2019 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

2018 $63,000 nil nil nil nil nil 

Eugene 
Beukman, 
CEO and 
Director 

2019 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

2018 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

Alexander 
Somjen, 
Director  

2019 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

2018 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

Joel 
Dumaresq, 
Director 

2019 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

2018 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

Peter Nguyen, 
CFO and 
Corporate 
Secretary 

2019 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

2018 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

Notes: 

(1) Anthony Jackson resigned as CEO, CFO and Director of the Company on July 9, 2019. 
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Stock Options and Other Compensation Securities  

Name and 
Position 

Type of 
compensation 

security 

Number of 
compensation 

securities, 
number of 
underlying 
securities, 

and 
percentage of 

class 

Date 
of 

issue 
or 

grant 

Issue, 
conversion 
or exercise 

price 

($) 

Closing 
price of 

security or 
underlying 

security 
on date of 

grant 

($) 

Closing 
price of 

security or 
underlying 
security at 
year end 

($) 

Expiry 
date 

Anthony 
Jackson 

nil nil nil nil nil nil nil 

Eugene 
Beukman

nil nil nil nil nil nil nil 

Alexander 
Somjen 

nil nil nil nil nil nil nil 

Joel 
Dumaresq 

nil nil nil nil nil nil nil 

Peter 
Nguyen 

nil nil nil nil nil nil nil 

Notes: 

(1) Anthony Jackson resigned as CEO, CFO and Director of the Company on July 9, 2019. 

Stock Option Plan  

Purpose of the Stock Option Plan 

The purpose of the Company’s stock option plan (the “Stock Option Plan”) is to encourage directors, 
officers and key employees of the Company and its subsidiaries and persons providing ongoing services 
to the Company to participate in the growth and development of the Company by providing incentive to 
qualified parties to increase their proprietary interest in the Company by permitting them to purchase 
Common Shares and thereby encouraging their continuing association with the Company. The stock 
options are non-transferable and will expire upon the sooner of the expiry date stipulated in the particular 
stock option agreement or after a certain period following the date the optionee ceases to be a qualified 
party by reason of death or termination of employment. 

Description of the Stock Option Plan 

The Stock Option Plan provides that the number of Common Shares which may be made the subject of 
options cannot exceed 20% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares on a non-diluted basis at any 
time. Nil Common Shares are available under the Stock Option Plan. The stock options granted under the 
Stock Option Plan together with all of the Company’s other previously established stock option plan or 
grants, shall not result at any time in:  

(a) the number of Common Shares reserved for issuance pursuant to stock options granted to insiders 
exceeding 10% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares;  

(b) the grant to insiders within a 12 month period, of a number of stock options exceeding 10% of the 
outstanding Common Shares;  

(c) the grant to any one optionee within a 12-month period, of a number of stock options exceeding 
5% of the issued and outstanding Common Shares unless the Company obtains the requisite 
disinterested shareholder approval;  
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(d) the grant to all persons engaged by the Company to provide investor relations activities, within any 
twelve-month period, of stock options reserving for issuance a number of Common Shares 
exceeding in the aggregate 2% of the Company’s issued and outstanding Common Shares; or (e) 
the grant to any one consultant, in any twelve-month period, of stock options reserving for issuance 
a number of Common Shares exceeding in the aggregate 2% of the Company’s issued and 
outstanding Common Shares.  

Exercise Period and Vesting 

The term of an option shall be not more than 10 years from the date the option is granted. If an optionee 
ceases to be a director, officer, employee or consultant of the Company or its subsidiaries for any reason 
other than death, the optionee may, but only within ninety (90) days after the optionee's ceasing to be a 
director, officer, employee or consultant (or 30 days in the case of an optionee engaged in investor relations 
activities) or prior to the expiry of the exercise period, whichever is earlier, exercise any stock option held 
by the optionee, but only to the extent that the optionee was entitled to exercise the stock option at the date 
of such cessation. In the event of the death of an optionee, the stock option previously granted to him shall 
be exercisable within one (1) year following the date of the death of the optionee or prior to the expiry of 
the stock option period, whichever is earlier, and then only: (a) by the person or persons to whom the 
optionee's rights under the stock option shall pass by the optionee's will or the laws of descent and 
distribution, or by the optionee's legal personal representative; and (b) to the extent that the optionee was 
entitled to exercise the stock option at the date of the optionee's death. 

Employment, consulting and management agreements 

Partum Advisory Services Corp. 

The Company entered into the Partum Agreement whereby Partum Advisory Services Corp. (“Partum”)  of 
Suite 810-789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6C 1H2 provides certain corporate, 
accounting and administrative services to the Company in accordance with the terms of the Partum 
Agreement for a monthly fee of $5,000 plus applicable taxes and reimbursement of all out-of-pocket 
expenses incurred on behalf of the Company. The Partum Agreement was for an initial term of 12 months, 
and automatically renewed for further 12 month periods, unless either party gives 90 days’ notice of non-
renewal, in which case the Partum Agreement will terminate. The Partum Agreement can be terminated by 
either party on 90 days’ written notice, by the Company for cause without prior notice or upon the mutual 
consent in writing of both parties. If there is a take-over or change of control of the Company resulting in 
the termination of the Partum Agreement, Partum is entitled to receive an amount equal to six months of 
fees payable as a lump sum payment due on the day after the termination date. 

INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

No individual who is, or at any time during the most recently completed financial year was, a director or 
executive officer of the Company, no proposed nominee for election as a director of the Company and no 
associate of such persons: 

 is or at any time since the beginning of the most recently completed financial year has been, 
indebted to the Company;  

 whose indebtedness to another entity is, or at any time since the beginning of the most recently 
completed financial year has been, the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit 
or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by the Company; 

 in relation to a securities purchase program or other program. 



16 

Furthermore, none of such persons were indebted to a third party during such period where their 
indebtedness was the subject of a guarantee, support agreement, letter of credit or other similar 
arrangement or understanding provided by the Company. 

RISK FACTORS 

An investment in the Company or the Resulting Issuer following completion of the Acquisition involves a 
high degree of risk. There are risks inherent with completion of the Acquisition and with respect to the 
business of the Resulting Issuer. You should carefully consider the information in this Prospectus and the 
information set out under “Captios – Risk Factors” and “The Resulting Issuer – Risk Factors”. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS 

There are no legal proceedings to which the Company is or is likely to be a party. 

INTERESTS OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

None of the directors or executive officers of the Company, or persons or companies that beneficially own, 
or control or direct, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the outstanding Common Shares, or any 
Associate or Affiliate of any of the foregoing, has any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transactions 
in which the Company has participated within the three years before the date of this Prospectus, which has 
materially affected or is reasonably expected to materially affect the Company.  

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRARS 

Smythe, LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, located at Vancouver, British Columbia, are our 
auditors and have confirmed that they are independent of the Company within the meaning of the Code of 
Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia.  

The transfer agent and registrar for the Common Shares will be National Securities Administrators Ltd., 
located at 760-777 Hornby Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6Z 1S4. 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

The following are the material contracts of the Company that are in effect as of the date of this Prospectus: 

1. Securities Exchange Agreement;  

2. Partum Agreement; and 

3. Transfer Agent Agreement. 

The material contracts described above may be inspected at the registered office of the Company and are 
also available on the Company’s profile at www.sedar.com.  
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CAPTIOS 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

Name, Address and Incorporation  

The full corporate name of Captios is Captios, LLC. Captios was formed in the State of Delaware on March 
11, 2020. The head office and registered office is located at 1873 S. Bellaire St, Suite 300, Denver, 
Colorado, 80222. 

Intercorporate Relationships  

On July 14, 2020 Captios incorporated Spotlite360, Inc. (“Spotlite360”). Spotlite360 is a wholly-owned 
subsidiary of Captios.  

BUSINESS OF CAPTIOS 

Description of the Business  

Captios was founded by a group of supply chain and healthcare executives, due to inbound demand from 
companies in the pharmaceutical, and healthcare industries.  

The business of Captios is comprised of the delivery of a SaaS-based supply chain execution and 
sustainability platform to enterprise customers in the pharmaceutical, healthcare and agricultural industries, 
and is known as Spotlite360. By leveraging IoT technologies, blockchain, machine learning and analytics, 
Spotlite360 is uniquely positioned to meet customer needs for supply chain execution, tracing, tracking, 
and sustainability. Customers will benefit by realizing improved visibility, a reduction in loss and theft, 
increased supply chain velocity, labor efficiency, improves asset utilization, and support of their global 
sustainability initiatives. 

Captios is party to a licensing agreement with TrackX Holdings Inc. (“TrackX”) dated July 6, 2020 (the 
“TrackX License Agreement”) to license certain supply chain and asset management software (the 
“Software”) and related intellectual property developed by TrackX (the “TrackX License”). Upon Closing, 
the Company intends to further develop the Software and customize it to meet the needs of the 
pharmaceutical, healthcare and agriculture industries.  

Asset management, sometimes referred to as asset tracking, is the method that companies use to track 
the state, ownership, condition and location of physical assets and inventory within a facility or throughout 
a supply chain. Asset management can include barcode labels, global positioning system or radio frequency 
identification tags that broadcast an inventory item or package location.  

Asset management is important to organizations and provides value in helping to manage an organization’s 
inventory, and location, status, and maintenance schedule of certain assets, as well as other important 

100% 

Captios, LLC

(Delaware, USA) 

Spotlite360, Inc.

(Delaware, USA) 
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information about physical assets. Increasingly, asset tracking is becoming increasingly commonplace as 
it helps with compliance issues in certain industries, as well as can help to increase a company’s bottom 
line due to improved efficiencies.  

Supply chain execution is the process of managing a supply chain and includes the flow of tasks involved, 
such as fulfillment, procurement, warehousing and transporting.  

As a direct parent of Captios and an indirect parent of Spotlite360, the Resulting Issuer will have the role 
of supporting the growth of its operating subsidiary by providing resources such as capital, administrative 
and accounting services along with consulting and strategic advice. 

Over time, the Resulting Issuer may, either organically or through acquisition, choose to broaden its portfolio 
of product offerings beyond the pharmaceutical and healthcare space. 

On July 6, 2020 Captios signed the TrackX License Agreement for the worldwide non-exclusive use of 
TrackX’s software for the authorized industries. The authorized industries are the pharmaceutical, 
healthcare agriculture industries. The Resulting Issuer intends to focus on the pharmaceutical and 
healthcare industries initially.  

Spotlite360 

The business of Captios, known as “Spotlite360” is an early-stage company focused on providing a SaaS-
based asset management and supply chain execution platform which leverages blockchain and a broad 
array of IoT technologies.  

James Greenwell, the President of Spotlite360 is a supply chain and technology industry veteran. 
Spotlite360 has licensed the Software from TrackX and intends to further develop the Software to meet 
increased demand for supply chain tracing, tracking, collaboration, regulatory mandates, compliance and 
sustainability in the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries. The FDA recently proposed a new rule which 
will mandate the traceability of registered food products. The DSCSA requires all pharmaceuticals to be 
uniquely identified.  

TrackX License Agreement 

The TrackX License grants Captios a limited exclusive, royalty free, worldwide license to used the Software 
solely for the purpose of marketing to customers, acquiring customers, implementing customers and 
supporting customers in the authorized industries. The authorized industries are the pharmaceutical, 
healthcare and agriculture industries. Captios is permitted to commercialize the entire supply chain using 
the Software in the authorized industries, and owns all rights and ownership of any improvements or 
modifications made by Captios.  

Commercial Terms and Fees Associated with the TrackX License 

Captios has agreed to the following payment terms under the TrackX License: 

 Captios will pay to TrackX US$300,000 in software license fees as follows: 

o US$200,000 paid on or before November 30, 2020 

o US$10,000 per month paid at the end of each of the subsequent 10 months, through 
September, 2021. 

 TrackX will receive 10% of the first year SaaS revenue derived from the licensing of the Software 
for each location installed within the authorized industries 
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 Non-exclusive relationship 

o Captios will retain a perpetual non-exclusive right to the targeted licensed industries from 
the execution date of the agreement 

 Right to obtain exclusivity 

o Captios retains the right to obtain exclusivity with the licensed industries from the execution 
date of the agreement and for a period ending December 31, 2021, the terms of which will 
be negotiated between the parties. 

 Captios will pay to TrackX development integration, support and other service fees based upon the 
then current TrackX services pricing and as agreed by both parties within an associate statement 
of work.  

Captios software platform tracks assets, analyzes collected data, optimizes workflows and collaborates 
across supply chain partners to deliver efficiencies and meet compliance needs.  

The Software provides complete supply chain visibility from provider to consumer, as well as product 
provenance and regulatory compliance. The Software is designed to: 

 Provide end-to-end management and tracking of products and materials from origin to consumer  

 Provide product authentication 

 Provide full product lineage and life cycle history 

 Provide supply chain velocity statistics 

Captios’ software, “Spotlite”, is configured to support the targeted industries with the core technology being 
licensed from TrackX and has the following key features: 

 Enterprise scalable 

 The software platform scales to support multiple enterprise locations, asset classes and workflows 

 Hardware agnostic 

 Support for multiple auto-ID and IoT sensor technologies simultaneously 

 Offers business intelligence 

 Predictive analytics drives operational efficiencies, regulatory compliance and rapid return on 
investment 

 Integration with multiple organizational platforms 

 Integration with customer enterprise resource planning and business systems 

Highlights of the technology platform include: 

 Cloud-based 

 Offers broad IoT device support 
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 Offers multi-location support 

 Simplistic ease of integration and highly configurable 

 Workflow management 

 Predictive analytics 

 Blockchain enabled 

 End-to-end supply chain execution 

 Proven installation with Fortune 500 companies 

The features of Spotlite are delivered through four core functional modules: 

 SL Edge: enables the configuration and infrastructure management of all IoT devices 

 SL IQ: optimizes business processes, schedules user tasks and provides alerts 

 SL Connect: allows integration with or provides real-time information to other systems 

 SL Insight: delivers detailed reporting, business intelligence, and advanced analytics 

Additionally, the Software supports mobile computing and an array of low cost consumer devices for easy 
access to information and reporting in the field.  

Blockchain Enabled Supply Chain and Asset Audit Control 

The Software incorporates blockchain as a permission-based central ledger that provides accurate 
recording and a full audit trail of all asset handling activities. This ensures that the Software: (i) maintains 
provenances of data; (ii) eliminates diversion of data; (iii) maintains the quality of data and transactions; 
and (iv) facilitates payment processing. 

The blockchain enabled supply chain assists with tracking and compliance requirements as it provides a 
full audit trail for regulatory compliance, as well as secure transportation and delivery confirmation. Key 
transactions of interest to multiple supply chain partners and relevant to compliance are recorded in the 
blockchain distributed ledger which facilitates sharing. 

Blockchain Driven Logistics 

Spotlite features a permissioned based central ledger for exchange of shipping documents to allow effective 
planning and efficient execution of receiving activities. The blockchain supports the keys to supply chain 
optimization: 

 Global sharing, persistence, transparency and proof 

 Data collaboration across supply chain partners 

 Enables just-in-time manufacturing and crossdocking 

 Reduce errors, fraud, time in transit, and cost of shipping 

 Predictive analytics and process optimization 
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Business Model 

The core pillars of Captios’ business model are outlined below.

 Create shareholder value by providing an end to end asset management solution targeting the 
pharmaceutical, healthcare and agriculture industries 

 Develop and build relationships with leading pharmaceutical and healthcare companies and tailor 
the Software to maintain regulatory compliance and mandates (i.e. FDA proposed tracing rules, 
DSCSA, food safety legislation, etc.) 

 Build upon Captios’ existing inbound business relationship queries from within the pharmaceutical 
and healthcare industries and establish its Software across the US. 

 Utilize analytics on customer data to create supply chain efficiencies and increase customer 
retention 

 Build upon Software and tailor it to additional industries that can benefit from asset tracking and 
supply chain efficiencies. 

The success of Captios will depend in large part on the Software and its ability to maintain and report 
records and provide full compliance with regulations as well as an auditable trail of transactions. Captios 
will need to remain abreast of industry and regulatory developments in order to keep its Software compliant. 
Captios is utilizing blockchain to provide a fully auditable trail of all asset handling activities, which can 
easily be shared with third parties and regulators to provide full compliance.  

Driven by DSCSA, an increasing number of pharmaceutical and healthcare companies are needing an 
asset tracking solution such as that which the Company provides. Captios believes that increased 
regulation and requirement for authentication of products from source to consumer in the pharmaceutical 
and healthcare industries will provide many opportunities to Captios. These regulations could also extend 
to other industries such as the food and agriculture industries, of which Captios may enter into in the future. 

Milestones & Objectives 

Since its formation, Captios has achieved the following milestones: 

 Q1 2020 

o Formulate solution for delivery of tracing, tracking and sustainability in healthcare and 
pharma 

 Q2 2020 

o Incorporate Captios LLC as an operating entity 

o Initial investment from management team 

 Q3 2020 

o Begin marketing of solution 

o Enter into technology license agreement with TrackX 

o Onboard additional resources 
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Captios continues to execute its business plan with the following objectives for the next three fiscal quarters: 

 Q4 2020 

o Initial funding to support operations 

o Complete listing on the CSE 

o Rebrand as Spotlite360 

 Q1 2021 

o Complete supply chain platform integration and configuration 

o Expand sales and marketing 

o Onboard customers 

 Q2 2021 

o Expand partner ecosystem 

o Delivery of sustainability solution 

o Evaluate M&A opportunities 

Short-Term Objectives  

Solution Delivery  

To accommodate customer implementations, Captios will add a business analyst to manage onboarding 
and customer success initiatives. The expected cost is $120,000. 

Expand Sales and Marketing 

Captios will add a sales representative for lead qualification and sales support. The expected cost of this 
objective is $90,000. 

TrackX Software License 

As part of TrackX License for the exclusive use of TrackX’s software for the pharmaceutical and healthcare 
industries, Captios owes a fee of $300,000, payable in increments. Please see “Captios – Business of 
Captios – Spotlite360 – TrackX License Agreement – Commercial Terms and Fees Associated with the 
TrackX License”. 

Complete Solution Configuration for Pharma and Healthcare 

Captios intends to further develop the Software to create a complete supply chain solution that is configured 
for the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries. The expected cost of this objective is $100,000. 

Medium- & Long-Term Objectives 

In order to ensure that Captios continues to enhance shareholder value and hence bring about share 
appreciation, the following medium and long-term objectives and milestones have been identified: 
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Join Industry Groups 

Captios plans to join industry associations within the pharmaceutical, healthcare, blockchain and supply 
chain industries in North America to remain updated on competitors in the industry and to help improve the 
awareness of Captios’ brand and products in North America. Industry events and tradeshows are critical to 
Captios’ marketing strategy in building a brand based on product quality, customer service, and 
professionalism. Industry groups and events will also be an ideal venue for Captios to expand its network 
and establish relationships that are mutually beneficial. 

Continue Development of the Software 

Captios intends to expand the capabilities of its Software based on evolving industry requirements as well 
as feedback from customers. Additionally, Captios may seek to expand its Software to configure it to 
industries outside of the pharmaceutical and healthcare space as Captios grows and identifies additional 
opportunities.  

Mergers & Acquisitions 

Captios may seek to engage in mergers & acquisition activity that it determines to be complementary to its 
current and future operations. Future acquisitions may be software, technology or sales and marketing 
focused. Captios may pursue merger and acquisitions with pharmaceutical and healthcare companies 
and/or software and technology companies which can either expand the reach of its current software within 
the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries or assist the Company’s expansion into industries outside of 
the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries.  

Evaluate Future Financings 

As Captios grows and demand for its services increases, more capital may be required to acquire additional 
software development and maintenance, and customer delivery and success personnel. More capital may 
also be necessary for Captios to engage in mergers and acquisitions and/or investments into other supply 
chain, blockchain or pharmaceutical and healthcare companies. 

Revenues and Net Income 

Captios is projecting a quick ramp up in revenues in its first three years of operations due to the fact Captios 
has a proven technology platform and received inbound demand from companies in the pharmaceutical 
and healthcare industries seeking to use the Software. The main goal of Captios in the first three years of 
operation is to onboard clients, ensure client satisfaction, and increase operating efficiencies and the scale 
and offering of the Software. Due to the positive boost that the enactment and enforcement that the DSCSA 
is providing, Captios expects to see significant demand for its Software from pharmaceutical and healthcare 
companies. 

Business Plan 

Overview 

Global pharmaceutical and healthcare serialization mandates are chiefly driven by the need for a secure 
and protected supply chain – meaning no counterfeit or illegitimate products enter the supply chain and no 
legitimate products are diverted from their intended destination. Other intended benefits include enhanced 
product tracking, better supply chain visibility, and expedited recall facilitation.  

Serialization and tracking have become more and more about compliance recently for most manufacturers. 
Packages need to be designed and implemented to accommodate the serialized data and barcodes and 
serialization equipment and number management systems need to be installed and validated on packaging 
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lines. The data needs to be integrated between enterprise, serialization, warehousing, channel partner and 
government systems.  

In the US, the DSCSA requires that every prescription drug package and homogenous case have its own 
unique identifier in machine and human readable forms. The machine-readable form must be a 2D 
Datamatrix barcode that contains the following information: 

 National drug code 

 Serial number 

 Batch number 

 Expiration date 

Beyond packaging and serial number management, the DSCSA will also require that companies: 

 Respond to requests to verify drugs at the serial number level 

 Retain records of serial number application to drugs for six years and be prepared to respond to 
request for information to support investigations by state and federal agencies 

While many brands and companies work with contract manufacturers and/or contract packagers, it is still 
the brand’s responsibility to ensure compliance with the DSCSA.  

Captios understands that many brands, packagers and manufacturers will not have the capability, nor wish 
to develop the in-house capability to comply with the DSCSA and will need a third-party service provider to 
ensure compliance. With over 30 years of transportation, distribution, warehousing and logistics experience 
with industry leading firms, Spotlite360 has identified the market need for reliable and auditable asset 
tracking in the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries. 

Captios business model is outlined below: 

Enter new industries

Re-tailor and format software to enter other industries

Analytics

Utilize analytics to create further supply chain efficiencies

Update software for ongoing DSCSA compliance updates

Core value-add is to ensure compliance and tracking

Onboard pharmaceutcal and healthcare clients

Successully onboard on to the software platform Ensure tracking and serialization hardware is in place

Software

Create DSCSA compliant software utilizing blockchain
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The pharmaceutical and healthcare industries are two of the heaviest regulated and have some of the most 
stringent compliance requirements. Once Captios has built a foothold in the pharmaceutical and healthcare 
industries, it anticipates it will be able to tailor the Software to enter additional industries with relative ease 
due to anticipated lower compliance and reporting requirements.  

The global market for pharmaceuticals reached US$1.2 trillion in 2018, up $100 billion from 2017, according 
to the Global Use of Medicines report from the IQVIA Institute for Human Data Science (“IQVIA”). IQVIA 
projects that the global pharmaceutical market will grow at a 4-5% CAGR and reach US$1.2 trillion by 2023.  

The US pharmaceutical market is the largest pharmaceuticals market in the world and accounted for more 
than 40% of global pharmaceuticals sales in 2017. In the US, 2018 spending on pharmaceuticals was 
US$485 billion, up 5.2% over the previous year, and IQVIA predicts that 2023 spending will be US$625-
655 billion, representing a 4-7% CAGR over the five-year period. 

Specialized Skill and Knowledge 

Captios management team has over 100 years of experience combined in transportation, distribution, 
warehousing, logistics, IT development, supply chain management, data integration, data mining and 
finance. Other staff members from Captios have worked in the information systems and technology industry 
as well. 

Specialized knowledge is required to reliably track, trace and keep an auditable trail of pharmaceutical and 
healthcare products. Though asset tracking has existed for many years in the US, the DSCSA imposes 
stricter rules and requirements that requires advanced and streamlined technologies to comply with. 
Through its relationship with TrackX, Captios has licensed a proven asset tracking and management 
software which can be developed further to fill the specific needs of the pharmaceutical and healthcare 
industries.  

Cycles 

The pharmaceutical and healthcare industries are generally not subject to cycles due to factors such as 
weather and climate conditions. The pharmaceutical and healthcare industries tend to be less prone to 
economic and credit cycles and associated risks than consumer or discretionary goods.  

Economic Dependence 

Captios is not currently reliant on any one customer and does not expect such reliance in the future as 
sales ramp up. 

Employees 

As at the date of this Prospectus, Captios has no employees. 

The Software 

Captios primary focus is to provide its enterprise asset management and supply chain execution Software 
that is compliant with the DSCSA for the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries. The Software currently 
offers the following solutions:    

 Complete supply chain visibility (i.e. pill to patient) 

 Product provenance and regulatory compliance 

 Blockchain – permission-based central ledger provides accurate recording and full audit trail of all 
asset handling activities 
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 Multi-location support 

 Predictive Analytics 

 Cloud based 

 Hardware agnostic – support for multiple auto-ID and IoT sensor technologies 

Marketing Plan 

Overall, Captios marketing efforts will focus upon the pharmaceutical industry and compliance with the 
DSCSA, offering an end-to-end complete solution. Captios’ underlying software has been in use for many 
years via TrackX and has been deployed by Fortune 500 companies in a variety of industries. Captios 
intends to build upon the proven software of TrackX and tailor it to the pharmaceutical and healthcare 
industries. 

Initially, Captios will provide its Software and services to companies already in its sales funnel that have 
reached out for a supply chain management and a physical asset tracking solution in the pharmaceutical 
and healthcare industries.  

Captios intends to leverage the existing relationships that TrackX has with companies in the pharmaceutical 
and healthcare industries and the reputation of TrackX’s software as a proven solution. Captios will market 
the message that its Software and end-to-end tracking solution is fully DSCSA compliant and utilizes the 
blockchain to ensure total visibility, trust, and record storage. 

Key aspects of Captios’ marketing plan are highlighted below: 

 Word of Mouth and Referrals – Captios is confident in the quality of its Software and service offering 
which will be critical in building the brand and trust from customers. Captios will rely on testimonials 
in its marketing materials and has an ongoing referral relationship with TrackX. 

 Inside Sales and Account Representatives – Captios will have a project manager, business analyst 
and four engineering members to manage onboarding and customer success initiatives. Captios 
will add a number of outside sales representatives as well as an inside sales representatives for 
lead qualification and sales support.  

 Earned Media – as Captios gains traction in terms of exposure and marketability, management of 
Captios expects to receive press coverage from several traditional media sources and expects 
these features and news stories to continue as sales grow. Captios will focus its press campaign 
upon the message that its enterprise asset management and supply chain execution Software is a 
complete end-to-end solution that provides compliance with the DSCSA.  

 Industry Shows and Events – Captios will attend various industry trade shows, conferences, and 
seminars that foster growth and knowledge in the supply chain, enterprise asset management and 
pharmaceutical, healthcare and blockchain industries. Such events also provide great opportunities 
for identifying new partners, distribution channels, new clients and serve as opportunities for 
potential joint and/or mergers and acquisitions targets.  

 Social Media – Captios intends to be very active on a variety of social media platforms producing 
static and video content that promotes the benefits of supply chain visibility and management, 
blockchain and the increased efficiencies and business processes that can be created utilizing 
Captios’ Software and services.  

 Online Marketing – Captios plans to develop online and mobile marketing campaigns targeted at 
both the pharmaceutical and healthcare industries. The first step in online marketing is a 
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comprehensive website designed with search engine optimization (“SEO”) in mind, targeting 
keywords that will help the website gain authority and rank higher in search results. SEO techniques 
can effectively reach very targeted markets with relative ease and at a reasonable cost. A corporate 
marketing and communications program will also be initiated. 

Financial Plan  

Captios has prepared a budget for the year ending December 31, 2021. Revenue and sales for 2021 have 
been adjusted to take into account interruptions related to the COVID-19 virus and its impact upon access 
to raw materials along with reduced distribution as a result of store closures across the continental USA. 

Lending 

Captios has not adopted any specific policies or restrictions regarding investments or lending. 

Bankruptcy and Similar Procedures 

There are no bankruptcies, receivership or similar proceedings against Captios, nor is Captios aware of 
any such pending or threatened proceedings. There has not been any voluntary bankruptcy, receivership 
or similar proceedings by Captios. 

Reorganization 

Captios has not completed any reorganization in the last three years. 

Social and Environmental Policies 

Captios is not expected to adopt any specific social or environmental policies that are fundamental to its 
operations (such as policies regarding its relationship with the environment, with the communities in the 
vicinity of its facilities or human rights policies). However, Captios’ management, with the assistance of its 
contractors and advisors, will ensure its ongoing compliance with local laws in the jurisdictions in which it 
does business. 

Three Year History  

On March 11, 2020, Captios was formed in the State of Delaware.  

On July 6, 2020, Captios entered into the TrackX License Agreement. Please see “Captios – Business of 
Captios – Spotlite360 – TrackX License Agreement – Commercial Terms and Fees Associated with the 
TrackX License”. 

DIVIDENDS OR DISTRIBUTIONS 

To date, Captios has not declared any dividends or distributions on the Captios Shares although there are 
no restrictions precluding Captios from declaring any such dividends. Captios intends to direct its cash 
towards the development of its business and the identification and evaluation of assets or businesses, and 
does not expect to declare or pay any dividends or distributions in the foreseeable future. 

SELECTED FINANCIAL INFORMATION OF CAPTIOS AND MD&A 

Selected Financial Information 

The following table sets forth selected financial information for Captios as at August 31, 2020 and should 
be read in conjunction with the audited financial statements of Captios attached as Schedule “D” hereto
(the “Captios Financial Statements”). 
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Item 

Period from 
incorporation on 
March 11, 2020 to 
August 31, 2020  

(US$) 

Total Revenues Nil 

Total Expenses  (399,558) 

Net Loss   (399,558) 

Total Assets 473,871 

Total Liabilities  663,429 

Shareholder Deficit (399,558) 

Basic & Diluted loss per Share (0.04) 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 

Captios’ MD&A for the financial period ended August 31, 2020 is attached as Schedule “I” hereto. The 
Captios MD&A should be read in conjunction with the Captios Financial Statements and related notes, 
which have been prepared in accordance with IFRS. 

Liquidity, Capital Resources and Outlook 

As at August 31, 2020, Captios had working capital deficit of US$473,871. This included US$41,575 in 
cash, US$189,525 in current assets and US$663,429 in current liabilities. Management believes that it has 
sufficient cash and cash equivalents to meet its ongoing obligations upon completing the Acquisition.  

Transactions with Related Parties 

Related parties include the Captios Board, close family members and enterprises which are controlled by 
these individuals as well as persons performing similar functions. There was no remuneration paid to key 
management personnel during the period ended August 31, 2020. 

DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL 

Captios is authorized to issue an unlimited number of Captios Shares without nominal or par value of which, 
as at the date hereof, 20,100,000 Captios Shares are issued and outstanding as fully paid and non-
assessable.  

Each Captios Share carries one vote at all meetings of shareholders, carries the right to receive a 
proportionate share, on a per share basis, of the assets of Captios available for distribution in the event of 
a liquidation, dissolution, or winding-up of Captios and the right to receive any dividend if declared by 
Captios. 

All Captios Shares which are to be outstanding after completion of the Acquisition will be held by the 
Resulting Issuer and will be fully paid and non-assessable. 

CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION 

For information regarding changes in Captios’ consolidated capitalization since August 31, 2020, that will 
result from the Acquisition, please see “The Resulting Issuer – Pro Forma Consolidated Capitalization of 
the Resulting Issuer”. 
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PRIOR SALES 

The following table summarizes issuances of Captios Shares, or securities convertible into Captios Shares, 
during the 12-month period preceding the date of this Prospectus.  

Date of Issuance Type of Security 
Number of 

Securities Issued 
Issuance/Exercise Price 

per Security 

March 11, 2020 Ordinary Shares 8,200,000 US$0.012

April 10, 2020 Ordinary Shares 1,200,000 US$0.058

April 13, 2020 Ordinary Shares 300,000 US$0.067

August 31, 2020 Ordinary Shares 300,000 US$0.067

November 1, 2020 Ordinary Shares 10,000,000 US$0.029

November 4, 2020 Ordinary Shares 100,000 US$0.112

PRINCIPAL SECURITYHOLDERS 

There are no persons who beneficially own, directly or indirectly or exercise control or direction over more 
than 10% of the issued and outstanding Captios Shares.  

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

The following table sets out, for each director and executive officer of Captios, the person’s name, province 
or state and country of residence, position(s) with Captios, the date on which the person became a director 
and/or an executive officer, and principal occupation. Captios directors are elected annually and, unless re-
elected, retire from office at the end of the next annual meeting of Captios shareholders. The directors and 
executive officers of Captios beneficially own, or exercise control or direction over, directly or indirectly, 
1,200,000 Captios Shares, representing 5.97% of the issued and outstanding Captios Shares on the date 
of this Prospectus. 

Name and 
Province or State 
and Country of 

Residence 

Age 
Position with the 

Company 

Director / 
Officer 
Since  

Principal 
Occupation 

Number of 
Captios Shares 

owned or 
controlled 

James Greenwell

Colorado, USA 
61 Director and President March 11, 2020 

Business 
executive 

Nil 

Gene McConnell 

Colorado, USA 
68 

Director and Chief 
Financial Officer 

March 11, 2020 
Finance 

executive 
1,200,000 

Set forth below is a description of the background of the directors and officers of Captios, including a 
description of each individual’s principal occupation(s) within the past five years.  

James Greenwell, age 61 – Director and President: James Greenwell served as Chief Operating Officer 
of MusclePharm. Prior to MusclePharm, Mr. Greenwell was the Vice-President of Voice Technology for 
Intelligrated Systems (Intelligrated is one of the largest material handling automation companies in the US). 
From September 2000 until acquired by Intelligrated in March 2013, Mr. Greenwell was the Chief Executive 
Officer of Datria Systems Inc., a venture capital backed speech recognition application software company. 
He has also served as Chairman of the Board of Datria Systems’ from 2002 until the acquisition by 
Intelligrated. In prior employment, he served as a technology executive in a number of private and public 
companies. He served on the Board of the Cherry Creek School Foundation from September 2010 until 
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April 2014 and he was a founding member of Friends of Denver Fire and served on its Board from 2007 
through 2010. Mr. Greenwell served on the Board of the Denver Chapter of the American Heart Association 
from 2002 through 2008 and was Chairman of the Board in 2007. He also served on the Board of Trustees 
of the Bonfils Blood Center Foundation from 1999 through 2003. Mr. Greenwell earned a BS from the 
College of Business at Michigan State University and an MBA degree from Saint Mary’s College of 
California.  

Gene McConnell, age 68 – Director and Chief Financial Officer: Gene McConnell has 30 years of 
experience assisting companies in raising investment capital; reviewing and implementing policies to 
increase efficiencies in accounting systems and performing due diligence. Gene served as a partner with 
Tatum, LLC and through Tatum he has been the Chief Financial Officer and Chief Operating Officer of 
Rainbow Rewards of Colorado, Inc., an e-commerce media and web business. Prior to joining Tatum, Gene 
was Chief Financial Officer, Arrowhead Consulting Company, technical consultants; Operational Controller-
Marketing Services, ClientLogic, a leader in providing call center service; Chief Financial Officer, 
MarketVision, Inc., provider of database marketing software and marketing services; Financial Consultant, 
Financial Management Services, consulting firm; Chief Financial Officer, Cottrell, Ltd, manufacturer and 
distributor of infection control products for the medical and dental industries and Vice President Finance 
and Administration/Chief Financial Officer, Coral Companies, Inc., developer and distributor of order entry 
software for catalog retailers. Gene holds a Master of Business Administration in Finance from the 
University of Colorado, Denver and a Bachelor of Science in Accounting from the University of Colorado, 
Boulder. 

Other Reporting Issuer Experience 

The following table sets out the directors, officers and promoters of Captios that are, or have been within 
the last five years, directors, officers or promoters of other issuers that are or were reporting issuers in any 
Canadian jurisdiction (or the equivalent in a jurisdiction outside of Canada): 

Name Name of Reporting Issuer Trading 
Market 

Gene 
McConnell 

TrackX Holdings Inc. TSXV 

Corporate Cease Trade Orders or Bankruptcies 

No director, officer, insider or promoter of Captios is, or within the 10 years prior to the date of this 
prospectus has been, a director, officer or promoter of any other Issuer that, while that person was acting 
in that capacity: 

(a) was the subject of a cease trade or similar order, or an order that denied the other Issuer access 
to any exemptions under applicable securities legislation for a period of more than 30 consecutive 
days; or 

(b) became bankrupt, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or 
was subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors or had a 
receiver, receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold its assets. 

Penalties or Sanctions 

No director, officer, insider or promoter of Captios or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of the 
Captios to affect materially the control of Captios, has been subject to any penalties or sanctions imposed 
by a court relating to securities legislation or by any securities regulatory authority or has entered into a 
settlement agreement with a securities regulatory authority, or has been subject to any other penalties or 



31 

sanctions imposed by a court or regulatory body or self-regulatory authority that would be likely to be 
considered important to a reasonable investor in making an investment decision. 

Personal Bankruptcies 

No director, officer, insider or promoter of Captios or a shareholder holding sufficient securities of Captios 
to affect materially the control of Captios, or a personal holding company of any such persons has, within 
the 10 years before the date of this prospectus, as applicable, become bankrupt or made a voluntary 
assignment in bankruptcy, made a proposal under any legislation relating to bankruptcy or insolvency or 
been subject to or instituted any proceedings, arrangement or compromise with creditors, or had a receiver 
or receiver manager or trustee appointed to hold the assets of that individual. 

EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

Captios is not a reporting issuer in any jurisdiction. As a result, certain information required by Form 51-
102F6V – Statement of Executive Compensation – Venture Issuers (“Form 51-102F6V”) has been omitted 
pursuant to Section 1.3(8) of Form 51-102F6V. 

The following discussion describes the significant elements of the compensation of Captios’ named 
executive officers, (collectively, the “named executive officers” or “NEOs”) from the period from 
incorporation to August 31, 2020. 

Table of Compensation Excluding Compensation Securities 

Name and 
Position 

Year 

Salary, 
consulting 

fee, retainer 
or 

commission 

($) 

Bonus 

($) 

Committee 
or meeting 

fees  

($) 

Value of 
perquisites 

($) 

Value of all 
other 

compensation 

($) 

Total 
compensation 

($) 

James 
Greenwell

2020 nil nil nil nil nil nil 

Gene 
McConnell

2020 35,000 nil nil nil nil 35,000 

Stock options and Other Compensation Securities  

Name 
and 

Position 

Type of 
compensation 

security 

Number of 
compensation 

securities, 
number of 
underlying 
securities, 

and 
percentage of 

class 

Date 
of 

issue 
or 

grant 

Issue, 
conversion 
or exercise 

price 

($) 

Closing 
price of 

security or 
underlying 

security 
on date of 

grant 

($) 

Closing 
price of 

security or 
underlying 
security at 
year end 

($) 

Expiry 
date 

James 
Greenwell

nil nil nil nil nil nil nil 

Gene 
McConnell

nil nil nil nil nil nil nil 
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INDEBTEDNESS OF DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

As of the date of this Prospectus, no director or officer of Captios, or any Associate or Affiliate of any of 
them is indebted to Captios, nor is any indebtedness of any such person the subject of a guarantee, support 
agreement, letter of credit or other similar arrangement or understanding provided by Captios. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

As of the date hereof, the Captios Board is comprised of two directors, James Greenwell and Gene 
McConnell, and does not have a formal audit committee. Neither Mr. Greenwell nor Mr. McConnell are 
considered independent by virtue of being executive officers of Captios. Mr. Greenwell and Mr. McConnell 
are both considered financially literate, as such terms are defined in NI 52-110. Upon completion of the 
Acquisition, the Company’s Audit Committee, as described above, will continue to serve as the Resulting 
Issuer’s audit committee.  

RISK FACTORS 

The business of Captios, which will be the business of the Resulting Issuer after the Acquisition, is subject 
to a number of risks.  

The following are certain risk factors relating to the business carried on by Captios which prospective 
investors should carefully consider before deciding whether to purchase Common Shares. Captios will face 
a number of challenges in the development of its technology and in building its user base. Due to the nature 
of Captios, Captios’ business and present stage of the business, Captios may be subject to significant risks. 
Readers should carefully consider all such risks, including those set out in the discussion below. 

Limited Operating History  

Captios has limited operating history. Captios and its business prospects must be viewed against the 
background of the risks, expenses and problems frequently encountered by companies in the early stages 
of their development, particularly companies in new and rapidly evolving markets such as the blockchain 
and business intelligence markets. There is no certainty that Captios will operate profitably. 

No Profits to Date  

Captios has not made profits since its incorporation and it may not be profitable for the foreseeable future. 
Its future profitability will, in particular, depend upon its success in developing its database solution and to 
the extent to which it is able to generate significant revenues. Because of the limited operating history and 
the uncertainties regarding the development of blockchain technology, management does not believe that 
the operating results to date should be regarded as indicators for Captios’ future performance. 

Going Concern Assumption  

The financial statements of Captios have been prepared in accordance with IFRS on a going concern basis, 
which presumes that Captios will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal 
course of business for the foreseeable future. Captios’ continuation as a “going concern” is uncertain and 
is dependent upon, amongst other things, attaining a satisfactory revenue level, the support of its 
customers, its ability to continue profitable operations, the generation of cash from operations, and its ability 
to obtain financing arrangements and capital in the future. These material uncertainties represent risks to 
Captios’ ability to continue as a going concern and realize its assets and pay its liabilities as they become 
due. If the “going concern” assumption was not appropriate for the financial statements, then adjustments 
would be necessary to the carrying values of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and the balance 
sheet classifications used. Such adjustments could be material. 
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Additional Requirements for Capital  

Substantial additional financing may be required if Captios is to successfully develop its supply chain 
management business. No assurances can be given that Captios will be able to raise the additional capital 
that it may require for its anticipated future development. Any additional equity financing may be dilutive to 
investors and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictions on financing and operating activities. 
There is no assurance that additional financing will be available on terms acceptable to Captios, if at all. If 
Captios is unable to obtain additional financing as needed, it may be required to reduce the scope of its 
operations or anticipated expansion. 

Expenses May Not Align With Revenues  

Unexpected events may materially harm Captios’ ability to align incurred expenses with recognized 
revenues. Captios incurs operating expenses based upon anticipated revenue trends. Since a high 
percentage of these expenses may be relatively fixed, a delay in recognizing revenues from transactions 
related to these expenses (such a delay may be due to the factors described elsewhere in this risk factor 
section or it may be due to other factors) could cause significant variations in operating results from quarter 
to quarter, and such a delay could materially reduce operating income. If these expenses are not 
subsequently matched by revenues, Captios’ business, financial condition, or results of operations could 
be materially and adversely affected. 

Market Acceptance  

If Captios’ supply chain solution does not gain market acceptance, its operating results may be negatively 
affected. If the markets for the Captios’ solution fail to develop, develop more slowly than expected or 
become subject to increased competition, its business may suffer. As a result, Captios may be unable to: 
(i) successfully market its solution; (ii) develop new products or services; or (iii) complete new products and 
services currently under development. If Captios’ solution is not accepted by its customers or by other 
businesses in the marketplace, Captios’ business, operating results and financial condition will be materially 
affected. 

Global Financial Developments  

Stress in the global financial system may adversely affect Captios’ finances and operations in ways that 
may be hard to predict or to defend against. Financial developments seemingly unrelated to Captios or to 
its industry may adversely affect Captios over the course of time. For example, material increases in any 
applicable interest rate benchmarks may increase the debt payment costs for any credit facilities. Credit 
contraction in financial markets may hurt its ability to access credit in the event that Captios identifies an 
acquisition opportunity or require significant access to credit for other reasons. A reduction in credit, 
combined with reduced economic activity, may adversely affect business. Any of these events, or any other 
events caused by turmoil in world financial markets, may have a material adverse effect on Captios’ 
business, operating results, and financial condition. 

Compliance with Complex Domestic and Foreign Laws  

Captios is subject to a variety of laws and regulations in the United States and abroad that involve matters 
central to its business, including user privacy, data protection, intellectual property, distribution, contracts 
and other communications, consumer protection, and taxation. Foreign laws and regulations are often more 
restrictive than those in the United States. These US federal and state and foreign laws and regulations are 
constantly evolving and can be subject to significant change. In addition, the application and interpretation 
of these laws and regulations are often uncertain, particularly in the new and rapidly evolving industry in 
which Captios operates. Existing and proposed laws and regulations can be and may be costly to comply 
with and can delay or impede the development of new products, result in negative publicity, increase 
Captios’ operating costs, require significant management time and attention, and subject Captios to claims 
or other remedies, including fines or demands that Captios modify or cease existing business practices. 
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Regulatory Risks  

Changes in or more aggressive enforcement of laws and regulations could adversely impact Captios’ 
business. Failure or delays in obtaining necessary approvals could have a materially adverse effect on 
Captios’ financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, changes in government, regulations and 
policies and practices could have an adverse impact on Captios’ future cash flows, earnings, results of 
operations and financial condition. Regulatory agencies could shut down or restrict the use of platforms 
using blockchain-based technologies. This could lead to a loss of any investment made in Captios and may 
trigger regulatory action by the OSC or other securities regulators. 

Dependence on Internet Infrastructure; Risk of System Failures, Security Risks and Rapid 
Technological Change  

The success as a developer of blockchain-based platforms will depend by and large upon the continued 
development of a stable public infrastructure, with the necessary speed, data capacity and security, and 
the timely development of complementary products such as high-speed modems for providing reliable 
internet access and services. It cannot be assured that the infrastructure that supports blockchain-based 
technologies will continue to be able to support the demands placed upon it by this continued growth or 
that the performance or reliability of the technology will not be adversely affected by this continued growth. 
It is further not assured that the infrastructure or complementary products or services necessary to make 
blockchain-based technologies viable will be developed in a timely manner, or that such development will 
not result in the requirement of incurring substantial costs in order to adapt Captios’ services to changing 
technologies. 

Timely Adaptation to Technology Innovations  

The blockchain and telecommunications markets are experiencing rapid technological changes. Failure to 
anticipate technology innovations or adapt to such innovations in a timely manner, or at all, may result in 
Captios’ products becoming obsolete at sudden and unpredictable intervals. To maintain the relevancy of 
Captios’ products, Captios may invest in product planning and research and development. The process of 
developing and marketing new products is inherently complex and involves significant uncertainties. There 
are a number of risks, including the following: (a) Captios’ product planning efforts may fail in resulting in 
the development or commercialization of new technologies or ideas; (b) Captios’ research and development 
efforts may fail to translate new product plans into commercially feasible products; (c) Captios’ new 
technologies or new products may not be well received by consumers; (d) Captios may not have adequate 
funding and resources necessary for continual investments in product planning and research and 
development; (e) Captios’ products may become obsolete due to rapid advancements in technology and 
changes in consumer preferences; and (f) Captios’ newly developed technologies may not be protected as 
proprietary intellectual property rights. 

Any failure to anticipate the next-generation technology roadmap or changes in customer preferences or to 
timely develop new or enhanced products in response could result in decreased revenue and market share. 
In particular, Captios may experience difficulties with product design, product development, marketing or 
certification, which could result in excessive research and development expenses and capital expenditure, 
delays or prevent Captios’ introduction of new or enhanced products. Furthermore, Captios’ research and 
development efforts may not yield the expected results, or may prove to be futile due to the lack of market 
demand. 

Managing Rapid Growth in a High Tech Environment  

Growth may significantly strain Captios management, operational and financial resources. Any future 
growth including mergers and acquisitions may increase the strain on Captios’ management, operational 
and financial resources. The markets and technologies in which Captios is and will be invested and manage 
could evolve rapidly. If Captios does not succeed in managing rapid corporate growth and technology 
change effectively, it may harm its business, financial condition and results of operations. 
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Industry Competition 

The SaaS market in which Captios competes requires continuous innovation and are highly competitive, 
rapidly evolving, subject to changing technology, shifting customer needs and frequent introductions of new 
products and services. New competitors could launch new businesses in Captios’ markets at a relatively 
low cost since technological and financial barriers to entry are relatively low. Some of Captios’ current and 
potential competitors may have competitive advantages, such as greater name recognition, longer 
operating histories, broader geographic scope, and larger marketing budgets, as well as substantially 
greater financial, technical, personnel, and other resources. Captios may also experience competition from 
smaller, younger competitors that may be more agile in responding to customers’ demands. These 
competitors may be able to respond more quickly and effectively than Captios can to new or changing 
opportunities, technologies, standards or customer requirements or provide competitive pricing. As a result, 
even if Captios’ services are more effective than the products and services that Captios’ competitors offer, 
potential customers might select competitive products and services in lieu of purchasing Captios’ products 
and services. For these reasons, Captios may not be able to compete successfully against Captios’ current 
and future competitors, which could negatively impact Captios’ future sales and harm Captios’ business 
and financial condition. 

Errors in Captios Products  

Captios’ products are highly technical and complex. Captios’ products may now or in the future contain 
undetected errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities. Some errors in Captios’ products may only be discovered after 
they have been released. Any errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities discovered in Captios’ products after release 
could result in damage to Captios’ reputation, loss of users, loss of revenue, or liability for damages, any of 
which could adversely affect Captios’ business and financial results. 

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights  

Captios’ supply chain solution is proprietary. Captios’ strategy is to rely on a combination of intellectual 
property protections in the United States and other jurisdictions, and to rely on license and confidentiality 
agreements and software security measures to further protect its proprietary technology and brand. The 
steps Captios has taken to protect its proprietary rights may not be adequate to avoid the misappropriation 
of its technology or independent development by others of technologies that may be considered a 
competitor. Captios’ intellectual property rights may expire or be challenged, invalidated or infringed upon 
by third parties or it may be unable to maintain, renew or enter into new licenses or user agreements on 
commercially reasonable terms. Any misappropriation of Captios’ technology or development of competitive 
technologies could harm its business or cause it to lose the competitive advantages associated with its 
proprietary technology, and could subject it to substantial costs in protecting and enforcing its intellectual 
property rights, and/or temporarily or permanently disrupt its sales and marketing of the affected products 
or services.  

Violation of Third Party Intellectual Property Rights  

The only significant intellectual property rights are certain intellectual property Captios has in the graph 
database solution and in other future products and solutions it develops. Although Captios is not aware of 
violating commercial and other proprietary rights of third parties, there can be no assurance that its products 
do not violate proprietary rights of third parties or that third parties will not assert or claim that such violation 
has occurred. Although no legal disputes in this respect or perceptible detrimental effects on Captios 
business have arisen to date, any such claims and disputes arising may result in liability for substantial 
damages which in turn could harm Captios’ business, results of operations and financial condition. 

Dependence on Third Party Relationships  

Captios is highly dependent on a number of third party relationships to conduct its business and implement 
expansion plans. it cannot be assured that all of these partnerships will turn out to be as advantageous as 
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currently anticipated or that other partnerships would not have proven to be more advantageous. In addition, 
it is impossible to assure that all associated partners will perform their obligations as agreed. 

General Regulatory Risks 

Captios’ business will be subject to a variety of laws, regulations and guidelines and licensing requirements 
in Canada and the United States. Achievement of Captios’ business objectives will be contingent, in part, 
upon compliance with applicable regulatory requirements and obtaining all requisite regulatory approvals.  

Captios will be required to obtain or renew further government permits, licenses and registrations for its 
contemplated operations. Obtaining, amending or renewing the necessary governmental permits and 
licenses can be a time-consuming process potentially involving numerous regulatory agencies, involving 
public hearings and costly undertakings on Captios’ part. The duration and success of Captios’ efforts to 
obtain, amend and renew permits and licenses will be contingent upon many variables not within its control, 
including the interpretation of applicable requirements implemented by the relevant permitting or licensing 
authority. Captios may not be able to obtain, amend or renew permits or licenses that are necessary to its 
operations. Any unexpected delays or costs associated with the permitting and licensing process could 
impede the ongoing or proposed operations of Captios. To the extent permits, licenses or registrations are 
not obtained, amended or renewed, or are subsequently suspended or revoked, Captios may be curtailed 
or prohibited from proceeding with its ongoing operations or planned development and commercialization 
activities. Such curtailment or prohibition may result in a material adverse effect on Captios’ business, 
financial condition, results of operations or prospects. 

There is no assurance that Captios’ licenses, permits or registrations will be renewed by each applicable 
regulatory authority in the future in a timely manner. Any unexpected delays or costs associated with the 
licensing renewal process for any of the licenses held by Captios could impede the ongoing or planned 
operations of Captios and have a material adverse effect on Captios’ business, financial condition, results 
of operations or prospects. 

Captios may become involved in a number of government or agency proceedings, investigations and audits. 
The outcome of any regulatory or agency proceedings, investigations, audits, and other contingencies could 
harm Captios’ reputation, require Captios to take, or refrain from taking, actions that could harm its 
operations or require Captios to pay substantial amounts of money, harming its financial condition. There 
can be no assurance that any pending or future regulatory or agency proceedings, investigations and audits 
will not result in substantial costs or a diversion of management’s attention and resources or have a material 
adverse impact on Captios’ business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. 

Economic Environment 

Captios’ operations could be affected by general economic context conditions should the unemployment 
level, interest rates or inflation reach levels that influence consumer trends, and consequently, impact 
Captios’ sales and profitability. As well, general demand for banking services and alternative banking or 
financial services cannot be predicted and future prospects of such areas might be different from those 
predicted by Captios’ management. 

Failure to Grow at the Rate Anticipated  

Captios is a start-up company with no history of sales or profitability. If Captios is unable to achieve 
adequate revenue growth, its ability to become profitable may be adversely affected and Captios may not 
have adequate resources to execute its business strategy. 

Management of Growth  

Captios may be subject to growth-related risks including pressure on its internal systems and controls. 
Captios’ ability to manage its growth effectively will require it to continue to implement and improve its 
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operational and financial systems. The inability of Captios to deal with this growth could have a material 
adverse impact on its business, operations and prospects. While management believes that it will have 
made the necessary investments in infrastructure to process anticipated volume increases in the short term, 
Captios may experience growth in the number of its employees and the scope of its operating and financial 
systems, resulting in increased responsibilities for Captios’ personnel, the hiring of additional personnel 
and, in general, higher levels of operating expenses. In order to manage its current operations and any 
future growth effectively, Captios will also need to continue to implement and improve its operational, 
financial and management information systems and to hire, train, motivate and manage its employees. 
There can be no assurance that Captios will be able to manage such growth effectively, that its 
management, personnel or systems will be adequate to support Captios’ operations or that Captios will be 
able to achieve the increased levels of revenue commensurate with the increased levels of operating 
expenses associated with this growth. 

Strain of Being a Public Company  

As a reporting issuer, Captios will be subject to the reporting requirements of applicable securities 
legislation of the jurisdictions in which it is a reporting issuer, the listing requirements of the CSE and other 
applicable securities rules and regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations will increase 
Captios’ legal and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming or costly 
and increase demand on its systems and resources. Applicable securities laws will require Captios to, 
among other things, file certain annual and quarterly reports with respect to its business and results of 
operations. In addition, applicable securities laws will require Captios to, among other things, maintain 
effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. In order to 
maintain and, if required, improve its disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial 
reporting to meet this standard, significant resources and management oversight may be required. 
Specifically, due to the increasing complexity of its transactions, it is anticipated that Captios will improve 
its disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting primarily through the 
continued development and implementation of formal policies, improved processes and documentation 
procedures, as well as the continued sourcing of additional finance resources. As a result, management’s 
attention may be diverted from other business concerns, which could harm Captios’ business and results 
of operations. To comply with these requirements, Captios may need to hire more employees in the future 
or engage outside consultants, which will increase its costs and expenses.  

In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public 
disclosure are creating uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs 
and making some activities more time-consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are subject to 
varying interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in 
practice may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could 
result in continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing 
revisions to disclosure and governance practices. Captios intends to continue to invest resources to comply 
with evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and 
administrative expenses and a diversion of management’s time and attention from revenue- generating 
activities to compliance activities. If its efforts to comply with new laws, regulations and standards differ 
from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application 
and practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against Captios, which could adversely 
affect Captios’ business and financial results.  

As a public company subject to these rules and regulations, Captios may find it more expensive for it to 
obtain director and officer liability insurance, and it may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur 
substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for Captios to 
attract and retain qualified members of its board of directors, particularly to serve on its audit committee, 
and qualified executive officers.  

As a result of disclosure of information in filings required of a public company, Captios’ business and 
financial condition will become more visible, which may result in threatened or actual litigation, including by 
competitors and other third parties. If such claims are successful, Captios’ business and results of 
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operations could be harmed, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in its favor, 
these claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources of Captios’ 
management and harm its business and results of operations. 

Litigation  

Captios may become involved in litigation that may materially adversely affect it. From time to time in the 
ordinary course of Captios business, it may become involved in various legal proceedings. Such matters 
can be time-consuming, divert management’s attention and resources and cause Captios to incur 
significant expenses. Furthermore, because litigation is inherently unpredictable, the results of any such 
actions may have a material adverse effect on Captios’ business, operating results or financial condition. 
More specifically, Captios may face claims relating to information that is retrieved from or transmitted over 
the Internet or through the solution and claims related to Captios’ products. In particular, the nature of 
Captios’ business exposes it to claims related to intellectual property rights, rights of privacy, and personal 
injury torts. Furthermore, there is no assurance that any liability incurred as a result of litigation can be 
recovered from Captios’ insurance policy. 

Conflicts of interest  

The directors of Captios are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best interests 
of Captios and to disclose any interests, which they may have in any project or opportunity of Captios. If a 
conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the board of directors, any director in a conflict will disclose his 
interest and abstain from voting on such matter. Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the procedures and 
remedies as provided under the OBCA. To the best of Captios’ knowledge, and other than disclosed herein, 
there are no known existing or potential conflicts of interest between Captios and its directors and officers 
except that certain of the directors and officers may serve as directors and/or officers of other companies, 
and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise between their duties to Captios and their duties as a 
director or officer of such other companies. 

Currency Risk  

To the extent that Captios expands its business into Asia, the United States and Europe, Captios will be 
exposed to foreign currency fluctuations to the extent that certain operations are located in Asia, the United 
States and Europe and therefore certain expenditures and obligations are denominated in foreign currency, 
yet Captios (post-Acquisition) is headquartered in Canada, has applied to list its Common Shares on a 
Canadian stock exchange and typically raises funds in Canadian dollars. As such, Captios’ results of 
operations are subject to foreign currency fluctuation risks and such fluctuations may adversely affect the 
financial position and operating results of Captios. 

Difficulty to Forecast  

Captios must rely largely on its own market research to forecast sales as detailed forecasts are not generally 
obtainable from other sources at this early stage of the industrial supply chain management industry in the 
USA. A failure in the demand for its products to materialize as a result of competition, technological change 
or other factors could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial 
condition of Captios. 

Internal Controls  

Effective internal controls are necessary for Captios to provide reliable financial reports and to help prevent 
fraud. Although Captios will undertake a number of procedures and will implement a number of safeguards, 
in each case, in order to help ensure the reliability of its financial reports, including those imposed on 
Captios under Canadian securities law, Captios cannot be certain that such measures will ensure that 
Captios will maintain adequate control over financial processes and reporting. Failure to implement required 
new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could harm Captios’ results of 
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operations or cause it to fail to meet its reporting obligations. If Captios or its auditors discover a material 
weakness, the disclosure of that fact, even if quickly remedied, could reduce the market's confidence in 
Captios’ consolidated financial statements and materially adversely affect the trading price of Captios’ 
Shares. 

COVID-19 

The outbreak of the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic has impacted Captios’ plans and activities. 
Captios may face disruption to operations, supply chain delays, travel and trade restrictions and impact on 
economic activity in affected countries or regions can be expected and can be difficult to quantify. Such 
pandemics or diseases represent a serious threat to maintaining a skilled workforce industry and could be 
a major health-care challenge for Captios. There can be no assurance that Captios’s personnel will not be 
impacted by these pandemic diseases and ultimately that Captios would see its workforce productivity 
reduced or incur increased medical costs/insurance premiums as a result of these health risks. In addition, 
the COVID-19 pandemic has created a dramatic slowdown in the global economy. The duration of the 
COVID-19 outbreak and the resultant travel restrictions, social distancing, Government response actions, 
business closures and business disruptions, can all have an impact on Captios’ operations and access to 
capital. There can be no assurance that Captios will not be impacted by adverse consequences that may 
be brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic on global financial markets may reduce resource prices, 
share prices and financial liquidity and thereby that may severely limit the financing capital available. 

LEGAL PROCEEDINGS AND REGULATORY ACTIONS 

There are no legal proceedings to which Captios is or is likely to be a party. 

INTERESTS OF MANAGEMENT AND OTHERS IN MATERIAL TRANSACTIONS 

None of the directors or executive officers of Captios, or persons or companies that beneficially own, or 
control or direct, directly or indirectly, more than 10% of the outstanding Captios Shares, or any Associate 
or Affiliate of any of the foregoing, has any material interest, direct or indirect, in any transactions in which 
Captios has participated since incorporation that has materially affected or is reasonably expected to 
materially affect Captios. 

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRARS 

Captios’ auditor, Smythe, LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, located at Vancouver, British 
Columbia, is expected to be the auditor of the Resulting Issuer.  

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

Except for contracts made in the ordinary course of business, the following are the only material contracts 
entered into by Captios within two years before the date of this Prospectus, which, upon completion of the 
Acquisition, will be filed with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities and available on SEDAR, at 
www.sedar.com. Investors are encouraged to read the full text of such material agreements.  

1. The Software License Agreement dated July 6, 2020 between Captios and TrackX, Inc.; 

2. The Securities Exchange Agreement dated June 21, 2020 between the Company, Captios and the 
Members (as that term is defined therein). 
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THE ACQUISITION  

The Company has identified the Acquisition with Captios as an appropriate transaction. The Acquisition will 
be completed by way of the Securities Exchange Agreement, pursuant to which the Company will acquire 
all issued and outstanding Captios Shares and Captios will become a wholly owned subsidiary of the 
Company. For the purposes of this section, all capitalized terms not defined herein shall have the meaning 
ascribed to them in the Securities Exchange Agreement.  

The completion of the Acquisition is subject to, among other things, prior satisfaction or waiver of a number 
of conditions, including final Exchange acceptance of the Acquisition and approval of Listing. Upon 
completion of the Acquisition, the Resulting Issuer is expected to meet all of the Exchange's minimum listing 
requirements. 

Securities Exchange  

On June 21, 2020, the Company, Captios and each of the members of Captios entered into the Securities 
Exchange Agreement, pursuant to which the Company will acquire all of the issued and outstanding 
securities of Captios in consideration for the issuance of securities of the Company. 

Pursuant to the Securities Exchange Agreement, the Company will acquire all of the outstanding Captios 
Shares from the Captios securityholders in exchange, on a 1:1 basis, for the issuance from treasury of 
20,100,000 Common Shares of the Company.  

As a result of the Securities Exchange Agreement, Captios will become a wholly-owned subsidiary of the 
Resulting Issuer, and the Resulting Issuer will carry on the business currently carried on by Captios and 
Spotlite360. 

Securities Exchange Agreement 

The Securities Exchange Agreement contains standard covenants, representations and warranties of and 
from each of the Company, Captios and the securityholders of Captios and various conditions precedent 
with respect to each. The following is a summary of certain provisions of the Securities Exchange 
Agreement, which is qualified in its entirety by reference to the full text of the Securities Exchange 
Agreement, a copy of which will be filed under the Company’s issuer profile on SEDAR and accessible at 
www.sedar.com.  

Representations, Warranties, and Covenants of the Company 

 The Company is in good standing with its filings with the applicable securities laws and the 
Company’s Common Shares are not subject to any trading halt, suspension or cease trade order, 
and there is no pending or, to the knowledge of the Company after due inquiry, threatened or 
potential action to halt or suspend the Company’s Common Shares by any relevant securities 
regulatory authority having jurisdiction; 

 The Company’s Common Shares, when issued, will be issued as fully paid and non-assessable 
common shares. 

 The Company is now, and on the date of the closing of the Acquisition (the “Closing Date”) will be, 
a reporting issuer in the provinces of British Columbia and Alberta. 

 The Company agrees to indemnify each of the Captios securityholders against, and will pay each 
of the Captios securityholders an amount equal to, any loss which may be suffered, sustained or 
incurred by such Captios securityholder directly as a result of any of the representations and 
warranties in section 4.1 of the Securities Exchange Agreement proving to be false, misleading or 
incorrect in a material respect, subject to certain limitations.  
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Representations, Warranties, and Covenants of Captios 

 Captios shall have taken all necessary steps to ensure its capital structure consists of an aggregate 
of 20,100,000 Captios Shares, representing 100% of the issued and outstanding Captios Shares.  

 Captios will use its commercially reasonable best efforts to obtain from Captios’ directors, 
shareholders and all appropriate governmental bodies such approvals or consents as are required 
(if any) to complete the transactions contemplated in the Securities Exchange Agreement. 

Representations, Warranties, and Covenants of the Captios Securityholders 

 Each Captios securityholder, on its own behalf and not on behalf of any of the others, agrees to 
indemnify the Company against, and will pay the Company an amount equal to, any loss which 
may be suffered, sustained or incurred by the Company, directly as a result of any of the 
representations and warranties in such Captios securityholder’s respective securityholder 
certificate proving to be false.  

Closing Conditions to the Acquisition 

The obligations of the Company to carry out the terms of the Securities Exchange Agreement and to 
complete the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction of, or compliance with, at or before the Closing 
Date, each of the following conditions precedent. Completion of the Acquisition by the Company will be 
deemed to mean a waiver of certain conditions to closing, including but not limited to as set out below: 

(a) the warranties and representations of Captios as set forth in the Securities Exchange 
Agreement will be true and correct in every material aspect on the Closing Date as if such 
warranties and representations had been made by Captios on the Closing Date; 

(b) Captios and the Captios securityholders will have performed and complied with all of their 
respective obligations, covenants and agreements hereunder; 

(c) the Common Shares, including without limitation, the Common Shares issued by the Company 
as consideration for the Acquisition, will have been approved for listing on the CSE; 

(d) all consents, renunciations, authorizations or approvals of third parties, which, in the Company’s 
reasonable opinion must be obtained prior to the closing in order to give effect to the Acquisition, 
will have been obtained to the Company’s satisfaction or in accordance with the relevant 
agreements, covenants or applicable laws; 

(e) no material adverse effect will have occurred with respect to Captios; 

(f) as at the Closing Date, all of Captios’ material contracts will be in good standing, and in full force 
and effect;  

(g) Captios shall have no aggregate liabilities greater than $25,000; and 

(h) the Company will have received from Captios and/or the Captios securityholders the documents 
set out in the Securities Exchange Agreement. 

The obligations of Captios and the Captios securityholders to carry out the terms of the Securities 
Exchange Agreement and to complete the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction of, or compliance 
with, at or before the Closing Date, each of the following conditions precedent. Completion of the 
Acquisition by Captios and the Captios securityholders will be deemed to mean a waiver of all conditions 
to closing set out below: 
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(a) the warranties and representations of the Company as set forth in the Securities Exchange 
Agreement will be true and correct in every material aspect on the Closing Date as if such 
warranties and representations had been made by the Company on the Closing Date; 

(b) the Company will have performed and complied with all of its obligations, covenants and 
agreements hereunder; 

(c) the Company’s Common Shares, including without limitation, the Common Shares issued by 
the Company as consideration for the Acquisition, will have been approved for listing on the 
Exchange; 

(d) all consents, renunciations, authorizations or approvals of third parties, which, in Captios’ 
reasonable opinion must be obtained prior to the closing in order to give effect to the Acquisition 
will have been obtained to Captios’ satisfaction or in accordance with the relevant agreements, 
covenants or applicable laws; 

(e) the Company’s consideration shares will not be subject to any trading halt, suspension or cease 
trade order and no injunction or restraining order of any governmental body of competent 
jurisdiction will be in effect prohibiting the transactions contemplated by the Securities Exchange 
Agreement and no action or proceeding will have been instituted or be pending before any court 
or administrative tribunal to restrain or prohibit the Acquisition; 

(f) no material adverse effect will have occurred with respect to the Company; and 

(g) Captios, on its own behalf and on behalf of the Captios securityholders, will have received 
certain documents set out in the Securities Exchange Agreement. 

Exclusivity 

During the period from the execution of the Securities Exchange Agreement until the Closing Date or 
termination of the Securities Exchange Agreement, Captios and the Captios securityholders covenant and 
agree that they will not, directly or indirectly, 

(a) enter into any discussions, negotiations, agreements (binding or otherwise) with any person (or 
encourage, solicit or procure any person to do any of those things) in relation to a sale of, or an 
option to sell, all or some of the Captios assets or Captios Shares; 

(b) grant any rights over the Captios assets or Captios Shares or contract to sell the assets or the 
Shares, except as disclosed to the Company prior to the date the Securities Exchange Agreement 
is executed; 

(c) encumber, assign, charge or otherwise dispose of the assets or the Captios Shares or any of 
Captios’ rights in respect of the assets or the Captios securityholders’ rights in respect of the 
Captios Shares; or 

(d) provide any information relating to the assets to any third party, except to the Company. 

Termination 

The Securities Exchange Agreement may be terminated at any time prior to the closing by mutual 
agreement of the Company and Captios. Unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Company and Captios, 
the Securities Exchange Agreement shall terminate without further notice or agreement in the event that: 

(a) any permanent injunction or other order of a governmental body preventing the consummation of 
the Acquisition has become final and non-appealable; 



43 

(b) the Acquisition is rejected by the Exchange and all recourse or rights of appeal have been 
exhausted; or 

(c) the Closing has not occurred by the agreed upon closing deadline. 

Name Change 

Contemporaneously with the closing, the Company shall have taken all necessary steps to have its name 
changed from “1014379 B.C. Ltd.” to “Spotlite360 Technologies Inc.” or such other name as the Resulting 
Issuer Board may determine and which is acceptable to the Exchange and the registrar of companies for 
British Columbia. 

Shareholder Approval 

If required by the Exchange or applicable securities laws, the Company agrees to seek the written approval 
to the Acquisition from at least 50% of the beneficial holders of the Company’s Common Shares in form 
acceptable to the Exchange.  

Regulatory Approval 

It is a condition of closing that the Company Common Shares, including without limitation, the Company’s 
consideration shares will have been approved for listing on the Exchange.  
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THE RESULTING ISSUER 

CORPORATE STRUCTURE 

Name, Address and Incorporation  

Upon completion of the Acquisition, the Resulting Issuer will continue to be the subject of the BCBCA. The 
Resulting Issuer’s head office and registered office will be located at Suite 810-789 West Pender Street, 
Vancouver, British Columbia V6C 1H2. 

Intercorporate Relationships 

Following the completion of the Acquisition, Captios and Spotlite360, Inc. will be wholly-owned subsidiaries 
of the Resulting Issuer. The chart below represents the corporate structure of the Resulting Issuer, which 
will change its name to “Spotlite360 Technologies Inc.” or such other name as the Resulting Issuer Board 
may determine and which is acceptable to the Exchange and the registrar of companies for British 
Columbia. The Resulting Issuer will continue the business of Captios.  

BUSINESS OF THE RESULTING ISSUER 

The Resulting Issuer will carry on the business of Captios and use the funds available to it as stated in this 
Prospectus. The Resulting Issuer plans to continue with Captios’ business plan. 

AVAILABLE FUNDS AND PRINCIPAL USES 

The funds that are expected to be available to the Resulting Issuer upon completion of the Acquisition are 
described in the following table. 

Item Amount

General Working Capital  $83,276

Solution Delivery $32,000

100%

Spotlite360 Technologies 
Inc. 

(BC, Canada) 

Spotlite360, Inc.

(Delaware, USA) 

Captios, LLC

(Delaware, USA) 

100%
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Sales and Marketing $32,000

TrackX Software License  $402,000

Complete Solution Configuration 
for Pharma and Healthcare 

$64,300

Total $613,576

Notwithstanding the foregoing, there may be circumstances where, for sound business reasons, a 
reallocation of funds may be necessary for the Resulting Issuer to achieve its objectives. The Resulting 
Issuer may require additional funds in order to fulfill all of its expenditure requirements to meet its business 
objectives and may either issue additional securities or incur debt. There can be no assurance that 
additional funding required by the Resulting Issuer will be available, if required. However, it is anticipated 
that the available funds will be sufficient to satisfy the Resulting Issuer’s objectives over the next 12 months. 

Upon completion of the Acquisition, the principal purposes for the foregoing available funds will be as 
follows: 

Principal Purposes Amount 

General and administrative costs(1) $83,276 

Solution Delivery $32,000 

Sales and marketing $32,000 

Research and development $64,300 

License fee for technology platform $402,000

Total $613,567 

Unallocated Funds $nil 

PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED CAPITALIZATION OF THE RESULTING ISSUER 

The following table sets forth the pro forma consolidated capitalization of the Resulting Issuer before and 
after giving effect to the Acquisition. The table should be read in conjunction with the pro forma financial 
statements of the Resulting Issuer attached as Schedule “E” hereto. 

Designation of security(1) Amount authorized 
or to be authorized 

Outstanding as at 
December 31, 2019 

Outstanding after 
giving effect to the 

Acquisition 

Resulting Issuer Shares Unlimited 13,946,023 40,462,863 

Notes: 

(1) Certain securities of the Resulting Issuer are subject to escrow. Please see “The Resulting Issuer – Escrowed Securities”. 

The following table sets forth the holders of the Resulting Issuer Shares following the completion of the 
Acquisition: 
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Holder
Number Outstanding 

Following Completion of 
the Acquisition 

Percentage of 
Share Capital 

Former Company shareholders 20,362,863 50.32%

Former Captios shareholders 20,100,000 49.68%

Total Resulting Issuer Shares 40,462,863

DIVIDENDS OR DISTRIBUTIONS 

The Resulting Issuer intends to direct its cash towards the development of its business and the identification 
and evaluation of assets or businesses, and does not expect to declare or pay any dividends or distributions 
in the foreseeable future. There will be no restrictions precluding the Resulting Issuer from declaring any 
dividends or distributions on the Resulting Issuer Shares. 

DESCRIPTION OF SHARE CAPITAL 

The attributes of the Resulting Issuer Shares will be the same as the Common Shares, and will not change 
as a result of the Acquisition. 

DIRECTORS AND EXECUTIVE OFFICERS 

Upon completion of the Acquisition, the directors and executive officers of the Company will continue in that 
role for the Resulting Issuer. Directors of the Resulting Issuer will hold office from the closing of the 
Acquisition and, unless re-elected, will retire from office at the next annual meeting of Resulting Issuer 
shareholders. The Resulting Issuer Board will adopt the Company’s corporate governance measures 
described in “The Company – Corporate Governance”. 

Each director and officer of the Resulting Issuer will enter into a standard non-competition and non-
disclosure agreement with the Resulting Issuer. Each director and officer will dedicate their respective 
positions with the Resulting Issuer as follows:  

Name Percentage of Time 

Eugene Beukman 45% 

Alexander Somjen 15% 

Joel Dumaresq 15% 

Peter Nguyen 45% 

COMPENSATION DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS 

The Resulting Issuer expects to provide a market-based blend of base salaries and bonuses, and equity 
incentive components in the form of Resulting Issuer options to align the interests of executive officers with 
the interests of the Resulting Issuer’s shareholders. 

Following completion of the Acquisition, the Resulting Issuer Board acting as a whole will determine the 
compensation of executive officers and directors, and grants of Resulting Issuer options. The Resulting 
Issuer Board may, as and when it determines is appropriate, establish a compensation committee and 
adopt a more formal compensation process that is in line with market practice for a junior publicly-listed 
company operating in this industry, having regard for local market conditions. 



47 

Compensation of Directors, Employment, Consulting and Management Agreements 

Upon completion of the Acquisition, the Resulting Issuer will adopt the Stock Option Plan. The Resulting 
Issuer Board as a whole will determine the compensation of directors of the Resulting Issuer. It is not 
anticipated that the Resulting Issuer will provide its directors with any compensation for attending meetings 
of the Resulting Issuer Board or any of its committees. However, directors will be eligible to receive grants 
of Resulting Issuer options pursuant to the Stock Option Plan from time to time on a basis commensurate 
with industry standards, reflecting the responsibilities and risks involved in being a director of the Resulting 
Issuer. Non-management directors will also be reimbursed for transportation and other out-of-pocket 
expenses incurred in connection with attending meetings, and generally in discharging their director 
functions. Similarly, the Resulting Issuer Board will determine all compensation with respect to any 
employment, consulting and management agreements.  

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE 

The Resulting Issuer will adopt the corporate governance practices of the Company, as established in 
accordance with Form 58-101F2 of NI 58-101. The Resulting Issuer will implement and adopt a continuous 
disclosure policy and Insider trading policy no later than the first date following the Closing on which the 
Resulting Issuer is required to file financial statements under applicable Canadian securities laws. Please 
refer to “The Company – Corporate Governance” for more information on the practices that the Resulting 
Issuer will implement upon completion of the Acquisition. 

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

Under NI 41-101, the Company is required to include in this Prospectus the disclosure required under Form 
52-110F2 with respect to the Audit Committee of the Resulting Issuer. The Company is relying on the 
exemption provided in Section 6.1 of NI 52-110 as the Resulting Issuer will be a “venture issuer”. As a 
result, the Resulting Issuer will be exempt from the requirements of Part 3 (Composition of Audit Committee) 
and Part 5 (Reporting Obligations) of NI 52-110. 

Following the completion of the Acquisition, the audit committee of the Resulting Issuer will be comprised 
of the same members as the Company’s audit committee prior to completion of the Acquisition. Please 
refer to “The Company – Directors and Executive Officers” for biographical information detailing the relevant 
education and experience of each audit committee member that would provide (a) an understanding of the 
accounting principles used by the Resulting Issuer to prepare its financial statements; (b) the ability to 
assess the general application of such accounting principles in connection with the accounting for 
estimates, accruals and provisions; (c) experience preparing, auditing, analyzing or evaluating financial 
statements that present a breadth of and level of complexity of accounting issues that are generally 
comparable to the breadth and complexity of issues that can reasonably be expected to be raised by the 
Resulting Issuer’s financial statements, or experience actively supervising one or more individuals engaged 
in such activities; and (d) an understanding of internal controls and procedures for financial reporting. 

The Resulting Issuer is expected to continue to use the audit committee charter of the Company, as 
described in this Prospectus and attached as Schedule “J” hereto. 

ESCROWED SECURITIES 

In the event that the Common Shares become listed on the CSE, the Company anticipates that it will be 
classified as an “emerging issuer”, as defined under NP 46-201 upon such listing. The following person 
named below (the “Escrowed Holder”) would fall within the definition of “principal” of an emerging issuer 
under NP 46-201. In accordance with applicable securities rules, the Escrowed Holder will execute an 
escrow agreement with the Company and the Escrow Agent substantially in the form attached as an 
Appendix to NP 46-201 (Form 46-201F1) (the “CSE Escrow Agreement”) in respect of an aggregate of 
1,200,000 Common Shares prior to the filing of a final prospectus and the Listing. 
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10% of such securities held in escrow will be released from escrow on the date the Common 
Shares are listed on the CSE, and 15% every 6 months thereafter, subject to acceleration 
provisions provided for in NP 46-201. 

As of November 26, 2020, Common Shares held by the following person will be subject to escrow pursuant 
to the CSE Escrow Agreement:  

Name of the 
Securityholder 

Designation of 
Securities 

Number of 
Securities to be 
held in escrow 

% of class on a 
non-diluted 

basis 

% of class on a 
fully diluted 

basis 

Gene McConnell Common Shares 1,200,000 2.96% 2.96% 

The CSE Escrow Agreement provides that the CSE Escrow Securities are held in escrow pursuant to its 
terms and the beneficial ownership thereof may not be sold, assigned, hypothecated, transferred within 
escrow or otherwise dealt with other than in accordance with the terms of the CSE Escrow Agreement. In 
the event of the bankruptcy of an Escrowed Holder, in accordance with the CSE Escrow Agreement, the 
CSE Escrow Securities held by such Escrowed Holder may be transferred to the trustees in the bankruptcy 
or such person legally entitled to the CSE Escrow Securities, which shares will remain in escrow subject to 
the CSE Escrow Agreement. In the event of the death of an Escrowed Holder, in accordance with the CSE 
Escrow Agreement, the CSE Escrow Securities held by such Escrowed Holder will be released from 
escrow. 

RISK FACTORS  

The current business of Captios will be the business of the Resulting Issuer following completion of the 
Acquisition. Accordingly, risk factors relating to Captios’ current business will be risk factors relating to the 
Resulting Issuer’s business. Please see “Captios – Risk Factors”. Additional risks related to the Acquisition 
and the Resulting Issuer are as follows: 

Regulatory Approval Required 

The completion of the Acquisition is subject to the satisfaction of a number of conditions, including a receipt 
for the final prospectus and Exchange approval for Listing. There can be no assurance that all of the 
necessary regulatory approvals will be obtained. If the Acquisition, as contemplated by the Securities 
Exchange Agreement, is not completed for these reasons or for any others, the Company and Captios will 
have incurred significant costs associated with the failed implementation of the Acquisition. 

Termination of the Securities Exchange Agreement  

The Securities Exchange Agreement specifies that the parties’ obligation to effect the Acquisition is 
conditional upon the satisfaction of a number of conditions. If any of the conditions are not satisfied or 
waived, the Acquisition may not be completed. Each of the Company and Captios have the right, in certain 
circumstances, to terminate the Securities Exchange Agreement. Accordingly, there can be no certainty 
that the Securities Exchange Agreement will not be terminated by either party prior to the completion of the 
Acquisition. 

AUDITORS, TRANSFER AGENT AND REGISTRAR 

The auditors of the Resulting Issuer are expected to be Smythe LLP, Chartered Professional Accountants, 
located at Vancouver, British Columbia. 

The transfer agent and registrar for the Resulting Issuer Shares is expected to be National Securities 
Administrators Ltd., located at 760-777 Hornby Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, V6Z 1S4. 
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EXPERTS 

The following professional persons have prepared reports or have provided opinions that are either included 
in or referred to in this Prospectus: Smythe LLP, as auditors of the Company and Captios. 

No person or company who is named as having prepared or certified a part of this Prospectus or prepared 
or certified a report or valuation described or included in this Prospectus has, or will have immediately 
following completion of the Acquisition, any direct or indirect interest in the Company or Captios. 

Smythe LLP, have advised that they are independent of the Company and Captios within the meaning of 
the Code of Professional Conduct of the Chartered Professional Accountants of British Columbia. 

MATERIAL CONTRACTS 

Except for contracts made in the ordinary course of business, the following are the only material contracts 
entered into by the Company or Captios within two years before the date of this Prospectus and considered 
to be material to the Resulting Issuer. Upon completion of the Acquisition, the below material contracts will 
be filed with the Canadian securities regulatory authorities and available on SEDAR, at www.sedar.com. 
Investors are encouraged to read the full text of such material agreements.  

1. Securities Exchange Agreement; 

2. Partum Agreement;  

3. Transfer Agent Agreement; 

4. TrackX License Agreement; and 

5. CSE Escrow Agreement.  

STATUTORY RIGHTS OF WITHDRAWAL AND RESCISSION 

Securities legislation in the province of Ontario provides purchasers with the right to withdraw from an 
agreement to purchase securities. In the province of Ontario, the securities legislation further provides a 
purchaser with remedies of rescission or damages, if this Prospectus and any amendment contains a 
misrepresentation or is not delivered to the purchaser within the time limit prescribed by the securities 
legislation of the purchaser’s province or territory, provided that the remedies for rescission, revisions of 
purchase price or damages are exercised by the purchaser within the time limit prescribed for by the 
securities legislation of the purchaser’s province. However, in light of the fact that this is a non-offering 
prospectus and no securities are being purchased under this Prospectus, these rights and their associated 
remedies are not available to holders of Common Shares prior to completion of the Acquisition, or holders 
of Resulting Issuer Shares after completion of the Acquisition. 

OTHER MATERIAL FACTS 

There are no other material facts relating to the Company, Captios or the Resulting Issuer that are not 
disclosed in this Prospectus.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 1014379 B.C. LTD. 

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of 1014379 B.C. Ltd. (the "Company"), which comprise: 
 the statements of financial position as at December 31, 2019 and 2018; 
  the statements of loss and comprehensive loss for the years then ended; 
  the statements of changes in shareholders’ deficiency for the years then ended; 
  the statements of cash flows for the years then ended; and 
  the notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 
the Company as at December 31, 2019 and 2018, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then 
ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 
 
Basis for Opinion  
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 
under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 
section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 
to our audits of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion. 
  
Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern  
We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Company has a working capital 
deficiency of $63,677 and a deficit of $503,445 as at December 31, 2019, has not yet generated revenues, and has 
incurred losses and negative cash flows from operations since inception. As stated in Note 1, these events or 
conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of 
this matter. 
 
Other Information 
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in 
the Management's Discussion & Analysis. 
 
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not and will not express any 
form of assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audits of the financial statements, our responsibility is 
to read the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 
inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audits, and remain alert for indications 
that the other information appears to be materially misstated. 
 
We obtained the Management’s Discussion & Analysis prior to the date of this auditors' report. If, based on the work 
we have performed on this other information, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact in this auditors' report. We have nothing to report in this regard. 
 
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 
IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to continue as a 
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 
alternative but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 
 
Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
  Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 
fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
 

  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company's internal control. 
 

  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by management. 
 

  Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 
significant doubt on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the 
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause 
the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 
 

  Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 
whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 
presentation. 

 
We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 
of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 
during our audit. 
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 
reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 
 
The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors' report is Hervé Leong-Chung. 
 
 
 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
 

Vancouver, British Columbia 

March 27, 2020

 



1014379 B.C. Ltd. 
Statements of Financial Position 
As at December 31 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.                                                                 5 

 

 Notes  
 

2019  2018 
      
Assets      
      
Current assets      
Cash  $ 298 $ 84 

Total assets  $ 298 $ 84 

      Liabilities      
Current liabilities      
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,5 $ 63,975 $ 307,340 
Total liabilities   63,975  307,340 
      
Shareholders’ deficiency      
Capital stock 4  439,768  103,768 
Deficit   (503,445)  (411,024) 

Total shareholders’ deficiency   (63,677)  (307,256) 

Total liabilities and shareholders’ deficiency  $ 298 $ 84 

      
 
 
Approved and authorized by the Board on March 27, 2020. 
 
 
“Eugene Beukman” (signed)  “Joel Dumaresq” (signed)  
Eugene Beukman, Director  Joel Dumaresq, Director    
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 Notes   2019 2018 

      
Expenses      
Consulting fees 5   $      24,375     $          - 
Filing fees    20,007 2,885 
Management fees 5   31,500 63,000 
Office expenses    1,386 133 
Professional fees 5   15,153 7,500 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year    $(92,421) $(73,518) 

Loss per share – basic and diluted    $    (0.05) $    (0.15) 

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding     1,978,900 506,023 
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 Capital Stock   

 

Number of 
Common 

Shares Amount 
 

Deficit Total 

Balance at December 31, 2017 506,023 $      103,768 $      (337,506) $     (233,738) 
Net loss for the year - - (73,518) (73,518) 

Balance at December 31, 2018 506,023 $      103,768 $      (411,024) $     (307,256) 
Net loss for the year - - (92,421) (92,421) 
Shares issued for debt 13,440,000 336,000 - 336,000 

Balance at December 31, 2019 13,946,023 $      439,768 $      (503,445) $      (63,677) 
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  2019  2018 

Operating activities     
Net loss for the year $ (92,421) $ (73,518) 
Changes in non-cash working capital item:     
    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  92,635  72,413 

Net cash flows provided by (used in) operating activities  214  (1,105) 
     
Change in cash  214  (1,105) 
Cash, beginning of the year  84  1,189 

Cash, end of the year $ 298 $ 84 

     
Shares issued to settle accounts payable and accrued liabilities  $ 336,000 $ - 
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1. Nature and continuance of operations 
 
1014379 B.C. Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) 
on September 23, 2014. The principal business of the Company is to identify, evaluate and then acquire an 
interest in a business or assets.  
 
The Company’s principal address, records office and registered address are located at Suite 810 – 789 West 
Pender Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 1H2 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Company will continue as a going 
concern, meaning it will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize assets and 
discharge liabilities in the ordinary course of operations. The Company’s continuing operations, as intended, 
are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate and negotiate an acquisition of or participation in an interest 
in properties, assets or businesses. The Company is in the development stage and currently has no sources of 
cash from operations. Further funds will be required to successfully develop the Company’s business and there 
is no certainty that these funds will be available. As at December 31, 2019, the Company has a working capital 
deficiency of $63,677 (2018 - $307,256) and for the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company incurred a 
net loss of $92,421 (2018 - $73,518). A different basis of measurement may be appropriate if the Company is 
not expected to continue operations for the foreseeable future.  The Company’s continuation as a going concern 
is dependent upon its ability to raise equity capital or borrowings sufficient to meet current and future 
obligations and ultimately achieve profitable operations.  These factors indicate the existence of a material 
uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
Management intends to finance operating costs over the next twelve months with loans from directors and 
companies controlled by directors.  
 
On May 6, 2019, a cease trade order (“CTO”) was issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission, as a 
result of the failure of the Company, under its previous management, to file annual financial statements and 
related management’s discussion and analysis within the required time. On November 7, 2019, the CTO has 
been revoked. The Company has addressed all of the outstanding filing deficiencies and brought its continuous 
disclosure records on SEDAR up to date. 
 

2. Statement of compliance and significant accounting policies 
 

These financial statements were authorized for issue on March 27, 2020 by the directors of the Company. 
 

Statement of compliance  
 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS, as issued by the International Accounting 
Standards Board (“IASB”). 
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2. Statement of compliance and significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

Statement of compliance (cont’d) 
 
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
instruments. In addition, these financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, 
except for cash flow information. 
 
The significant accounting policies set out in note 2 have been applied consistently to all periods presented, 
except for the adoption of IFRS 16, Leases. 
 
Basis of presentation  
 
The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted, which is the Company’s 
functional currency.   

 
Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make judgments, 
apart from those involving estimates, in applying accounting policies.  The most significant judgments and 
estimates in applying the Company’s financial statements include: 

 the assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether there are events or 
conditions that may give rise to significant uncertainty; and 

 the fair value of common shares issued to settle accounts payable.  

 
Loss per share  

 
Loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the year. 
The Company uses the treasury stock method for calculating diluted loss per share. Under this method the 
dilutive effect on loss per share is calculated on the use of the proceeds that could be obtained upon exercise of 
options, warrants and similar instruments. It assumes that the proceeds of such exercise would be used to 
purchase common shares at the average market price during the period. However, the calculation of diluted loss 
per share excludes the effects of various conversions and exercise of options and warrants that would be anti-
dilutive. Shares held in escrow, other than where their release is subject to the passage of time, are not included 
in the calculation of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. 

 
Capital stock 

 
Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not meet 
the definition of a financial liability or financial asset. The Company's common shares are classified as equity 
instruments. 

 
Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, 
from the proceeds. 

  



1014379 B.C. Ltd. 
Notes to the Financial Statements 
For the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 

11 

2. Statement of compliance and significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

Income tax 
 

(i) Current income tax 
 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to be 
recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the amount 
are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date, in the countries where the 
Company operates and generates taxable income. 

 
Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in other comprehensive loss or equity is 
recognized in other comprehensive loss or equity and not in profit or loss. Management periodically 
evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulations 
are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 

 
(ii) Deferred income tax 

 
Deferred income tax is provided using the statement of financial position method on temporary 
differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts 
for financial reporting purposes. 

 
The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 
recognized only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow all 
or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. 

 
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the 
year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  

 
Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 
exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes 
relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 

 
Financial instruments 

Classification 

The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit and 

loss (“FVTPL”), at fair value through other comprehensive loss (“FVTOCI”) or at amortized cost.  

The Company determines the classification of financial assets at initial recognition. The classification of debt 

instruments is driven by the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets and their contractual 

cash flow characteristics. Equity instruments that are held for trading are classified as FVTPL. For other equity 

instruments, on the day of acquisition the Company can make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-

instrument basis) to designate them as at FVTOCI.  Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless 

they are required to be measured at FVTPL (such as instruments held for trading or derivatives) or if the 

Company has opted to measure them at FVTPL. 
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2. Statement of compliance and significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

Financial instruments (cont’d) 

Measurement 

Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost 

Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value plus or minus transaction 

costs, respectively, and subsequently carried at amortized cost less any impairment. 

Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL 

Financial assets and liabilities carried at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value and transaction costs are 

expensed in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising 

from changes in the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities held at FVTPL are included in the statements 

of loss and comprehensive loss in the period in which they arise. Where management has opted to recognize a 

financial liability at FVTPL, any changes associated with the Company’s own credit risk will be recognized in 

other comprehensive loss. 

Financial assets through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) 

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured at FVTOCI: 

- The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

The Company does not currently hold any financial instruments designated as FVTOCI. 

Equity instruments designated as FVTOCI 

On initial recognition, the Company may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument basis) 
to designate investments in equity instruments that would otherwise be measured at fair value through profit 
or loss to present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income. Designation at FVTOCI is 
not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration recognized by an 
acquirer in a business combination. Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair 
value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from 
changes in fair value recognized in other OCI. The cumulative gain or loss is not reclassified to profit or loss 
on disposal of the equity instrument. The Company does not currently hold any equity instruments designated 
as FVTOCI. 

 

Impairment of financial assets at amortized cost 

The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are measured at 
amortized cost. At each reporting date, the Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset at an 
amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial asset has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. If at the reporting date, the financial asset has not increased significantly 
since initial recognition, the Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset at an amount equal 
to the twelve month expected credit losses. The Company shall recognize in the statements of comprehensive 
loss, as an impairment gain or loss, the amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust 
the loss allowance at the reporting date to the amount that is required to be recognized. 
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2. Statement of compliance and significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

Financial instruments (cont’d) 

Derecognition 

Financial assets 

The Company derecognizes financial assets only when the contractual rights to cash flows from the financial 
assets expire, or when it transfers the financial assets and substantially all of the associated risks and rewards 
of ownership to another entity. Gains and losses on derecognition are generally recognized in the statements 
of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
Financial liabilities 

The Company derecognizes financial liabilities only when its obligations under the financial liabilities are 
discharged, cancelled or expired. Generally, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognized in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 
 
Fair value hierarchy 

 
Fair value measurements of financial instruments are required to be classified using a fair value hierarchy that 
reflects the significance of inputs used in making the measurements. The levels of the fair value hierarchy are 
defined as follows: 

 
Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and 
Level 3 - Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data. 
 
New standards adopted 
 
IFRS 16 Leases (“IFRS 16”) 

The Company adopted IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019. IFRS 16 replaces IAS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 specifies how 
to recognize, measure, present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting model, 
requiring lessees to recognize assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or 
the underlying asset has a low value. The adoption of IFRS 16 did not have a material impact on these financial 
statements as the Company does not have any long-term leases.  

Other accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued but have 
future effective dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Company’s financial statements. 

 
3. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

 December 31,  
2019 

December 31,  
2018 

Accounts payable $           59,975 $           303,340 
Accrued liabilities  4,000 4,000 
 $           63,975 $           307,340 

 
Included in accounts payable are amounts totaling $51,503 (2018 - $286,288) due to related parties (Note 5). 
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4. Share Capital 

Authorized share capital 
Unlimited number of common shares without par value 
Unlimited number of preferred shares without par value 

 
Issued share capital 

 
At December 31, 2019, there were 13,946,023 (2018 – 506,023) issued and fully paid common shares 
outstanding. 
 
Shares issued during the year ended December 31, 2019: 
 
On November 21, 2019, pursuant to debt settlement agreements, the Company issued 13,440,000 common 
shares with a fair value of $336,000 to certain creditors of the Company, including a company controlled by a 
director of the Company, to settle accounts payable of $336,000. No gains or losses have been recorded on the 
settlement of debt. Of the $336,000 accounts payable settled, $304,500 was owed to companies controlled by 
the former CEO, CFO and Director of the Company. Prior to entering into debt settlement agreements, the 
accounts payable of $304,500 was assigned to various arms-length creditors. After the debt was assigned, the 
Company issued common shares to settle the debt to these arms-length creditors.  
 
There were no shares issued during the year ended December 31, 2018.  
 

5. Related party transactions 

The Company considers its related parties to comprise directors, officers, companies controlled by directors 
and officers and companies with common directors. The key management compensation and director fees 
consist of the following for the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018: 
 

 2019   2018 
Management fees charged by former officer and director  $ 31,500  $ 63,000 

Accounting and consulting fees charged by 
a company controlled by a director  37,500   - 

  $ 69,000  $ 63,000 

 
Management fees of $31,500 (2018 - $63,000) were accrued to a private company controlled by the former 
CEO, CFO and director. These amounts accrued were later settled with common shares (Note 4).  

 
As at December 31, 2019, there was $13,288 (2018 - $286,288) included in accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities owing to a former officer and director and companies controlled by the former director.  The balances 
are unsecured, payable on demand and non-interest bearing.  
 
As at December 31, 2019, there was $38,215 (2018 - $nil) included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
owing to a company controlled by a director of the Company. The balance is unsecured, payable on demand 
and non-interest bearing.  
 
On November 21, 2019, pursuant to debt settlement agreements (Note 4), the Company issued 1,260,000 
common shares to a company controlled by a director of the Company to settle accounts payable of $31,500. 
No gains or losses have been recorded on the settlement of debt.  
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6. Risk management and financial instruments 

The Company classifies its financial instruments as follows:  
 

 Cash is classified as a financial asset at FVTPL; and 
 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at amortized cost. 

 
The carrying value of these financial instruments approximates their fair value due to their short-term nature.  

 
The Company’s risk exposure and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments is summarized below: 

 
Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Company’s cash. The Company limits exposure to 
credit risk through maintaining its cash with high-credit quality Canadian financial institutions. The Company 
is not exposed to significant credit risk. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit 
exposure. 
 
Liquidity risk  

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in satisfying financial obligations as they 
become due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash flows from operations and anticipated 
investing and financing activities. The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient 
readily available reserves in order to meet its liquidity requirements. The Company will be required to raise 
additional financing to be able to satisfy its financial obligations of $63,975 (2018 - $307,340) and to identify, 
evaluate and negotiate an acquisition of or participation in an interest in properties, assets or businesses. 
Financial obligations are due within three months of year end.  
 
Foreign exchange risk 

 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because they are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. The Company 
is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 

 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates.  As at December 31, 2019, the Company did not have any financial 
instruments subject to interest rate risk. 

 
Capital Management 
 
The Company's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and creditor confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business. The capital structure of the Company consists of 
shareholders’ deficiency. There were no changes in the Company's approach to capital management during the 
year.  The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
The Company is actively looking to acquire an interest in a business or assets and this involves a high degree 
of risk. The Company has not determined whether it will be successful in its endeavors and does not generate 
cash flows from operations. The Company’s primary source of funds comes from the issuance of capital stock. 
The Company does not use other sources of financing that require fixed payments of interest and principal due 
to lack of cash flow from current operations and is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
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6. Risk management and financial instruments (cont’d) 

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going 
concern. Capital requirements are driven by the Company’s general operations. To effectively manage the 
Company’s capital requirements, the Company monitors expenses and overhead to ensure costs and 
commitments are being paid. There were no changes in the Company’s capital risk management approach 
during the year ended December 31, 2019. 

 
7. Income tax 

A reconciliation of income tax provision computed at Canadian statutory rates to the reported income tax 
provision is provided as follows: 

 

 2019 2018 

Loss before income taxes   $ (92,421)    $ (73,518) 

Canadian statutory tax rate   27.0%   27.0% 

Income tax benefit computed at statutory rates   (24,954)   (19,850) 

Unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognized   24,954   19,850 

  $ -  $ - 

 
As at December 31, 2019, the Company has operating losses available for carry-forward of approximately 
$503,000 (2018 - $411,000) available to apply against future Canadian income for tax purposes that expire 
between 2034 and 2039.   
 

8. Segmented information 
 
The Company is currently identifying new business opportunities. All of its assets are located in Canada.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF 1014379 B.C. Ltd. 

Opinion 

We have audited the financial statements of 1014379 B.C. Ltd. (the "Company"), which comprise the statements of 

financial position as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and the statements of loss and comprehensive loss, changes in 

shareholders’ deficit and cash flows for the years then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a 

summary of significant accounting policies. 

 

In our opinion, the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of 

the Company as at December 31, 2018 and 2017, and its financial performance and its cash flows for the years then 

ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

 

Basis for Opinion  

We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities 

under those standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

section of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant 

to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 

with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate 

to provide a basis for our opinion. 

 

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern  

We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a net loss of 

$73,518 during the year ended December 31, 2018 and has a working capital deficiency of $307,256 as at 

December 31, 2018. As stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, along with other matters as set forth in Note 1, 

indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a 

going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 

 

Other Information 

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of Management's Discussion 

and Analysis.  

 

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon. In connection with our audits of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read 

the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially 

inconsistent with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 

misstated.  

 

We obtained Management's Discussion and Analysis prior to the date of this auditors' report. If, based on the work we 

have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this, we are required to report that fact. We have 

nothing to report in this regard.  

 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with 

IFRS, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 

statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
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In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company’s ability to continue as a 

going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 

accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic 

alternative but to do so. 

 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s financial reporting process. 

 

Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. 

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with 

Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could 

reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional 

judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

 

● Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, 

design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from 

fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 

misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  

 

● Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 

appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 

Company’s internal control. 

 

● Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 

related disclosures made by management. 

 

● Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 

the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast 

significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 

uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the 

financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on 

the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause 

the Company to cease to continue as a going concern. 

 

● Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation. 

 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing 

of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify 

during our audit. 
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We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 

requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may 

reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

 

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditors' report is Hervé Leong-Chung. 

 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

 

Vancouver, British Columbia  

August 30, 2019 
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Notes 2018 2017 

Assets 

Current Assets 

Cash $ 84 $ 1,189 

Total Assets $ 84 $ 1,189 

Liabilities 

Current Liabilities 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3 & 5 $ 307,340 $ 234,927 

Total Liabilities 307,340 234,927 

Shareholders’ Deficit 

Capital stock 4 103,768 103,768 
Deficit (411,024) (337,506) 

Total Shareholders’ Deficit (307,256) (233,738) 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Deficit $ 84 $ 1,189 

Approved and authorized by the Board on September 03, 2019. 

“Eugene Beukman” (signed) 

Eugene Beukman, Director 



1014379 B.C. Ltd.  
Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 

For the years ended December 31,  

(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.                                                                6 

 Notes  2018 2017 

      

Expenses      

Bank charges and interest  $ 133 $ 545 

Filing fees   2,885  1,359 

Management fees 5  63,000  60,000 

Office expense   -  12,028 

Professional fees   7,500  4,000 

Net loss and comprehensive loss for the year  $ (73,518) $ (77,932) 

Loss per share – basic and diluted  $ (0.15) $ (0.15) 

Weighted average number of common shares 

outstanding    506,023  506,023 
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 Capital Stock   

 

Number of 

Common 

Shares Amount 

 

Deficit Total 

Balance at December 31, 2016 506,023 $      103,768 $      (259,574) $      (155,806) 

Net loss for the year - - (77,932) (77,932) 

Balance at December 31, 2017 506,023      103,768      (337,506)  (233,738) 

Net loss for the year - - (73,518) (73,518) 

Balance at December 31, 2018 506,023 $      103,768 $      (411,024) $      (307,256) 
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  2018  2017 

Operating activities     

Net loss for the year $ (73,518) $ (77,932) 

     
Write-off of GST receivable  -  8,760 

Changes in non-cash working capital items:     

    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  72,413  69,029 

Net cash flows used in operating activities  (1,105)  (143) 

     

Change in cash  (1,105)  (143) 
Cash, beginning of the year  1,189  1,332 

Cash, end of the year $ 84 $ 1,189 
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1. Nature and continuance of operations 

 

1014379 B.C. Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) 

on September 23, 2014. The principal business of the Company is to identify, evaluate and then acquire an 

interest in a business or assets.  

 

On October 14, 2014, the Company entered into an arrangement agreement with Bravura Ventures Corp. 

(“Bravura”) and Nuran Wireless Inc. (“Nuran”, previously 1014372 B.C. Ltd.) whereby the Company will form 

part of a statutory plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement") to become a reporting issuer in the provinces of 

British Columbia and Alberta. The arrangement was approved November 14, 2014 and completed March 11, 

2015. 

 

The Company’s principal address, records office and registered address are located at Suite 810 – 789 West 

Pender Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 1H2 

 

These financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Company will continue as a going 

concern, meaning it will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to realize assets and 

discharge liabilities in the ordinary course of operations. The Company’s continuing operations, as intended, 

are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate and negotiate an acquisition of or participation in an interest 

in properties, assets or businesses. The Company is in the development stage and currently has no sources of 

cash from operations. Further funds will be required to successfully develop the Company’s business and there 

is no certainty that these funds will be available. As at December 31, 2018, the Company has a working capital 

deficiency of $307,256 and for the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company incurred a net loss of $73,518 

(2017 - $77,932). Different bases of measurement may be appropriate if the Company is not expected to 

continue operations for the foreseeable future.  The Company’s continuation as a going concern is dependent 

upon its ability to raise equity capital or borrowings sufficient to meet current and future obligations and 

ultimately achieve profitable operations.  These factors indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may 

cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  Management intends to finance 

operating costs over the next twelve months with loans from directors and companies controlled by directors 

and or profits from its business activities.  

 

2. Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies 
 

(a) Basis of presentation 
 

(i) Statement of compliance  
 

These financial statements are prepared in accordance with IFRS, as issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”). 
 

Effective January 1, 2018, the Company adopted IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”). IFRS 9 

was adopted using the modified retrospective approach with no restatement of comparative periods, 

as permitted by the transition provisions of IFRS 9. As a result of the application of IFRS 9, the 

Company changed its accounting policies for financial assets and impairment thereon, as described 

below. 
 

These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis. In addition, these financial 

statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, except for cash flow information. 
 

These financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, which is also the Company’s functional 

currency. All values are rounded to the nearest dollar unless otherwise indicated. 
 

The significant accounting policies set out in note 3 have been applied consistently to all periods 

presented. 
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2. Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 

(a) Basis of presentation (cont’d) 

 

(ii) Approval of the financial statements  

 

These financial statements were approved and authorized for issue on August 30, 2019 by the director 

of the Company. 

 

(b) Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments 

 

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with IFRS requires management to make judgments, 

estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of 

contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the statement of financial position, and the reported amounts 

of expenses during the reporting period.  

 

There were no significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that 

management has made at the statement of financial position reporting date that could result in a material 

adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities. 

 

Critical judgment exercised in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effect on the 

amounts recognized in the financial statements is as follows: 

 

Going concern 

 

The assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and to raise sufficient funds to 

pay for its ongoing operating expenditures and meet its liabilities for the ensuing year, involves significant 

judgment based on historical experience and other factors including expectation of future events that are 

believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. 

 

(c) Loss per share  

 

Loss per share is calculated using the weighted average number of common shares outstanding during the 

year. The Company uses the treasury stock method for calculating diluted loss per share. Under this method 

the dilutive effect on loss per share is calculated on the use of the proceeds that could be obtained upon 

exercise of options, warrants and similar instruments. It assumes that the proceeds of such exercise would 

be used to purchase common shares at the average market price during the period. However, the calculation 

of diluted loss per share excludes the effects of various conversions and exercise of options and warrants 

that would be anti-dilutive. Shares held in escrow, other than where their release is subject to the passage 

of time, are not included in the calculation of the weighted average number of common shares outstanding. 

 

(d) Capital stock 

 

Financial instruments issued by the Company are classified as equity only to the extent that they do not 

meet the definition of a financial liability or financial asset. The Company's common shares are classified 

as equity instruments. 

 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in equity as a deduction, net of 

tax, from the proceeds. 
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2. Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

  

(e) Income tax 

 

(i) Current income tax 

 

Current income tax assets and liabilities for the current period are measured at the amount expected to 

be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities. The tax rates and tax laws used to compute the 

amount are those that are enacted or substantively enacted, at the reporting date, in the countries where 

the Company operates and generates taxable income. 

 

Current income tax relating to items recognized directly in other comprehensive loss or equity is 

recognized in other comprehensive loss or equity and not in profit or loss. Management periodically 

evaluates positions taken in the tax returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax 

regulations are subject to interpretation and establishes provisions where appropriate. 

 

(ii) Deferred income tax 

 

Deferred income tax is provided using the statement of financial position method on temporary 

differences at the reporting date between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying 

amounts for financial reporting purposes. 

 

The carrying amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and 

recognized only to the extent that it is probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow 

all or part of the deferred income tax asset to be utilized. 

 

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to 

the year when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have 

been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.  

 

Deferred income tax assets and deferred income tax liabilities are offset, if a legally enforceable right 

exists to set off current tax assets against current income tax liabilities and the deferred income taxes 

relate to the same taxable entity and the same taxation authority. 
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2. Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 

(f) New standards adopted 

 

Financial instruments 

 

The Company adopted all of the requirements of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments on January 1, 2018. IFRS 

9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 utilizes a revised model 

for recognition and measurement of financial instruments in a single, forward-looking “expected loss” 

impairment model.  

 

The following is the Company’s new accounting policy for financial instruments under IFRS 9: 

 

Classification 

The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit 

and loss (“FVTPL”), at fair value through other comprehensive loss (“FVTOCI”) or at amortized cost.  

 

The Company determines the classification of financial assets at initial recognition. The classification of 

debt instruments is driven by the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets and their 

contractual cash flow characteristics. Equity instruments that are held for trading are classified as FVTPL. 

For other equity instruments, on the day of acquisition the Company can make an irrevocable election (on 

an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate them as at FVTOCI.  Financial liabilities are measured at 

amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVTPL (such as instruments held for trading or 

derivatives) or if the Company has opted to measure them at FVTPL. 

 

The Company completed a detailed assessment of its financial assets and liabilities as at January 1, 2018. 

The following table shows the original classification under IAS 39 and the new classification under IFRS 9: 

 

Financial assets/liabilities   Original classification IAS 39  New classification IFRS 9 

Cash      FVTPL     FVTPL 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  Amortized cost    Amortized cost 

 

The Company did not restate prior periods as it recognized the effects of retrospective application to 

shareholders’ equity at the beginning of the 2018 annual reporting period, which also includes the date of 

initial application. The adoption of IFRS 9 resulted in no impact to the opening accumulated deficit on 

January 1, 2018.  

 

Measurement 

 

Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost 

 

Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value plus or minus 

transaction costs, respectively, and subsequently carried at amortized cost less any impairment. 
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2. Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 

(f) New standards adopted (cont’d) 

 

Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL 

Financial assets and liabilities carried at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value and transaction costs 

are expensed in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses 

arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities held at FVTPL are included in 

the statements of loss and comprehensive loss in the period in which they arise. Where management has 

opted to recognize a financial liability at FVTPL, any changes associated with the Company’s own credit 

risk will be recognized in other comprehensive loss. 

 

Financial assets through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) 

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured at FVTOCI: 

- The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 

contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 

- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 

 

The Company does not currently hold any financial instruments designated as FVTOCI. 

Equity instruments designated as FVTOCI 

On initial recognition, the Company may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument 

basis) to designate investments in equity instruments that would otherwise be measured at fair value 

through profit or loss to present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income. 

Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent 

consideration recognized by an acquirer in a business combination. Investments in equity instruments at 

FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair 

value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other OCI. The cumulative 

gain or loss is not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity instrument, instead, it is transferred 

to retained earnings. The Company does not currently hold any equity instruments designated as FVTOCI. 

 

Impairment of financial assets at amortized cost 

The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are measured 

at amortized cost. At each reporting date, the Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset 

at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial asset has increased 

significantly since initial recognition. If at the reporting date, the financial asset has not increased 

significantly since initial recognition, the Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset at 

an amount equal to the twelve month expected credit losses. The Company shall recognize in the statements 

of comprehensive loss, as an impairment gain or loss, the amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) 

that is required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the amount that is required to be 

recognized. 
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2. Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 

(f) New standards adopted (cont’d) 

 

Derecognition 

Financial assets 

The Company derecognizes financial assets only when the contractual rights to cash flows from the 

financial assets expire, or when it transfers the financial assets and substantially all of the associated risks 

and rewards of ownership to another entity. Gains and losses on derecognition are generally recognized in 

the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 

Financial liabilities 

The Company derecognizes financial liabilities only when its obligations under the financial liabilities are 

discharged, cancelled or expired. Generally, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial 

liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or 

liabilities assumed, is recognized in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 

Fair value hierarchy 

 

Fair value measurements of financial instruments are required to be classified using a fair value hierarchy 

that reflects the significance of inputs used in making the measurements. The levels of the fair value 

hierarchy are defined as follows: 

 

Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  

Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or 

liability, either directly or indirectly; and 

Level 3 - Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data. 
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2. Basis of presentation and significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

 

(g) New accounting standards issued but not yet effective 

 

IFRS 16 – Leases (“IFRS 16”) establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 

disclosure of leases, with the objective of ensuring that lessees and lessors provide relevant information 

that faithfully represents those transactions. IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting 

requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance 

leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently. However, lessees are no longer classifying 

leases as either operating leases or finance leases as it is required by IAS 17 - Leases. The standard is 

effective for the Company’s annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.  The Company has not 

early adopted this new standard and does not expect it to have a material effect on the Company’s future 

results and financial operations. 

 

Other accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued but have 

future effective dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the 

Company’s financial statements. 

 

3. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

 December 31,  

2018 

December 31,  

2017 

Accounts payable $           303,340 $           230,927 

Accrued liabilities  4,000 4,000 

 $           307,340 $           234,927 

 

Included in accounts payable are amounts totaling $286,288 (2017 - $216,173) due to related parties (Note 5). 

 

4. Capital stock 

Authorized  

Unlimited number of common shares without par value 

Unlimited number of preferred shares without par value 

 

Issued 

 

At December 31, 2018 there were 506,023 (2017 – 506,023) issued and fully paid common shares outstanding. 

 

There were no shares issued during the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017. On April 3, 2018, the 

Company consolidated its common shares on the basis of ten pre-consolidated common shares for one post-

consolidated common share. The number of common shares outstanding has been retroactively adjusted in 

these financial statements to reflect the share consolidation.   
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5. Related party transactions 

The Company considers its related parties to comprise directors, officers, companies controlled by directors 

and officers and companies with common directors. The key management compensation and director fees 

consist of the following for the years ended December 31, 2018 and 2017: 

 

 2018   2017 

Management fees charged by former CEO, CFO and director  $ 63,000  $ 60,000 

  $ 63,000  $ 60,000 

 

Management fees of $63,000 (2017 - $60,000) were accrued to a private company controlled by the former 

CEO, CFO and director.  

 

As at December 31, 2018, there was $286,288 (2017 - $216,173) included in accounts payable owing to the 

former CEO, CFO and director and companies controlled by the former director.  The balances are unsecured, 

payable on demand and non-interest bearing. 

 

6. Risk management and financial instruments 

The Company classifies its financial instruments as follows:  

 

• Cash is classified as a financial asset at FVTPL; and 

• Accounts payable and accrued liabilities, at amortized cost. 

 

The carrying value of these financial instruments approximates their fair value. 

 

The Company’s risk exposure and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments is summarized below: 

 

Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails to meet 

its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Company’s cash. The Company limits exposure to 

credit risk through maintaining its cash with high-credit quality Canadian financial institutions. The Company 

is not exposed to significant credit risk. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit 

exposure. 

 

Liquidity risk  

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in satisfying financial obligations as they 

become due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash flows from operations and anticipated 

investing and financing activities. The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient 

readily available reserves in order to meet its liquidity requirements. The Company will be required to raise 

additional financing to be able to satisfy its financial obligations of $307,340 (2017 - $234,927) and to identify, 

evaluate and negotiate an acquisition of or participation in an interest in properties, assets or businesses. 

Financial obligations are due within three months of year end.  
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6. Risk management and financial instruments (cont’d) 

 

Foreign exchange risk 

 

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 

because they are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. The Company 

is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 

 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 

of changes in market interest rates.  As at December 31, 2018, the Company did not have any financial 

instruments subject to interest rate risk. 

 

Capital Management 

The Company's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and creditor confidence 

and to sustain future development of the business. The capital structure of the Company consists of equity and 

cash. There were no changes in the Company's approach to capital management during the year.  The Company 

is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

The Company is actively looking to acquire an interest in a business or assets and this involves a high degree 

of risk. The Company has not determined whether it will be successful in its endeavors and does not generate 

cash flows from operations. The Company’s primary source of funds comes from the issuance of capital stock. 

The Company does not use other sources of financing that require fixed payments of interest and principal due 

to lack of cash flow from current operations and is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern. 

 

The Company defines its capital as shareholders’ deficit. Capital requirements are driven by the Company’s 

general operations. To effectively manage the Company’s capital requirements, the Company monitors 

expenses and overhead to ensure costs and commitments are being paid. There were no changes in the 

Company’s capital risk management approach during the year ended December 31, 2018. 

 

7. Income tax 

A reconciliation of income tax provision computed at Canadian statutory rates to the reported income tax 

provision is provided as follows: 

 

 2018 2017 

Loss before income taxes  $ (73,518)  $ (77,932) 

Canadian statutory tax rate   27.0%   26.0% 

Income tax benefit computed at statutory rates   (19,850)   (20,262) 

Unused tax losses and tax offsets not recognized   19,850   20,262 

  $ -  $ - 

 

As at December 31, 2018, the Company has operating losses available for carry-forward of approximately 

$358,000 (2017 - $338,000) available to apply against future Canadian income for tax purposes. The operating 

losses expire between 2034 and 2038.  
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NOTICE OF NO AUDITOR REVIEW OF CONDENSED INTERIM FINANCIAL STATEMENTS   

Under National Instrument 51-102, Part 4, subsection 4.3 (3) (a), if an auditor has not performed a review of the 

condensed interim financial statements, they must be accompanied by a notice indicating that an auditor has not 

reviewed the condensed interim financial statements.    

The accompanying unaudited condensed interim financial statements of the Company have been prepared by and are 

the responsibility of the Company’s management.    

The Company’s independent auditor has not performed a review of these condensed interim financial statements in 

accordance with standards established by the Chartered Professional Accountants of Canada for a review of condensed 

interim financial statements by an entity’s auditor.   
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As at, Notes  
June 30, 

2020  

December 31, 

2019 

      
Assets      

      

Current Assets      
Cash  $ 59,523 $ 298 

Total Assets  $ 59,523 $ 298 

      Liabilities      

Current Liabilities      
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 3,5 $ 109,435 $ 63,975 

Total Liabilities   109,435  63,975 

      
Shareholders’ Deficiency      
Capital stock 4  489,313  439,768 
Subscriptions received in advance   21,805  - 
Deficit   (561,030)  (503,445) 

Total Shareholders’ Deficiency   (49,912)  (63,677) 

Total Liabilities and Shareholders’ Deficiency  $ 59,523 $ 298 

      
 
 

Approved and authorized by the Board on August 13, 2020. 

 
 
“Eugene Beukman” (signed)  “Joel Dumaresq” (signed)  
Eugene Beukman, Director  Joel Dumaresq, Director    
 

 

  



1014379 B.C. Ltd.  
Condensed Interim Statements of Loss and Comprehensive Loss 
 (Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of these condensed interim financial statements.                                                

4 

    
  Three-month period ended Six-month period ended 

  June 30, June 30, June 30, June 30, 

 Notes 2020 2019 2020 2019 

      
Expenses      
Consulting fees 5 $        8,551     $          - $       17,401     $           - 
Filing fees  368 961 4,857  1,969 
Management fees 5 - 15,750 - 31,500 
Marketing  12,500 - 12,500 - 
Office expenses  86 27 163 54 
Professional fees 5 8,000 1,000 22,664 2,222 

Net loss and comprehensive 

loss for the period  $  (29,505) $ (17,728) $  (57,585) $ (35,745) 

Loss per share – basic and 

diluted  $      (0.00) $    (0.04) $      (0.00) $    (0.07) 

Weighted average number of 

common shares outstanding   15,121,240 506,023 14,540,089 506,023 
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 Capital Stock    

 

Number of 
Common 

Shares Amount 

 
 

Subscriptions 
received 

 
Deficit Total 

Balance at December 31, 2018 506,023 $      103,768 $             -   $      (411,024) $     (307,256) 

Net loss for the period - - - (35,745) (35,745) 

Balance at June 30, 2019 506,023 $      103,768        $             - $      (446,769) $      (343,001) 

      

Balance at December 31, 2019 13,946,023 $      439,768 $             - $      (503,445) $     (63,677) 

Net loss for the period - - - (57,585) (57,585) 
Shares issued – Private placement 2,040,000 51,000 - - 51,000 
Subscriptions received in advance - - 21,805 - 21,805 
Share issue costs - (1,455) - - (1,455) 

Balance at June 30, 2020 15,986,023 $      489,313 $   21,805 $      (561,030) $      (49,912) 
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  Six -month  Six-month 

  period ended  Period ended 

  June 30,  June 30, 

  2020  2019 

Operating activities     

Net loss for the period $ (57,585) $ (35,745) 
Changes in non-cash working capital item:     
    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  27,657  35,691 

Net cash flows used in operating activities $ (29,928) $ (54) 

     

Financing activities     

Subscriptions received in advance $ 21,805 $ - 

Net proceeds from issuance of shares – private placement  49,545  - 
Proceeds from loans  17,803  - 

Net cash received from financing activities $ 89,153 $ - 

     
Change in cash  59,225  (54) 
Cash, beginning of the period  298  84 

Cash, end of the period $ 59,523 $ 30 
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1. Nature and continuance of operations 

 

1014379 B.C. Ltd. (the “Company”) was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) 
on September 23, 2014. The principal business of the Company is to identify, evaluate and then acquire an 
interest in a business or assets.  
 
The Company’s principal address, records office and registered address are located at Suite 810 – 789 West 
Pender Street, Vancouver, BC, V6C 1H2 
 
These condensed interim financial statements have been prepared on the assumption that the Company will 
continue as a going concern, meaning it will continue in operation for the foreseeable future and will be able to 
realize assets and discharge liabilities in the ordinary course of operations. The Company’s continuing 
operations, as intended, are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate and negotiate an acquisition of or 
participation in an interest in properties, assets or businesses. The Company is in the development stage and 
currently has no sources of cash from operations. Further funds will be required to successfully develop the 
Company’s business and there is no certainty that these funds will be available. As at June 30, 2020, the 
Company has a working capital deficiency of $49,912 (December 31, 2019 - $63,677) and for the six-month 
period ended June 30, 2020, the Company incurred a net loss of $57,585 (2019 - $35,745). A different basis of 
measurement may be appropriate if the Company is not expected to continue operations for the foreseeable 
future.  The Company’s continuation as a going concern is dependent upon its ability to raise equity capital or 
borrowings sufficient to meet current and future obligations and ultimately achieve profitable operations.  These 
factors indicate the existence of a material uncertainty that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern.  Management intends to finance operating costs over the next twelve months 
with loans from directors and companies controlled by directors.  
 
On May 6, 2019, a cease trade order (“CTO”) was issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission, as a 
result of the failure of the Company, under its previous management, to file annual financial statements and 
related management’s discussion and analysis within the required time. On November 7, 2019, the CTO has 
been revoked. The Company has addressed all of the outstanding filing deficiencies and brought its continuous 
disclosure records on SEDAR up to date. 
 

2. Statement of compliance and significant accounting policies 

 
These unaudited condensed interim financial statements were authorized for issue on August 13, 2020 by the 
directors of the Company. 

 

Statement of compliance  
 

These unaudited interim financial statements, including comparatives, have been prepared in accordance with 

International Accounting Standard 34 “Interim Financial Reporting” (“IAS 34”) using accounting policies 

consistent with the International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) issued by the International 

Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and Interpretations of the IFRS Interpretations Committee.  

These unaudited interim financial statements do not include all of the information required of a full annual 

financial report and is intended to provide users with an update in relation to events and transactions that are 

significant to an understanding of the changes in financial position and performance of the Company since the 

end of the last annual reporting period. It is therefore recommended that this financial report be read in 

conjunction with the audited financial statements of the Company for the year ended December 31, 2019.  
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2. Statement of compliance and significant accounting policies (cont’d) 

Statement of compliance (cont’d) 

 
These financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain financial 
instruments. In addition, these financial statements have been prepared using the accrual basis of accounting, 
except for cash flow information. 
 
The significant accounting policies have been applied consistently to all periods presented, except for the 
adoption of IFRS 16, Leases. 
 

Basis of presentation  

 
The financial statements are presented in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise noted, which is the Company’s 
functional currency.   

 

Significant accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions 

 

The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make judgments, 
apart from those involving estimates, in applying accounting policies.  The most significant judgments and 
estimates in applying the Company’s financial statements include: 

 the assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether there are events or 
conditions that may give rise to significant uncertainty; and 

 the classification / allocation of expenditures in operating expenses. 

Comparative figures  

 
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform to current year’s presentation. Such 
reclassification is for presentation purpose only and has no effect on previously reported results. 

 

New standards adopted 

 

Other accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued but have 
future effective dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Company’s financial statements. 

 

3. Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 

 June 30,  

2020 

December 31,  

2019 

Accounts payable $          107,435 $           59,975 
Accrued liabilities  2,000 4,000 

 $           109,435 $           63,975 

 

Included in accounts payable are amounts totaling $99,306 (December 31, 2019 - $51,503) due to related parties 
including a previous director and companies owned by a previous director of the Company. (Note 5). 

  



1014379 B.C. Ltd. 
Notes to the Condensed Interim Financial Statements 
For the six-month periods ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 

(Unaudited - Expressed in Canadian dollars) 

 

9 

4. Share Capital 

Authorized share capital 

Unlimited number of common shares without par value 
Unlimited number of preferred shares without par value 

 

Issued share capital 

 

At June 30, 2020, there were 15,986,023 (December 31, 2019 – 13,946,023) issued and fully paid common 
shares outstanding. 
 
Shares issued during the six-month period ending June 30, 2020: 
 
On May 08, 2020, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement consisting of 2,040,000 shares at 
$0.025 per share, for gross proceeds of $51,000. In connection with the private placement, the Company paid 
a cash finder’s fee of $1,455 to PI Financial Corp. 
 
Shares issued during the year ended December 31, 2019: 
 
On November 21, 2019, pursuant to debt settlement agreements, the Company issued 13,440,000 common 
shares with a fair value of $336,000 to certain creditors of the Company, including a company controlled by a 
director of the Company, to settle accounts payable of $336,000. No gains or losses have been recorded on the 
settlement of debt. Of the $336,000 accounts payable settled, $304,500 was owed to companies controlled by 
the former CEO, CFO and Director of the Company. Prior to entering into debt settlement agreements, the 
accounts payable of $304,500 was assigned to various arms-length creditors. After the debt was assigned, the 
Company issued common shares to settle the debt to these arms-length creditors.  

5. Related party transactions 

The Company considers its related parties to comprise directors, officers, companies controlled by directors 
and officers and companies with common directors. The key management compensation and director fees 
consist of the following for the six-months periods ended June 30, 2020 and 2019: 
 

   Six-months   Six-months 

 Period ended Period ended 

 June 30, June 30, 

 2020 2019 

Management fees charged by former officer and director  $ -  $ 31,500 

Accounting and consulting fees charged by a company 
controlled by a director  31,350   - 

  $ 31,350  $ 31,500 

   

 

Management fees of $Nil (2019 - $15,750) were accrued to a private company controlled by the former CEO, 

CFO and director. These amounts accrued were later settled with common shares (Note 4).  

  

 Included in accounting and consulting fees are $16,350 fees charged for corporate services and $15,000 for 

accounting services by a company controlled by a director of the Company.  

 

As at June 30, 2020, there was $13,288 (December 31, 2019 - $13,288) included in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities owing to a former officer and director and companies controlled by the former director.  The 
balances are unsecured, payable on demand and non-interest bearing.  
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5. Related party transactions (continued) 

As at June 30, 2020, there was $86,018 (December 31, 2019 - $38,215) included in accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities owing to a company controlled by a director of the Company. The balance is unsecured, 
payable on demand and non-interest bearing.  
 
On November 21, 2019, pursuant to debt settlement agreements (Note 4), the Company issued 1,260,000 
common shares to a company controlled by a director of the Company to settle accounts payable of $31,500. 
No gains or losses have been recorded on the settlement of debt.  

6. Risk management and financial instruments 

The Company classifies its financial instruments as follows:  
 

 Cash is classified as a financial asset at FVTPL; and 

 Accounts payable and accrued liabilities at amortized cost. 
 

The carrying value of these financial instruments approximates their fair value due to their short-term nature.  
 

The Company’s risk exposure and the impact on the Company’s financial instruments is summarized below: 
 

Credit risk 

 

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its contractual obligations and arises principally from the Company’s cash. The Company limits exposure to 
credit risk through maintaining its cash with high-credit quality Canadian financial institutions. The Company 
is not exposed to significant credit risk. The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit 
exposure. 
 
Liquidity risk  

 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in satisfying financial obligations as they 
become due. The Company manages its liquidity risk by forecasting cash flows from operations and anticipated 
investing and financing activities. The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to maintain sufficient 
readily available reserves in order to meet its liquidity requirements. The Company will be required to raise 
additional financing to be able to satisfy its financial obligations of $109,435 (December 31, 2019 - $63,975) 
and to identify, evaluate and negotiate an acquisition of or participation in an interest in properties, assets or 
businesses.  
 
Foreign exchange risk 

 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because they are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. The Company 
is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 

 

Interest rate risk 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
of changes in market interest rates.  As at June 30, 2020, the Company did not have any financial instruments 
subject to interest rate risk. 

 
Capital Management 
The Company's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and creditor confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business. The capital structure of the Company consists of  
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6. Risk management and financial instruments (continued) 
 
Capital Management (continued) 
 
shareholders’ deficiency. There were no changes in the Company's approach to capital management during the 
year.  The Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 

The Company is actively looking to acquire an interest in a business or assets and this involves a high degree 

of risk. The Company has not determined whether it will be successful in its endeavors and does not generate 

cash flows from operations. The Company’s primary source of funds comes from the issuance of capital stock. 

The Company does not use other sources of financing that require fixed payments of interest and principal due 

to lack of cash flow from current operations and is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

The Company’s objective when managing capital is to safeguard the Company’s ability to continue as a going 

concern.  

 

Capital requirements are driven by the Company’s general operations. To effectively manage the Company’s 

capital requirements, the Company monitors expenses and overhead to ensure costs and commitments are being 

paid. There were no changes in the Company’s capital risk management approach during the period ended June 

30, 2020. 

 

7. Segmented information 

 

The Company is currently identifying new business opportunities. All of its assets are located in Canada.  
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT 
 
TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CAPTIOS LLC 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Captios LLC (the "Company"), which comprise: 
the consolidated statement of financial position as at August 31, 2020; 
the consolidated statement of loss and comprehensive loss for the period from March 11, 2020 (date of incorporation) 

to August 31, 2020; 
 the consolidated statement of changes in members’ equity (deficiency) for the period from March 11, 2020 (date of 

incorporation) to August 31, 2020; 
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the period from March 11, 2020 (date of incorporation) to August 31, 2020; 

and 
the notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies. 
 
In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of the Company as at August 31, 2020, and its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the period from March 11, 2020 (date of incorporation) to August 31, 2020 in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 
 

Basis for Opinion  
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those 
standards are further described in the Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section 
of our report. We are independent of the Company in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements in Canada, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with 
these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for 
our opinion. 
  

Material Uncertainty Related to Going Concern  
We draw attention to Note 1 in the financial statements, which indicates that the Company incurred a net loss of $399,558 
during the period from March 11, 2020 (date of incorporation) to August 31, 2020 and, as of that date, the Company’s current 
liabilities exceeded its total assets by $473,904. As stated in Note 1, these events or conditions, along with other matters as 
set forth in Note 1, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the Company’s ability to 
continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter. 
 

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Consolidated Financial 
Statements 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance 
with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to 
enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 
 
In preparing the consolidated financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Company's ability to 
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of 
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Company or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative 
but to do so. 
 
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company's financial reporting process. 
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Auditors' Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditors' report that includes our opinion. 
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian 
generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise 
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements. As part of an audit 
in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 
 
Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud 

or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is 
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, 
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.  
 

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Company's internal control. 
 

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 
disclosures made by management. 
 

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit 
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt 
on the Company's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 
required to draw attention in our auditors' report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, 
if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up
to the date of our auditors' report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Company to cease to continue 
as a going concern. 
 

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including the 
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a 
manner that achieves fair presentation. 
 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 
 

 

Chartered Professional Accountants 

Vancouver, British Columbia 
November 23, 2020 

 
 

 



CAPTIOS LLC 
Consolidated Statement of Financial Position 
(Expressed in US Dollars) 

 

 4 

 

 

 

Nature of operations and ability to continue as a going concern (Note 1) 
Subsequent events (Note 14) 
 
 
Approved and authorized for issuance on behalf of the Board on November 23, 2020. 
 
“Gene McConnell”,  CFO and Director 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements)

 
 

 
 

August 31, 
2020 

   
ASSETS   

Current    

Cash   $ 41,575 

Investments (Note 4)   72,950 

Loan receivable (Note 5)   75,000 

Total current assets   189,525 

    

Non-current    

    Intangible asset (Note 6)   284,346 

TOTAL ASSETS  $ 473,871 

    
LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)    

Current    

    Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (Note 8)  $ 370,293 

    License liability (Note 6)   293,136 

TOTAL LIABILITIES   663,429 

    
MEMBERS’ EQUITY (DEFICIENCY)    

    Paid-in capital   210,000 

    Deficit   (399,558) 

TOTAL MEMBERS’ DEFICIENCY     (189,558) 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND MEMBERS’ DEFICIENCY  $ 473,871 
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Period from incorporation 
on March 11, 2020 to 

August 31, 2020 

    

Operating Expenses    

    Amortization  $ 6,372 

    Consulting (Note 8)   248,335 

    General and administrative   647 

    Interest   2,418 

    Professional fees   1,786 

    Research and development    80,000 

    Sales and marketing   60,000 

Net Loss and Comprehensive Loss for the Period  $ (399,558) 

 
 Basic and Diluted loss per share  $ (0.04) 

 Weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding    9,564,162 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements)
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Ordinary Shares 

 

  
 

Paid-in capital 
 

  
 

Deficit 
 

  
 

Total 
 

Incorporation on March 11, 2020  - $ - $ - $ - 
         
Shares issued for cash (Note 7)  9,700,000  190,000  -  190,000 
Shares issued for debt  300,000  20,000  -  20,000 
Net loss and comprehensive loss for the 

period 
 

- 
 

- 
 

(399,558) 
  

(399,558) 
         
Balance, August 31, 2020  10,000,000 $ 210,000 $ (399,558) $ (189,558) 

         

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements)
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(The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements)

 

 Period from incorporation 
on March 11, 2020 to  

August 31, 2020 

CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES 
 

 

Net loss for the period $ (399,558) 

Items not affecting cash:   

    Amortization  6,372 

    Interest  2,418 

Changes in non-cash working capital:   

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  390,293 

  (475) 

CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING ACTIVITIES   

Acquisition of investments  (72,950) 

Advances   (75,000) 

  (147,950) 

CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES   

    Shares issued for cash  190,000 

   

NET CHANGE IN CASH   41,575 

CASH – beginning   - 

CASH – end  $ 41,575 

   

Supplemental Cash Flow Information   

    Shares issued for debt $ 20,000 
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1. Nature of Operations and Going Concern 
 

Captios LLC is a Delaware Limited Liability Company (the “Company” or “Captios”) formed on March 11, 2020 under 
the Limited Liability Company Act (the “Act”) of the State of Delaware. The Company is an early stage company 
focused on providing a software-as-a-service (“SaaS”) based asset management and supply chain execution platform 
which leverages blockchain and a broad array of Internet of Things (“IoT”) technologies. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which assumes that the 
Company will be able to continue its operation as a going concern for the foreseeable future and will be able to 
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business. At August 31, 2020, the Company had 
not achieved profitable operations. During the period ended August 31, 2020, the Company incurred a net loss of 
$399,558 and had an accumulated deficit of $399,558 at that date. The Company expects to incur further losses in 
the development of its business.  

Although the Company has been successful in the past in obtaining financing, there can be no assurances that the 
Company will continue to obtain the additional financial resources necessary and/or achieve profitability or positive 
cash flows from its future operations. If the Company is unable to obtain adequate additional financing, the Company 
would be required to curtail its planned operations, expansion and customer deployments. These material 
uncertainties may cast significant doubt about the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. These 
consolidated financial statements do not give effect to adjustments that would be necessary to the carrying values 
and classification of assets and liabilities should the Company be unable to continue as a going concern. Such 
adjustments could be material. 

On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization characterized the outbreak of a strain of the novel coronavirus 
(“COVID-19”) as a pandemic which has resulted in a series of public health and emergency measures that have been 
put in place to combat the spread of the virus. The duration and impact of COVID-19 is unknown at this time and it 
is not possible to reliably estimate the impact that the length and severity of these developments will have on the 
financial results and condition of the Company in future periods.  

 
2. Basis of Presentation 
 

a) Statement of Compliance and Presentation 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards (“IFRS”), as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”).  
 
These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, except for certain 
financial instruments. In addition, these consolidated financial statements have been prepared using the accrual 
basis of accounting, except for cash flow information. 
 
The significant accounting policies set out in Note 2 have been applied consistently to all periods presented. 

 
b) Functional and Presentation Currency 

These consolidated financial statements are presented in United States dollars, which is the Company’s and its 
subsidiary’s functional currency. All financial information is expressed in United States dollars unless otherwise 
stated and have been rounded to the nearest dollar. 
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2. Basis of Presentation (continued) 

c) Basis of Consolidation 

 
The consolidated financial statements include the accounts of the Company and its controlled entities. Control 
occurs when the Company is exposed to, or has the right to, variable returns from its involvement with an 
investee and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee. Details of controlled 
entities are as follows: 

 
 
 
 
 

All inter-company transactions, balances, income and expenses are eliminated on consolidation. 

 
d) Significant Accounting Judgment and Estimates 

 
The preparation of these consolidated financial statements requires management to make judgments, 
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the 
consolidated financial statements and reported amounts of expenses during the reporting period. Actual 
outcomes could differ from these estimates. Estimates and assumptions are pervasive throughout the 
consolidated financial statements and are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognized in the period in which the estimate is revised, and future periods impacted. 
 
Significant assumptions about the future and other sources of estimation uncertainty that management has 
made at the statement of financial position date, that could result in a material adjustment to the carrying 
amounts of assets and liabilities, in the event that actual results differ from assumptions made, relate to, but 
are not limited to, the following: 

 
i. Going Concern 

 
The assessment of whether the concern assumption is appropriate requires management to consider all 
available information about the future, which is at least, but not limited to, 12 months from the end of the 
reporting period. The Company is aware that material uncertainties exist related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.  
 

ii. Recoverability of Intangible Assets 
 

The Company assesses at each reporting date if the intangible asset has indicators of impairment. In 
determining whether the intangible asset is impaired, the Company assesses certain criteria including 
observable decreases in value, significant changes with adverse effect on the entity, a change in market 
interest rates, evidence of technological obsolescence, and future. The application of the Company’s 
accounting policy for intangible asset expenditures requires judgment in determining whether it is likely 
that the future economic benefits will flow to the Company, which are based on assumptions about future 
events or circumstances. Estimates and assumptions may change if new information becomes available. If, 
after expenditures are capitalized, information becomes available suggesting that the recovery of 
expenditures is unlikely, the amount capitalized in excess over the recoverable value is written off to profit 
or loss in the period the new information becomes available. 
 

   
Country of 

incorporation 

  Percentage owned 

     
Spotlite360 Inc.  US     100% 
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2. Basis of Presentation (continued) 
 

d) Significant Accounting Judgment and Estimates (continued) 
 

iii. Investments 
 

Investment transactions are recorded on a trade date basis. The cost of investments represents the amount 
paid for each investment and is determined on an average cost basis excluding transaction costs. The 
Company classifies its investments as fair value through profit or loss, with unrealized gains and losses 
recognized in profit or loss. The fair value of the Company’s investments as at the financial reporting date 
are determined as follows: Common shares in quoted companies – All securities listed on a recognized 
public stock exchange are generally valued at their last bid price. Options and warrants – The options and 
warrants are valued at fair value using the Black-Scholes pricing model which considers factors such as 
market value of the underlying security, strike price, volatility and expected life. Investments in private 
companies and other investments – When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded 
on the consolidated statements of financial position cannot be derived from active markets, they are 
determined using a variety of valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are derived from observable 
market data where possible, but where observable market data is not available, judgement is required to 
establish fair value. 

 
3. Significant Accounting Policies 

 
a) Financial Instruments 

 
(i) Classification  

 
The Company classifies its financial assets in the following categories: at fair value through profit 
or loss (“FVTPL”), at fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) or at amortized 
cost. The Company determines the classification of financial assets at initial recognition. The 
classification of debt instrument is driven by the Company’s business model for managing its 
financial assets and their contractual cash flow characteristics. Equity instruments that are held-
for-trading are classified as at FVTPL. Financial liabilities are measured at amortized cost, unless 
they are required to be measured at FVTPL.  
 

(ii)  Measurement 
 
Financial assets at FVTOCI - Elected investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are initially 
recognized at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently they are measured at fair value, with 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other comprehensive loss.  
 
Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost - Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost 
are initially recognized at fair value, and subsequently carried at amortized cost less any 
impairment. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL - Financial assets and liabilities carried at FVTPL are initially 
recorded at fair value and transaction costs are expensed in the statements of operations. Realized 
and unrealized gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of the financial assets and 
liabilities held at FVTPL are included in the statements of operations in the period in which they 
arise. Where management has opted to recognize a financial liability at FVTPL, any changes 
associated with the Company’s own credit risk will be recognized in other comprehensive loss.  
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
a) Financial Instruments (continued) 

 
(iii) Impairment of financial assets at amortized cost 

 
The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are 
measured at amortized cost. At each reporting date, the Company measures the loss allowance 
for the financial asset at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on 
the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition. If at the reporting date, the 
financial asset has not increased significantly since initial recognition, the Company measures the 
loss allowance for the financial asset at an amount equal to the twelve month expected credit 
losses. The Company shall recognize in the statement of operations, as an impairment gain or loss, 
the amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that is required to adjust the loss allowance at 
the reporting date to the amount that is required to be recognized. 

  
(iv)  Derecognition  

 
Financial assets - The Company derecognizes financial assets only when the contractual rights to 
cash flows from the financial assets expire, or when it transfers the financial assets and 
substantially all the associated risks and rewards of ownership to another entity. Gains and losses 
on derecognition are generally recognized in the statement of operations. However, gains and 
losses on derecognition of financial assets classified as FVTOCI remain within the accumulated 
other comprehensive loss. 
    
Financial liabilities - The Company derecognizes financial liabilities only when its obligations under 
the financial liabilities are discharged, cancelled or expired. The difference between the carrying 
amount of the financial liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable, including 
any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed, is recognized in the statement of 
operations. 

 
(v)  Fair value hierarchy  

 

Fair value measurements of financial instruments are required to be classified using a fair value 
hierarchy that reflects the significance of inputs used in making the measurements. The levels of 
the fair value hierarchy are defined as follows: 
  
Level 1 -  Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or  liabilities.  
Level 2 -  Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the 
asset or liability, either directly or indirectly.  
Level 3 -  Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data. 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 

 
a) Financial Instruments (continued) 

 

 The Company has assessed the classification and measurement of financial assets and financial liabilities in the 

following table: 

 
 

  
b) Intangible Assets 

 
The Company owns intangible assets consisting of licensed intellectual property. Intangible assets acquired 
separately are measured on initial recognition at cost. Intangible assets acquired in connection with a business 
combination are initially recorded at fair value. Following initial recognition, intangible assets are carried at 
initial carrying value less any accumulated amortization and any accumulated impairment losses.  

Subsequent expenditures are capitalized only when they increase the future economic benefits embodied in 
the specific asset to which they relate. All other expenditures are recognized in operations as incurred. The 
Company does not hold any intangible assets with indefinite lives. Intangible assets with finite lives are 
amortized over the lower of contractual period or useful economic life and assessed for impairment at each 
reporting date or whenever there is an indication that the intangible asset may be impaired. 

The amortization method and amortization period of an intangible asset with a finite life is reviewed at least 
quarterly. Changes in the expected useful life or the expected pattern of consumption of future economic 
benefits embodied in the asset is accounted for by changing the amortization period or method, as appropriate, 
and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. Amortization is recognized in profit or loss on a straight-
line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets.  

Intangible assets with finite useful lives are amortized over their estimated useful lives as follows: 

 

 
c) Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 

 
Non-financial assets are subject to impairment tests at least annually or whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that their carrying amount may not be recoverable. Where the carrying value of an asset 
exceeds its recoverable amount, which is the higher of value in use and fair value less costs to sell, the asset is 
written down to its recoverable amount. 

 
Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual asset, the impairment test is 
carried out on the asset's cash-generating unit, which is the lowest group of assets in which the asset belongs 
for which there are separately identifiable cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows from 
other assets. An impairment loss is charged to the statement of loss and comprehensive loss. 

 
 

Financial assets: Measurement Category 

Cash  FVTPL 

Loan receivable Amortized cost 

Investments  FVTPL 

  

Financial liabilities:  

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities Amortized cost 

Intangible assets Useful life  

Software License 7 years 
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3. Significant Accounting Policies (continued) 
 

d) Cash and Cash Equivalents  
 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, deposits held at call with banks, and short-term highly liquid 
investments and bank overdrafts. 
 

4. Investments 
 

During the period ended August 31, 2020, the Company purchased 1,000,000 units of Cyon Exploration Ltd (“Cyon”) 
for total proceeds of $72,950. Each unit consists of one Cyon common share and one share purchase warrant 
enabling the Company to purchase an additional Cyon common share at CAD $0.15 per share for a period of three 
years. As at August 31, 2020, Cyon’s common shares were not publicly traded, therefore, the cost of the investment 
was considered fair value. Cyon’s shares were re-listed on the TSX-V subsequent to year-end on September 24, 2020.  

 

    
August 31, 

2020 

Incorporation on March 11, 2020   $ - 

Additions    72,950 

Fair value adjustment    - 

Balance at August 31, 2020   $ 72,950 

 
5. Loan Receivable 
 

During the period ended August 31, 2020, the Company advanced $75,000 to TrackX Holdings, Inc. (“TrackX”) a 
related company through common management. The loan is non-interest-bearing and due on demand. 
 
Subsequent to August 31, 2020, TrackX repaid $25,000 of the amount advanced and the Company entered into a 
promissory note with TrackX for the $50,000 remaining balance. The note is due on demand and bears 10% interest 
payable annually. 

 
6. Intangible Asset 
 

a) Software License 
 

On July 6, 2020 the Company entered into a Software License Agreement (the “Agreement” or “License”) with 
TrackX. TrackX operates as an enterprise asset management company deploying SaaS-based solutions leveraging 
multiple auto-ID and sensor technologies for the comprehensive tracking and management of physical assets. 
TrackX’s Global Asset Management for Enterprises (“GAME”) Platform enables the Industrial Internet of Things 
(“IIoT”) by providing unique item level tracking, workflow processing, event management, alerting and powerful 
analytics to deliver solutions across a growing number of industries. 
 
Pursuant to the Agreement the Company has acquired the License to the GAME Platform and the ancillary software 
products from TrackX on a non-exclusive basis to commercialize an entire supply chain solution in the 
pharmaceutical, healthcare and agriculture industries (the “Licensed Industries”). 
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6. Intangible Asset (continued) 

 
As a consideration for the License, the Company will make payments to TrackX under the following payment terms: 

 
 $300,000  in Software License Fees as follows: 

i) $200,000 paid on or before November 30, 2020. 
ii) $10,000 per month paid at the end of each of the subsequent 10 months, through September 2021. 

 
 In addition, TrackX shall receive 10% of first year SaaS revenue derived from the licensing of GAME Platform for 

each location installed within the Licensed Industries. 

 
 The Company will have a perpetual non-exclusive right to the targeted licensed industries from the execution 

date of the agreement.  

 
 The Company retains the right to obtain exclusivity within the 12 month period following execution of the 

agreement for the licensed industries under terms which will be negotiated between the parties and for not less 
than $900,000. 

 
 The Company will pay to TrackX development, integration, support and other service fees based upon the then 

current TrackX services pricing and as agreed by TrackX and the Company within an associated services 
agreement. 

 
During the period ended August 31, 2020, the Company recognized an intangible asset with a cost equal to the 
present value of the $300,000 Software License Fees discounted using a rate of 10.45%. 

 

    Software license 

   Incorporation on March 11, 2020   $ - 
   Additions    290,718 
   Amortization    (6,372) 

   Balance at August 31, 2020   $ 284,346 
 

b) Software License liability  
 

A corresponding liability in relation to the acquired intangible asset has been recorded representing the Company’s 
obligations under the Software Licence Agreement, summarized as follows;  
 

    Software license liability 

   Incorporation on March 11, 2020   $ - 
   Additions    290,718 
   Interest     2,418 

   Balance at August 31, 2020   $ 293,136 
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7. Paid-in Capital 
 

Authorized 
A member’s interest in the Company is their percentage share of the Company’s business, property, assets, capital, 
profits and losses subject to the provisions of the Company’s operating agreement and the Act. Interests are 
denominated in ordinary shares wherein the sum of all ordinary shares outstanding shall always equal 100% of the 
ownership interest in the Company and 100% of the member interests. The number of ordinary shares shall be 
unlimited without par value. 
 
Shares Issued  
 
During the period ended August 31, 2020, the Company had the following transactions that resulted in the issuance 
of its ordinary shares: 
 

i) On March 11, 2020, the Company issued 8,200,000 ordinary shares for gross proceeds of $100,000 pursuant 
to contribution to Company’s paid-in capital. 

 
ii) On April 10, 2020, the Company issued 1,200,000 ordinary shares for gross proceeds of $70,000 pursuant 

to contribution to Company’s paid-in capital. 
 

iii) On April 13, 2020, the Company issued 300,000 ordinary shares for gross proceeds of $20,000 pursuant to 
contribution to Company’s paid-in capital. 

 
iv) On May 15, 2020, the Company issued 300,000 ordinary shares at a fair value of $20,000 pursuant to 

settlement of debt.  
  

8. Related Party Disclosures 
 

The following is a summary of related party transactions that occurred during the period ended August 31, 2020 that 
have not otherwise been disclosed: 
 
$20,000 was accrued to TrackX for consulting fees included within Research and Development. 
 

Included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities is $165,172 payable to shareholders, officers, directors, and 
companies controlled by officers and directors. Amounts due to related parties have no stated terms of interest or 
repayment. 
 

Key management personnel include the directors and officers of the Company. Key management compensation 
consists of the following: 

 

  

August 31, 
2020 

$ 

Consulting paid or accrued to a company controlled by an Officer of the Company  35,000 
Consulting paid or accrued to shareholders  110,000 
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9. Capital Management 
 

Capital is comprised of the Company’s members’ deficit and any debt that it may issue. As at August 31, 2020, the 

Company’s members’ deficit was $399,558. The Company’s objectives when managing capital are to maintain 

financial strength, to protect its ability to meet its on-going liabilities, to continue as a going concern, to maintain 

creditworthiness and to maximize returns for shareholders over the long term. Protecting the ability to pay current 

and future liabilities includes maintaining capital above minimum regulatory levels, current financial strength rating 

requirements and internally determined capital guidelines and calculated risk management levels. 

 
The Company manages the capital structure and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic conditions 
and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Company may 
attempt to issue new shares or adjust the amount of cash. The Company does not have any externally imposed 
capital requirements to which it is subject and there were no changes in the Company’s approach to capital 
management during the period. 

 
10. Financial Instruments and Risk Management 

 
a) Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The 

Company currently settles most of its financial obligations with cash. The ability to do this relies on the Company 
raising equity financing in a timely manner and by maintaining sufficient cash in excess of anticipated needs. At 
August 31, 2020, the Company has current assets of $189,525 and will be required to settle current liabilities of 
$663,429 which are all due within 12 months. The Company is exposed to liquidity risk as it will be required to 
raise additional funding to meet its existing liabilities. 

 
b) Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument 

fails to meet its contractual obligations. Financial instruments that potentially subject the Company to a 
concentration of credit risk consist primarily of cash and loan receivable. The Company mitigates this risk by 
holding is cash with major financial institutions in the United States and Canada. Receivables are subject to 
standard credit terms. 

 
c) Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 

of changes in market interest rates. The Company’s sensitivity to interest rates is minimal. 
 
d) Foreign currency risk is the risk on fluctuation of currency related to monetary items with a settlement currency 

other than US dollars. 
 

As at August 31, 2020, the Company had limited exposure to foreign currency risk, as the majority of balances 
are denominated in US Dollars. The Company assessed its foreign currency risk as low as at August 31, 2020. 
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10. Financial Instruments and Risk Management (continued) 

e) The Company’s financial instruments consist of cash, loan receivable, investments and accounts payable. 
Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified into one of the three levels in the fair value hierarchy 
according to the relative reliability of the inputs used to estimate the fair values. The three levels of hierarchy 
are: 
 
Level 1:  Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities. 
 
Level 2:  Other techniques for which all inputs which have a significant effect on the recorded fair value are 
observable, either directly or indirectly. 
 
Level 3:  Techniques which use inputs that have a significant effect on the recorded fair value that are not 
based on observable market data. 
 
Financial instruments classified as level 1 – Unadjusted quoted prices in active markets include cash and 
investments.  
 
The estimated fair value of loan receivable, accounts payable and accrued liabilities are equal to their carrying 
values due to the short-term nature of these instruments. 
 

11. Income Taxes 
 

For income tax purposes the Company is treated as a flow-through entity, where taxable income or loss is allocated 
to the individual members and income tax is the responsibility of the individual member. Accordingly, no provision 
for income taxes is included in these financial statements 
 

12. Segmented Information 
 

The Company has one operating segment, being the development of a SaaS-based asset management and supply 
chain execution platform. All assets of the Company are located in the United States. 

 
13. Agreement with 1014379 B.C. Ltd. 
 

On June 21, 2020, the Company entered into a share exchange agreement with 1014379 B.C. Ltd. (“1014379”) (the 
“Share Exchange Agreement”). Pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement, 1014379 will acquire 100% of the issued 
ordinary shares of the Company (the “Acquisition”). As consideration for the sale of the all of the issued and 
outstanding ordinary shares of the Company, 1014379 B.C. Ltd has agreed to:  
 
(i) issue to the Company an aggregate of 10,000,000 Common Shares (10,100,000 post issuance of shares in 

note 13); and  
(ii) issue an additional 10,000,000 Common Shares for ordinary shares to be issued by the Company to settle 

its outstanding debt (note 14).  
 
Concurrent with the Acquisition, 1014379 intends to complete a non-brokered private placement of up to 
$3,000,000. A condition of closing includes, among other things, that the common shares of 1014379 will have been 
approved for listing on the CSE. 
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14. Subsequent Events 
 

(a) Subsequent to August 31, 2020, the Company issued 100,000 ordinary shares for gross proceeds of $11,194 
pursuant to contribution to Company’s paid-in capital. 
 

(b) Pursuant to debt settlement agreements dated November 1, 2020, the Company issued 10,000,000 ordinary 
shares to settle accounts payable of $298,669. 

 
 



SCHEDULE “E” 

UNAUDITED PRO FORMA CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS  
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1014379 B.C. Ltd. 
PRO-FORMA CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 
As at June 30, 2020  
(Unaudited – Expressed in Canadian Dollars) 
 
 

1014379 B.C. Ltd. Captios LLC Captios LLC Pro-forma Pro-forma

As at June 30, 2020 August 31, 2020 August 31, 2020 Notes Adjustments Consolidated

$ CAD $ USD $ CAD $ $

ASSETS

CURRENT ASSETS
Cash                              59,523 41,575              54,222                 3a               613,576           716,710 

               (21,805)
 3c                 11,194 

Investments 72,950              95,141                            95,141 
Notes receivable 75,000              97,815                            97,815 

                             59,523              189,525               247,179               602,965           909,666 

Intangible Asset - License Agreement 284,346            370,844              2,875,416                  3,246,260 
                    -   

TOTAL ASSETS                              59,523              473,871               618,023            3,478,380        4,155,926 

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities                            109,435 370,293            482,936              (375,612)             216,759         
Lease liability 293,136            382,308              382,308         

TOTAL LIABILITIES                            109,435              663,429               865,244              (375,612)           599,067 

EQUITY 
Capital stock                            489,313 210,000            273,882               3a 613,576              4,117,889      

 3a (273,882)             -                 
 3b 3,015,000           
 3c 11,194                -                 
 3b (11,194)               
 3c 670,000              
 3b (670,000)             

Subscriptions received in advance                              21,805 3a (21,805)               -                 
Accumulated deficit                           (561,030)            (399,558) (521,104)             3c               521,104         (561,030)

 3c              (294,388)
 3b               294,388 

TOTAL EQUITY                             (49,912)            (189,558)              (247,222)            3,853,993        3,556,859 

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY                              59,523              473,871               618,023           -              3,478,381        4,155,926 
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1. BASIS OF PRESENTATION 
 
The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position (“Pro-forma Financial Statements”) of 
the 1014379 B.C. Ltd. (the “Company”) has been prepared by management of the Company for inclusion in a 
Listing Application (the “Application”) the Canadian Securities Exchange (“CSE”).  The Company has applied 
to list its common shares on the CSE and the listing will be subject to it fulfilling all of the listing requirements 
of the CSE. The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position has been prepared to reflect 
the proposed transaction between the Company and Captios, LLC (“Captios”) whereby the Company intends 
to acquire all the shares of Captios under the terms described in Note 2 (the “Transaction”). 
 
The Pro-forma Financial Statement has been prepared for illustrative purposes using accounting policies 
consistent with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) appropriate in the circumstances and 
pursuant to the assumptions and adjustments as further described in Note 3. The Pro-forma Financial 
Statement has been reported in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated.  
 
The Pro-forma Financial Statement as at June 30, 2020, has been compiled from and include: 
 

a) Unaudited pro forma consolidated statement of financial position as at June 30, 2020 combining: 
 

I. The unaudited statement of financial position of the Company as at June 30, 2020, and; 
II. The audited statement of financial position of Captios as at August 31, 2020. 

  
 
The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position is not necessarily indicative of the 
Company’s consolidated financial position on closing of the Transaction had the Transaction closed on the 
dates assumed herein.  
 
The unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of financial position has been compiled from information 
derived from and should be read in conjunction with the following information, prepared in accordance with 
IFRS:  

• the Company’s unaudited financial statements as at and the period ended June 30, 2020; 
• the Captios’ audited financial statements as at and the period ended August 31, 2020; and  
• the additional information set out in Note 3 of this unaudited pro-forma consolidated statement of 

financial position that are directly attributable to the Transaction or factually supportable. 
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2. DEFINITIVE AGREEMENT 
 

On June 21, 2020, the Company entered into a share exchange agreement with Captios, LLC (“Captios”) and 
the members of Captios (the “Share Exchange Agreement”). Pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement, the 
Company agreed to purchase and the members of Captios agreed to sell all of the ordinary shares of Captios 
to the Company (the “Acquisition”). As consideration for the sale of all of the ordinary shares of Captios, the 
Company has agreed to issue to the vendors an aggregate of 20,100,000 common shares. A condition of 
closing includes, among other things, that the common shares of the Company will have been approved for 
listing on the CSE. 
 
The acquisition of Captios will be completed by way of a share exchange resulting in Captios becoming a 
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, following which the Company will continue the business of Captios.  
The parties entered into a definitive share exchange agreement on June 21, 2020. The Captios Acquisition 
constituted an arm’s length transaction.  
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3.  UNAUDITED PRO-FORMA ASSUMPTIONS AND ADJUSTMENTS  
 

The Pro-forma Financials Statement gives effect to the completion of the Transaction incorporating the 
assumptions within Notes 1 and 2, as if it had occurred on the date presented, June 30, 2020 

 
a.) Subsequent to June 30, 2020, the Company had the following equity transactions: 

 
On September 3, 2020, the Company closed a non-brokered private placement of 4,090,506 Shares at 
$0.15 per share for gross proceeds of $613,576 of which $21,805 was received in advance prior to June 
30, 2020.  The Company issued 286,355 common shares as finders fees. 

 
b.) Captios Acquisition  

 
This acquisition has been accounted for as business combination as Captios meets the definition of a 
business under IFRS 3, Business Combinations (“IFRS 3). The Company has used the acquisition method 
with the Company considered to be the acquiror. In accordance with IFRS 3, the equity consideration 
transferred will be measured at fair value at the acquisition date, which is the date control is obtained. 
 
The Company is in the process of assessing the fair value of the net assets acquired and, as a result, the 
fair value of the net assets acquired may be subject to adjustments pending completion of final valuations 
and post-closing adjustments. The table below summarizes the preliminary estimated fair value of the 
assets acquired and the liabilities assumed at the effective acquisition date: 

 
Consideration paid $ 
Shares issued @ $0.15 3,015,000 
Total Consideration paid 3,015,000 

  
Net assets acquired in CAD  

Cash 65,416 
Investment 95,141 
Loan receivable 97,815 
Intangible assets 370,844 

      Accounts payable and accrued liabilities (107,324) 
      Software license liability (382,308) 
Total net assets acquired 139,584 
  
Balance allocated to  

Intellectual property 2,875,416 
Total 3,015,000 

 
The accounting for this acquisition has been provisionally determined at June 30, 2020. The fair value of 
net assets acquired, specifically with respect to goodwill, intangible assets and total consideration have 
been determined provisionally and subject to adjustment. Upon completion of a comprehensive valuation 
and finalization of the purchase price allocation, the amounts above may be adjusted to the acquisition 
date in future reporting periods. Accounts payable has been reduced to reflect the subsequent issuance 
of 10,000,000 ordinary shares as discussed on note c) below. Share capital and deficit of Captios is 
eliminated upon acquisition. 

 
c.) Subsequent to June 30, 2020, Captios had the following equity transactions: 
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On November 1, 2020, Captios settled $375,612 CAD ($298,669 USD) of debt with two arms length 
parties for 10,000,000 ordinary shares of Captios. The fair value of these shares was deemed to be 
$670,000 and Captios recognised a loss on settlement of $294,388.  

On November 4, 2020, Captios issued 100,000 ordinary shares for gross proceeds of $11,194 pursuant 
to contribution to Company’s paid-in capital. 

d.) The financial statements of Captios as at August 31, 2020 have been translated from US dollars to 
Canadian dollars using an exchange rate of 1.3042 effective as of June 30, 2020. 
 

4.  UNAUDITED PRO-FORMA CAPITAL STOCK 
 

As a result of the Transaction and the pro-forma assumptions and adjustments, the pro-forma Capital 
Stock of the Company as at June 30, 2020 is comprised of the following: 

  
Number of common 

shares Amount 

  $ 

Existing 1014379 Shareholders 15,986,022 489,313 

Private placement 4,376,861 613,576 

Shares issued pursuant to 
acquisition of Captios 20,100,000 3,015,000 

Pro forma balance at June 30, 
2020 40,462,883 4,117,889 

 
5. EFFECTIVE INCOME TAX RATE 
 
 The effective income tax rate for the resulting issuer is 27%. 
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This management's discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) provides an analysis of our financial situation which will enable 
the reader to evaluate important variations in our financial situation for the year ended December 31, 2019, compared to 
the year ended December 31, 2018. This report prepared as at March 27, 2020 intends to complement and supplement 
our audited financial statements (the “financial statements”) as at December 31, 2019 and should be read in conjunction 
with the Company’s audited financial statements (the “financial statements”) and accompanying notes for the year ended 
December 31, 2019, (the “financial statements”), which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards.  
 
Our financial statements and the management's discussion and analysis are intended to provide a reasonable base for the 
investor to evaluate our financial situation. 
 
Our financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies consistent with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”). All dollar amounts contained in this MD&A are expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise 
specified. 
 
Where we say “we”, “us”, “our”, the “Company” or “numbered company”, we mean 1014379 B.C. Ltd., as it may apply.  
 
This management discussion and analysis may contain forward-looking statements in respect of various matters including 
upcoming events and include without limitation, statements regarding discussions of the Company’s business strategy, 
future plans, projections, objectives, estimates and forecasts and statements as to management's expectations with respect 
to, among other things, the development of the Company’s project.  These forward-looking statements involve numerous 
risks and uncertainties and actual results may vary.  Important factors that may cause actual results to vary include without 
limitation, certain transactions, certain approvals, changes in commodity prices, risks inherent in exploration results, 
timing and success, inaccurate geological and metallurgical assumptions (including with respect to the size, grade and 
recoverability of mineral reserves and mineral resources), delays in the receipt of government approvals, and changes in 
general economic conditions or conditions in the financial markets. In making the forward-looking statements in this 
MD&A, the Company has applied several material assumptions, including without limitation, the assumptions that: (1) 
any additional financing needed will be available on reasonable terms.   
 
Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements include, among other factors: (1) weak commodity prices and general metal price volatility; (2) the 
state of the global economy and economic and political events, including the deterioration of the global capital markets, 
affecting supply and demand and economic and political events affecting supply and demand; and (3) securing and the 
nature of regulatory permits and approvals and the costs of complying with environmental, health and safety laws and 
regulations. 
 
The Company cannot assure you that any of these assumptions will prove to be correct. 
 
The words “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “intend,” “believe,” “target,” “budget,” “plan,” 
“projection” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Information concerning mineral 
reserve and mineral resource estimates also may be considered forward-looking statements, as such information 
constitutes a prediction of what mineralization might be found to be present during operations or if and when an 
undeveloped project is actually developed.  

These factors should be considered carefully, and readers should not place undue reliance on the Company’s forward-
looking statements. The Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements, including 
future-oriented financial information, contained in this MD&A and any documents incorporated by reference are 
reasonable, but no assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct. In addition, although the 
Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, events or results to differ materially 
from those described in forward-looking statements, including future-oriented financial information, there may be other 
factors that cause actions, events, or results not to be as anticipated, estimated, or intended. The Company undertakes no 
obligation to disclose publicly any future revisions to forward-looking statements, including future-oriented financial 
information, to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this MD&A or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated 
events, except as expressly required by law.  
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Additionally, the forward-looking statements, including future-oriented financial information, contained herein are 
presented solely for the purpose of conveying our reasonable belief of the direction of the Company and may not be 
appropriate for other purposes. 

The results or events predicted in these forward-looking statements may differ materially from the actual results or events. 
The Company disclaims any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws. 

OVERALL PERFORMANCE 

The Company was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on September 23, 2014. The 
principal business of the Company is to identify, evaluate and then acquire an interest in a business or assets. The address 
of its head office is 810 - 789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 1H2. 

On November 21, 2019, pursuant to debt settlement agreements, the Company issued 13,440,000 common shares with a 
fair value of $336,000 to certain creditors of the Company, including a company controlled by a director of the Company, 
to settle accounts payable of $336,000.  

On October 14, 2014, the Company entered into an arrangement agreement with Bravura Ventures Corp (“Bravura,” its 
former parent Company) and Nuran Wireless Inc. (“Nuran”, previously 1014372 B.C. Ltd.) whereby the Company will 
form part of a statutory plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement") to become a reporting issuer in the provinces of British 
Columbia and Alberta. The arrangement was approved November 14, 2014 and was completed March 11, 2015. 

The Company has addressed all of the outstanding filing deficiencies and brought its continuous disclosure records on 
SEDAR up to date. As a condition of receiving the revocation order, the Company has provided the BCSC with an 
undertaking to hold its annual shareholders’ meeting within three months the CTO is revoked. 

On May 6, 2019, a cease trade order (“CTO”) was issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission (the “BCSC”), 
as a result of the failure of the Company, under its previous management, to file annual financial statements and related 
management’s discussion and analysis within the required time. On November 7, 2019, the CTO has been revoked. The 
Company has addressed all of the outstanding filing deficiencies and brought its continuous disclosure records on SEDAR 
up to date. As a condition of receiving the revocation order, the Company has provided the BCSC with an undertaking to 
hold its annual shareholders’ meeting within three months from November 7, 2019. 

The Company’s continuing operations, as intended, are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate and negotiate an 
acquisition of or participation in an interest in properties, assets or businesses. There can be no assurance that the 
Company will be able to complete such activities or obtain financing to continue; therefore, a material uncertainty exists 
that casts significant doubt over the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 
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Arrangement Agreement 

On October 14, 2014, the Company entered into an arrangement agreement with Bravura and Nuran whereby the 
Company will form part of a statutory plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement"). Following completion of the 
Arrangement, the Company will become a reporting issuer in the provinces of British Columbia and Alberta.  

The Arrangement was approved by the shareholders at the annual and special general meeting of the Company held 
November 14, 2014 and was completed March 11, 2015.  

Pursuant to the Arrangement:  

(i) each of the issued and outstanding common shares of Bravura was exchanged for one new common share, one Class 
1 reorganization share and one Class 2 reorganization shares of Bravura, and all of the common shares of Bravura 
outstanding prior to the Arrangement were cancelled;  

(ii) all Class 2 reorganization shares were transferred to the Company in exchange for common shares of the Company;  

 (iii) Bravura redeemed all of the Class 2 reorganization shares and satisfied the redemption amount of such shares by the 
transfer to the Company of $45,000 of cash; and  

(iv) the Company completed a financing of 2,938,349 common shares for gross proceeds of $58,767.  

SELECTED ANNUAL PERFORMANCE 
 

  December 31, 
2019 

December 31, 
2018 

December 31, 
2017 

  $ $ $ 
Revenue  - - - 
Net Loss  (92,421) (73,518) (77,932) 
Basic and Diluted Loss Per Share  (0.05) (0.15) (0.15) 
Total Assets  298 84 1,189 
Long-Term Debt  - - - 
Dividends  - - - 

 
The Company had no revenue. During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company had a loss of $92,421 (2018 - 
$73,518; and 2017 - $77,932). The basic and diluted loss per share remained relative constant during the last three years 
and the Company had almost no assets. Operations were mainly financed by related party accounts payable. 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
Year ended December 31, 2019 and 2018 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company reported a net loss of $92,421 (2018 - $73,518). The Company 
incurred consulting fees of $24,375 (2018 - $Nil), filing fees of $20,007 (2018 - $2,885), management fees of $31,500 
(2018 - $63,000) office expenses of $1,386 (2018 - $133), and professional fees of $15,153 (2018 - $7,500). The decrease 
in expenses was due to the decreased activity and a decrease in management fees during the period. 
 
Some of the significant charges to operations are as follows: 
 

- Consulting fees of $24,375 (2018 - $Nil) were charged as the Company engaged consultants to assist in the 
execution of the Company’s business plan. 

- Filing fees of $20,007 (2018 - $2,885) of which $9,479 (2018 - $(5,901)) relates to the current quarter, mainly 
for registration fees at the NEO Exchange 

- Management fees of $31,500 (2018 - $63,000) of which $31,500 (2018 - $63,000) were charged for management 
fees by Bridgemark Financial Corp., a company controlled by Anthony Jackson, the former CEO and Director.  

- Office expenses of $1,386 (2018 – $133) was paid mainly for bank charges. 
- Professional fees of $15,153 (2018 - $7,500) increased as legal and accounting fees increased in an attempt to 

bring the accounting records and financial statements up to date. 
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Cash flow analysis 
Operating Activities 

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, cash provided by operating activities was $214 and (2018 – cash 
used of $1,105) respectively for activities as described above. 

Investing activities 

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the company did not use or generate any cash from investing 
activities. 

Financing activities 

During the years ended December 31, 2019 and 2018, the company did not use or generate any cash from financing 
activities. 

 
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 
 

 
December 
31, 2019 

September 
30, 2019 

June 
30, 2019 

March 
31, 2019 

December 
31, 2018 

September 
30, 2018 

June 
30, 2018 

March 
31, 2018 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Revenue Nil Nil Nil 
 

Nil Nil Nil 
 

Nil Nil 
Net income 
(loss) 

 
(30,760) (25,916) (17,728) 

 
(18,017) 

 
122,303 (60,065) (112,833) (22,923) 

Basic and 
diluted 
income 
(loss) per 
share (0.00) (0.05) (0.04) (0.04) 0.24 (0.12) (0.22) (0.05) 

 
As at December 31, 2018, the Company recorded a net income of $122,303, mainly because of the reversal adjustment 
to management fees, during the fourth quarter of 2018. As at December 31, 2019, the Company had cash of $298 (2018 
- $84). The Company has relied on funds from related parties to generate liquidity. The Company has current liabilities 
of $63,975 (2018 - $307,340) and will be required to obtain continued deferral of payments to related parties or raise 
additional financing to satisfy its liabilities and to identify an interest in a business or assets. 
 
Some of the significant quarterly charges to operations for the quarter ended December 31,2019 compared with the 
quarter ending December 31, 2018are as follows: 
 

- Consulting fees of $13,875 (2018 - $Nil) were charged as the Company engaged consultants to assist in the 
execution of the Company’s business plan. 

- Filing fees of $9,479 (2018 - $(5,901)) Includes application to the NEO exchange, and as a re-allocation of 
expenses were made during the prior year. 

- Management fees of $Nil (2018 - $(117,000)) were adjusted during the prior year for management fees by 
Bridgemark Financial Corp., a company controlled by Anthony Jackson, the former CEO and Director. 

- Office expenses of $775 (2018 – $27) was paid mainly for postage charges. 
- Professional fees of $6,631 (2018 - $571) increased as legal and accounting fees increased to bring the 

accounting records and financial statements up to date. 
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EQUITY 
 
At December 31, 2019 there were 13,946,023 (2018 – 506,023) issued and fully paid common shares outstanding.  
 
On November 21, 2019, pursuant to debt settlement agreements, the Company issued 13,440,000 common shares with a 
fair value of $336,000 to certain creditors of the Company, including a company controlled by a director of the Company, 
to settle accounts payable of $336,000. No gains or losses have been recorded on the settlement of debt. Of the $336,000 
accounts payable settled, $301,500 was owed to companies controlled by the former CEO, CFO and Director of the 
Company. Prior to entering into debt settlement agreements, the accounts payable of $301,500 was assigned to various 
arms-length creditors. After the debt was assigned, the Company issued common shares to settle the debt to these arms-
length creditors.  
 
On April 3, 2018, the Company consolidated its common shares on the basis of ten pre-consolidated common shares for 
one post-consolidated common share. The number of common shares outstanding has been retroactively adjusted in the 
financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 to reflect the share consolidation.  
 
Share Purchase Options 
 
The Company has no stock options outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
  
Warrants 
 
The Company has no share purchase warrants outstanding at December 31, 2019 and 2018. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis, which assumes the realization of assets and 
liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of business. Continuing operations, as intended, are dependent on 
management’s ability to raise required funding through future equity issuances, its ability to acquire resource 
property or business interests and develop profitable operations or a combination thereof, which is not assured, 
given today’s volatile and uncertain financial markets. The Company may revise programs depending on its 
working capital position.  
 
As at December 31, 2019 the Company had a negative working capital of $63,677 (2018 – $307,256) which 
primarily consisted of cash of $298 (2018 - $84). Current liabilities, being accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
of $63,975 (2018 – $307,340). 
 
Cash provided in operating activities were $214 compared to cash used of $1,105 in 2018.  
 
There were no cash provided by or used in investing activities and financing activities during the years ended 
December 31, 2019 or 2018.  
 
Other than the above-mentioned current liabilities, the Company has no short-term capital spending requirements and 
future plans and expectations are based on the assumption that the Company will realize its assets and discharge its 
liabilities in the normal course of business rather than through a process of forced liquidation. There can be no assurance 
that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or if available that such financing will be on 
acceptable terms. If adequate financing is not available when required, the Company may be required to delay, scale back 
or eliminate various programs and may be unable to continue in operation. The Company may seek such additional 
financing through debt or equity offerings. Any equity offering will result in dilution to the ownership interests of the 
Company’s shareholders and may result in dilution to the value of such interests.  
 
The Company has no assets and has no pledges as security for loans, or otherwise and is not subject to any debt 
covenants.  
 
Historically, the Company's sole source of funding has been loans from related parties and private placements.  The 
Company’s access to financing is always uncertain. There can be no assurance of continued access to significant equity 
funding.  Liquidity risk is assessed as low. 
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The Company has not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
 
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
 
The Directors and Executive Officers of the Company are as follows: 
 
Eugene Beukman            - Director and Chief Executive Officer, member of the audit committee (Newly appointed) 
Joel Dumaresq                - Director, member of the audit committee (Newly appointed) 
Alexander Somjen          - Director, member of the audit committee (Newly appointed) 
Peter Nguyen                  - Chief Financial Officer (Newly appointed) 
Anthony Jackson            - Former Director and Chief Executive Officer (Resigned) 
 
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2019, the Company was charged $31,500 (2018 - $63,000) for management fees by 
Bridgemark Financial Corp., a company controlled by Anthony Jackson, the former CEO and Director. An amount of 
$37,500 accounting and consulting fees was charged by a company controlled by a director of the Company.  
 
As at December 31, 2019, $28,767 (December 31, 2018 - $286,288) was included in accounts payable and accrued 
liabilities owing to Anthony Jackson and companies controlled by Anthony Jackson.  
 
As at December 31, 2019, there was $22,736 (December 31, 2018 - $Nil) included in accounts payable owing to a 
company controlled by a director of the Company.  The balances are unsecured, payable on demand and non-interest 
bearing. 
 
On November 21, 2019, pursuant to debt settlement agreements, the Company issued 13,440,000 common shares with a 
fair value of $336,000 to certain creditors of the Company, including a company controlled by a director of the Company, 
to settle accounts payable of $336,000. As the Debt Settlement involves a director of the Company, it is considered to be 
a "related party transaction" under Multilateral Instrument 61-101 - Protection of Minority Security Holders in Special 
Transactions ("MI 61-101"). The Company is relying on the exemption from the requirement for valuation under MI 61-
101 on the basis of the exemption contained in section 5.5(b) of MI 61-101 as the Company’s Shares are not listed on a 
specified market, and on the exemption from the requirement for minority shareholder approval under MI 61-101 on the 
basis of the exemption contained in section 5.7(a) of MI 61-101 as that the fair market value of the consideration of the 
Shares issued to the insiders in connection with the Debt Settlement does not exceed 25% of the Company’s market 
capitalization. 
 
FOURTH QUARTER RESULTS 
 
During the three-month period ending December 31, 2019, the Company recorded a net loss of $30,760 compared to a 
net income of $122,303 for the same period during the prior year. Some of the significant quarterly charges to operations 
for the quarter ended December 31,2019 compared with the quarter ending December 31, 2018are as follows: 
 

- Consulting fees of $13,875 (2018 - $Nil) were charged as the Company engaged consultants to assist in the 
execution of the Company’s business plan. 

- Filing fees of $9,479 (2018 - $(5,901)) includes application to the NEO exchange, and as a re-allocation of 
expenses were made during the prior year. 

- Management fees of $Nil (2018 - $(117,000)) were adjusted during the prior year for management fees by 
Bridgemark Financial Corp., a company controlled by Anthony Jackson, the former CEO and Director. 

- Office expenses of $775 (2018 – $27) was paid mainly for postage charges. 
- Professional fees of $6,631 (2018 - $571) increased as legal and accounting fees increased in an attempt to bring 

the accounting records and financial statements up to date. 
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PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 
 
There are no specific proposed transactions as at the date of this MD&A. 
 
COMMITMENTS 
 
The Company is not subject to any commitments. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 
 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make judgments, apart from 
those involving estimates, in applying accounting policies.  The most significant judgments in applying the Company’s 
financial statements include: 

 the assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether there are events or conditions 
that may give rise to significant uncertainty; and 

 the fair value of common shares issued to settle accounts payable.  
 
CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES INCLUDING INITIAL ADOPTION 
 
Accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued but have future effective 
dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS 
 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board of Directors 
approves and monitors the risk management processes, inclusive of documented investment policies, counterparty limits, 
and controlling and reporting structures. The type of risk exposure and the way in which such exposure is managed is 
provided as follows: 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party 
to incur a financial loss.  The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is on its cash held in bank accounts and 
subscription receivable. The majority of cash is deposited in bank accounts held with a major bank in Canada.  As most 
of the Company’s cash is held by one bank there is a concentration of credit risk.  This risk is managed by using major 
banks that are high credit quality financial institutions as determined by rating agencies.  Credit risk related to cash is 
assessed as low.  Subscription receivable was owed by subscribers to the Company’s private placements.  Credit risk 
related to subscription receivable was assessed as low.  
 
Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company 
has a planning and budgeting process in place to help determine the funds required to support the Company’s normal 
operating requirements on an ongoing basis. The Company ensures that there are sufficient funds to meet its short-term 
business requirements, taking into account its anticipated cash flows from operations and its holdings of cash. As of 
December 31, 2019, the Company has insufficient negative working capital of $63,975 to cover short term obligations. 
Historically, the Company's sole source of funding has been loans from related parties and private placements.  The 
Company’s access to financing is always uncertain. There can be no assurance of continued access to significant equity 
funding.  Liquidity risk is assessed as low. 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS (CONT’D) 
 
Foreign exchange risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
they are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. The Company is not exposed to 
foreign exchange risk. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.  As at December 31, 2019, the Company did not have any financial instruments subject 
to interest rate risk. 
 
Management of capital 
 
The Company's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and creditor confidence and to sustain 
future development of the business. The capital structure of the Company consists of equity and cash. There were no 
changes in the Company's approach to capital management during the period.  The Company is not subject to any 
externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA 
 
As at the date of this MD&A the Company had 13,946,023 common shares issued and outstanding.  The Company has 
no warrants and no stock options outstanding. 
 
CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Company is not aware of any contingencies or pending legal proceedings as of December 31, 2019 and as of the date 
of this report. 
 
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION 
 
Certain statements contained in this document constitute “forward-looking statements”.  Such forward-looking statements 
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance, or 
achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance, or achievements expressly 
stated or implied by such forward-looking statements.   
 
ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE FOR VENTURE COMPANIES WITHOUT SIGNIFICANT REVENUE 
 
Additional disclosure concerning the Company’s general and administrative expenses is provided in the Company’s 
statement of loss and comprehensive loss and note disclosures contained in its financial statements for the year ended 
December 31, 2019. These statements are available on SEDAR - Site accessed through www.sedar.com. 
 
DISCLAIMER      
 
The information provided in this document is not intended to be a comprehensive review of all matters concerning the 
Company.  The users of this information, including but not limited to investors and prospective investors, should read it 
in conjunction with all other disclosure documents provided including but not limited to all documents filed on SEDAR.  
No securities commission or regulatory authority has reviewed the accuracy or adequacy of the information presented 
herein. 
 
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
There is no subsequent event to report on. 
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
See Note 2 “Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies” of the audited financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2019 and the financial statements for the year ended December 30, 2018. 
 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
IFRS 16 - Leases 

The Company adopted IFRS 16 on January 1, 2019. IFRS 16 replaced IAS 17 Leases. IFRS 16 specifies how to recognize, 
measure, present and disclose leases. The standard provides a single lessee accounting model, requiring lessees to 
recognize assets and liabilities for all leases unless the lease term is 12 months or less or the underlying asset has a low 
value. IFRS 16 will result in an increase in assets and liabilities as fewer lease payments will be expensed. Management 
does not expect any impact as the Company does not have any leases. 

New accounting standards issued but not yet effective 
 
Other accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued but have future 
effective dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial 
statements. 
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1014379 B.C. Ltd. 
Management Discussion and Analysis 
For the year ended December 31, 2018 

This Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), prepared September 3, 2019 should be read 
in conjunction with the financial statements and notes thereto for the year ended December 31, 
2018 of 1014379 B.C. Ltd. (the “Company”) which were prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”).  Unless otherwise noted, all currency amounts are in Canadian 
dollars. 

This management discussion and analysis may contain forward-looking statements in respect of 
various matters including upcoming events and include without limitation, statements regarding 
discussions of the Company’s business strategy, future plans, projections, objectives, estimates and 
forecasts and statements as to management's expectations with respect to, among other things, the 
development of the Company’s project.  These forward-looking statements involve numerous risks and 
uncertainties and actual results may vary.  Important factors that may cause actual results to vary include 
without limitation, certain transactions, certain approvals, changes in commodity prices, risks inherent in 
exploration results, timing and success, inaccurate geological and metallurgical assumptions 
(including with respect to the size, grade and recoverability of mineral reserves and mineral 
resources), delays in the receipt of government approvals, and changes in general economic conditions 
or conditions in the financial markets. In making the forward-looking statements in this MD&A, the 
Company has applied several material assumptions, including without limitation, the assumptions 
that: (1) any additional financing needed will be available on reasonable terms.   

Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied 
by such forward-looking statements include, among other factors: (1) weak commodity prices and 
general metal price volatility; (2) the state of the global economy and economic and political events, 
including the deterioration of the global capital markets, affecting supply and demand and economic and 
political events affecting supply and demand; and (3) securing and the nature of regulatory permits and 
approvals and the costs of complying with environmental, health and safety laws and regulations. 

The Company cannot assure you that any of these assumptions will prove to be correct. 

The words “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “intend,” “believe,” 
“target,” “budget,” “plan,” “projection” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking 
statements. Information concerning mineral reserve and mineral resource estimates also may be 
considered forward-looking statements, as such information constitutes a prediction of what 
mineralization might be found to be present during operations or if and when an undeveloped project is 
actually developed.  

These factors should be considered carefully, and readers should not place undue reliance on the 
Company’s forward-looking statements. The Company believes that the expectations reflected in the 
forward-looking statements, including future-oriented financial information, contained in this MD&A 
and any documents incorporated by reference are reasonable, but no assurance can be given that these 
expectations will prove to be correct. In addition, although the Company has attempted to identify 
important factors that could cause actual actions, events or results to differ materially from those 
described in forward-looking statements, including future-oriented financial information, there may be 
other factors that cause actions, events, or results not to be as anticipated, estimated, or intended. The 
Company undertakes no obligation to disclose publicly any future revisions to forward-looking 
statements, including future-oriented financial information, to reflect events or circumstances after the 
date of this MD&A or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated events, except as expressly required by 
law.  

Additionally, the forward-looking statements, including future-oriented financial information, 
contained herein are presented solely for the purpose of conveying our reasonable belief of the 
direction of the Company and may not be appropriate for other purposes. 
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The results or events predicted in these forward-looking statements may differ materially from the actual 
results or events. The Company disclaims any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking 
statements, whether as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required 
under applicable securities laws. 
 
DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 
 
The Company was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on September 23, 
2014. The principal business of the Company is to identify, evaluate and then acquire an interest in a 
business or assets. The address of its head office is 810 - 789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British 
Columbia, Canada, V6C 1H2. 
 
On October 14, 2014, the Company entered into an arrangement agreement with Bravura Ventures Corp 
(“Bravura,” its former parent Company) and Nuran Wireless Inc. (“Nuran”, previously 1014372 B.C. Ltd.) 
whereby the Company will form part of a statutory plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement") to become a 
reporting issuer in the provinces of British Columbia and Alberta. The arrangement was approved 
November 14, 2014 and was completed March 11, 2015. 
 
The Company’s continuing operations, as intended, are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate and 
negotiate an acquisition of or participation in an interest in properties, assets or businesses. There can be no 
assurance that the Company will be able to complete such activities or obtain financing to continue; 
therefore, a material uncertainty exists that casts significant doubt over the Company’s ability to continue 
as a going concern. 
 
Arrangement Agreement 
 
On October 14, 2014, the Company entered into an arrangement agreement with Bravura and Nuran 
whereby the Company will form part of a statutory plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement"). Following 
completion of the Arrangement, the Company will become a reporting issuer in the provinces of British 
Columbia and Alberta.  
 
The Arrangement was approved by the shareholders at the annual and special general meeting of the 
Company held November 14, 2014 and was completed March 11, 2015.  
 
Pursuant to the Arrangement:  
 
(i) each of the issued and outstanding common shares of Bravura was exchanged for one new common 

share, one Class 1 reorganization share and one Class 2 reorganization shares of Bravura, and all of the 
common shares of Bravura outstanding prior to the Arrangement were cancelled;  

 
(ii) all Class 2 reorganization shares were transferred to the Company in exchange for common shares of 

the Company;  
 
(iii) Bravura redeemed all of the Class 2 reorganization shares and satisfied the redemption amount of such 

shares by the transfer to the Company of $45,000 of cash; and  
 
(iv) the Company completed a financing of 2,938,349 common shares for gross proceeds of $58,767.  
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SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 
 
  December 31, 

2018 
December 31, 

2017 
December 31, 

2016 
  $ $ $ 
Revenue  - - - 
Net Loss  (73,518) (77,932) (149,570) 
Basic and Diluted Loss Per Share  (0.15) (0.02) (0.03) 
Total Assets  84 1,189 10,092 
Long-Term Debt  - - - 
Dividends  - - - 

 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
Year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company reported a net loss of $73,518 (2017 - $77,932). 
The Company incurred bank charges & interest of $133 (2017 - $545), filing fees of $2,885 (2017 - $1,359), 
office expense of $Nil (2017 - $12,028), management fees of $63,000 (2017 - $60,000) and professional 
fees of $7,500 (2017 - $4,000). The decrease in expenses was due to the decreased activity during the year. 
 
Three-month period ended December 31, 2018 
 
During the three months ended December 31, 2018, the Company reported an (income)/net loss of 
$(122,303) (2017 - $31,055). The Company incurred bank charges of $27 (2017 - $27), office expense of 
$Nil (2017 - $12,028), management fees (recovery) of $(117,000) (2017 - $15,000) and professional fees 
of $571 (2017 - $4,000). The decrease in expenses was mainly due to an adjustment to reverse management 
fees during the period that had been recorded in the previous 3 quarters. 
 
SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS  
 

 
December 
31, 2018 

September 
30, 2018 

June 
30, 2018 

March 
31, 2018 

December 
31, 2017 

September 
30, 2017 

June 
30, 2017 

March 
31, 2017 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Revenue Nil Nil 
 

Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 
 

Nil 
Net income 
(loss) 

 
122,303 (60,065) (112,833) (22,923) 

 
(31,055) (15,161) (16,421) 

 
(15,295) 

Basic and 
diluted 
income (loss) 
per share 0.24 (0.12) (0.22) (0.05) (0.01) (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) 

 
 
The Company recorded a net income of $122,303, mainly because of the reversal adjustment to 
management fees, during the fourth quarter of 2018. As at December 31, 2018, the Company had cash of 
$84 (2017 - $1,189). The Company has relied on equity financing to generate liquidity. The Company has 
current liabilities of $307,340 (2017 - $234,927) and will be required to obtain continued deferral of 
payments to related parties or raise additional financing to satisfy its liabilities and to identify an interest in 
a business or assets. 
 
EQUITY 
 
The Company did not issue any shares during 2018 or 2017. 
The Company has 506,023 shares issued and outstanding as at December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
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On April 3, 2018, the Company consolidated its common shares on the basis of ten pre-consolidated 
common shares for one post-consolidated common share. The number of common shares outstanding has 
been retroactively adjusted in the financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2018 and 2017 to 
reflect the share consolidation.  
 
Share Purchase Options 
 
The Company has no stock options outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
  
Warrants 
 
The Company has no share purchase warrants outstanding at December 31, 2018 and 2017. 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis, which assumes the realization 
of assets and liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of business. Continuing operations, as 
intended, are dependent on management’s ability to raise required funding through future equity 
issuances, its ability to acquire resource property or business interests and develop profitable 
operations or a combination thereof, which is not assured, given today’s volatile and uncertain 
financial markets. The Company may revise programs depending on its working capital position.  
 
As at December 31, 2018 the Company had a negative working capital of $307,256 (December 31, 
2017 – $233,738) which primarily consisted of cash of $84 (2017 - $1,189). Current liabilities, being 
accounts payable and accrued liabilities of $307,340 (2017 – $234,927). 
 
Cash used in operating activities were $1,105 compared to cash used of $143 in 2017.  
 
There were no cash provided by or used in investing or financing activities in 2018 or 2017.  
 
Other than the above-mentioned current liabilities, the Company has no short-term capital spending 
requirements and future plans and expectations are based on the assumption that the Company will 
realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business rather than through a 
process of forced liquidation. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain 
adequate financing in the future or if available that such financing will be on acceptable terms. If 
adequate financing is not available when required, the Company may be required to delay, scale back 
or eliminate various programs and may be unable to continue in operation. The Company may seek 
such additional financing through debt or equity offerings. Any equity offering will result in dilution 
to the ownership interests of the Company’s shareholders and may result in dilution to the value of 
such interests. 
 
The Company has no assets and has no pledges as security for loans, or otherwise and is not subject 
to any debt covenants.  
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The Company has not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
 
The Directors and Executive Officers of the Company are as follows: 
 
Anthony Jackson             - Director and Chief Executive Officer (Resigned) 
Eugene Beukman            - Director and Chief Executive Officer (Newly appointed) 
Peter Nguyen                  - Chief Financial Officer (Newly appointed) 
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TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 
 
During the year ended December 31, 2018, the Company was charged $63,000 (2017 - $60,000) for 
management fees by Bridgemark Financial Corp., a company controlled by Anthony Jackson, the former 
CEO and Director. As of December 31, 2018, $286,288 (2017 - $216,173) was included in accounts payable 
and accrued liabilities owing to Anthony Jackson and companies controlled by Anthony Jackson. 
 
PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 
 
There are no specific proposed transactions as at the date of this MD&A. 
 
COMMITMENTS 
 
The Company is not subject to any commitments. 
 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS 
 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board of 
Directors approves and monitors the risk management processes, inclusive of documented investment 
policies, counterparty limits, and controlling and reporting structures. The type of risk exposure and the 
way in which such exposure is managed is provided as follows: 
 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause 
the other party to incur a financial loss.  The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is on its cash held 
in bank accounts and subscription receivable. The majority of cash is deposited in bank accounts held with 
a major bank in Canada.  As most of the Company’s cash is held by one bank there is a concentration of 
credit risk.  This risk is managed by using major banks that are high credit quality financial institutions as 
determined by rating agencies.  Credit risk related to cash is assessed as low.  Subscription receivable was 
owed by subscribers to the Company’s private placements.  Credit risk related to subscription receivable 
was assessed as low.  
 
Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Company has a planning and budgeting process in place to help determine the funds required to support 
the Company’s normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis. The Company ensures that there are 
sufficient funds to meet its short-term business requirements, taking into account its anticipated cash flows 
from operations and its holdings of cash. As of December 31, 2018, the Company has insufficient negative 
working capital of $307,256 to cover short term obligations. 
 
Historically, the Company's sole source of funding has been loans from related parties and private 
placements.  The Company’s access to financing is always uncertain. There can be no assurance of 
continued access to significant equity funding.  Liquidity risk is assessed as low. 
 
Foreign exchange risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because they are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. 
The Company is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 
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Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.  As at December 31, 2018, the Company did not have any 
financial instruments subject to interest rate risk. 
 
Management of capital 
 
The Company's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and creditor confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business. The capital structure of the Company consists of equity 
and cash. There were no changes in the Company's approach to capital management during the year.  The 
Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA 
 
As at the date of this MD&A the Company had 506,023 common shares issued and outstanding.  The Company has 
no warrants and no stock options outstanding. 
 
CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Company is not aware of any contingencies or pending legal proceedings as of December 31, 2018 and 
as of the date of this report. 
 
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION 
 
Certain statements contained in this document constitute “forward-looking statements”.  Such forward-
looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the 
actual results, performance, or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future 
results, performance, or achievements expressly stated or implied by such forward-looking statements.   
 
ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE FOR VENTURE COMPANIES WITHOUT SIGNIFICANT 
REVENUE 
 
Additional disclosure concerning the Company’s general and administrative expenses is provided in the 
Company’s statement of loss and comprehensive loss and note disclosures contained in its financial 
statements for the year ended December 31, 2018. These statements are available on SEDAR - Site accessed 
through www.sedar.com. 
 
DISCLAIMER      
 
The information provided in this document is not intended to be a comprehensive review of all matters 
concerning the Company.  The users of this information, including but not limited to investors and 
prospective investors, should read it in conjunction with all other disclosure documents provided including 
but not limited to all documents filed on SEDAR.  No securities commission or regulatory authority has 
reviewed the accuracy or adequacy of the information presented herein. 
 
SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 
There were no subsequent events. 
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CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
See Note 2 “Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies” of the audited financial statements 
for the year ended December 31, 2018. 
 
CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
 
Financial instruments 
The Company adopted all of the requirements of IFRS 9 Financial Instruments on January 1, 2018. IFRS 
9 replaces IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 utilizes a revised model 
for recognition and measurement of financial instruments in a single, forward-looking “expected loss” 
impairment model.  

The following is the Company’s new accounting policy for financial instruments under IFRS 9: 
Classification 
The Company classifies its financial instruments in the following categories: at fair value through profit 
and loss (“FVTPL”), at fair value through other comprehensive loss (“FVTOCI”) or at amortized cost.  
 
The Company determines the classification of financial assets at initial recognition. The classification of 
debt instruments is driven by the Company’s business model for managing the financial assets and their 
contractual cash flow characteristics. Equity instruments that are held for trading are classified as FVTPL. 
For other equity instruments, on the day of acquisition the Company can make an irrevocable election (on 
an instrument-by-instrument basis) to designate them as at FVTOCI.  Financial liabilities are measured at 
amortized cost, unless they are required to be measured at FVTPL (such as instruments held for trading or 
derivatives) or if the Company has opted to measure them at FVTPL. 
The Company completed a detailed assessment of its financial assets and liabilities as at January 1, 2018. 
The following table shows the original classification under IAS 39 and the new classification under IFRS 
9: 
 
Financial assets/liabilities   Original classification IAS 39  New classification IFRS 9 
Cash       FVTPL     FVTPL 
Accounts payable and accrued liabilities  Amortized cost    Amortized cost 
 
The Company did not restate prior periods as it recognized the effects of retrospective application to 
shareholders’ equity at the beginning of the 2018 annual reporting period, which also includes the date of 
initial application. The adoption of IFRS 9 resulted in no impact to the opening accumulated deficit on 
January 1, 2018.  
 
Measurement 
Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost 
Financial assets and liabilities at amortized cost are initially recognized at fair value plus or minus 
transaction costs, respectively, and subsequently carried at amortized cost less any impairment. 
 
Financial assets and liabilities at FVTPL 
Financial assets and liabilities carried at FVTPL are initially recorded at fair value and transaction costs are 
expensed in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. Realized and unrealized gains and losses arising 
from changes in the fair value of the financial assets and liabilities held at FVTPL are included in the 
statements of loss and comprehensive loss in the period in which they arise. Where management has opted 
to recognize a financial liability at FVTPL, any changes associated with the Company’s own credit risk 
will be recognized in other comprehensive loss. 
 
Financial assets through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”) 

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are measured at FVTOCI: 
- The financial asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting 
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contractual cash flows and selling financial assets; and 
- The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely 

payments of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding. 
 
The Company does not currently hold any financial instruments designated as FVTOCI. 
Equity instruments designated as FVTOCI 
On initial recognition, the Company may make an irrevocable election (on an instrument-by-instrument 
basis) to designate investments in equity instruments that would otherwise be measured at fair value through 
profit or loss to present subsequent changes in fair value in other comprehensive income. Designation at 
FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held for trading or if it is contingent consideration 
recognized by an acquirer in a business combination. Investments in equity instruments at FVTOCI are 
initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are measured at fair value with 
gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognized in other OCI. The cumulative gain or loss is 
not reclassified to profit or loss on disposal of the equity instrument, instead, it is transferred to retained 
earnings. The Company does not currently hold any equity instruments designated as FVTOCI. 

 
Impairment of financial assets at amortized cost 
The Company recognizes a loss allowance for expected credit losses on financial assets that are measured 
at amortized cost. At each reporting date, the Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset 
at an amount equal to the lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial asset has increased 
significantly since initial recognition. If at the reporting date, the financial asset has not increased 
significantly since initial recognition, the Company measures the loss allowance for the financial asset at 
an amount equal to the twelve month expected credit losses. The Company shall recognize in the statements 
of comprehensive loss, as an impairment gain or loss, the amount of expected credit losses (or reversal) that 
is required to adjust the loss allowance at the reporting date to the amount that is required to be recognized. 

 
Derecognition 
Financial assets 
The Company derecognizes financial assets only when the contractual rights to cash flows from the 
financial assets expire, or when it transfers the financial assets and substantially all of the associated risks 
and rewards of ownership to another entity. Gains and losses on derecognition are generally recognized in 
the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 
Financial liabilities 
The Company derecognizes financial liabilities only when its obligations under the financial liabilities are 
discharged, cancelled or expired. Generally, the difference between the carrying amount of the financial 
liability derecognized and the consideration paid and payable, including any non-cash assets transferred or 
liabilities assumed, is recognized in the statements of loss and comprehensive loss. 
Fair value hierarchy 
 
Fair value measurements of financial instruments are required to be classified using a fair value hierarchy 
that reflects the significance of inputs used in making the measurements. The levels of the fair value 
hierarchy are defined as follows: 

 
Level 1 - Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities;  
Level 2 - Inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, 
either directly or indirectly; and 
Level 3 - Inputs for assets or liabilities that are not based on observable market data. 
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New accounting standards issued but not yet effective 
 

IFRS 16 – Leases (“IFRS 16”) establishes principles for the recognition, measurement, presentation and 
disclosure of leases, with the objective of ensuring that lessees and lessors provide relevant information that 
faithfully represents those transactions. IFRS 16 substantially carries forward the lessor accounting 
requirements in IAS 17. Accordingly, a lessor continues to classify its leases as operating leases or finance 
leases, and to account for those two types of leases differently. However, lessees are no longer classifying  
 
leases as either operating leases or finance leases as it is required by IAS 17 - Leases. The standard is 
effective for the Company’s annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019.  The Company has not 
early adopted this new standard and does not expect it to have a material effect on the Company’s future 
results and financial operations. 

 
Other accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued but have 
future effective dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the 
Company’s financial statements. 



SCHEDULE “H” 

 MD&A OF THE COMPANY  
FOR THE SIX-MONTH PERIOD ENDED JUNE 30, 2020



 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

1014379 B.C. Ltd. 

 

Management Discussion and Analysis 

 

For the six months ended June 30, 2020 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 



1014379 B.C. Ltd.  

Management Discussion and Analysis 

For the six-month period ended June 30, 2020 

2 
 

 
This management's discussion and analysis (“MD&A”) provides an analysis of our financial situation which will enable 
the reader to evaluate important variations in our financial situation for the six months ended June 30, 2020, compared to 
the six months ended June 30, 2019. This report prepared as at August 13, 2020 intends to complement and supplement 
our condensed interim financial statements (the “financial statements”) as at June 30, 2020 which have been prepared in 
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and in accordance with International Accounting Standards 
(“IAS”) 34, Interim Financial Reporting, as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and should 
be read in conjunction with the condensed interim financial statements and the accompanying notes. Readers are also 
advised to read the Company’s audited financial statements (the “financial statements”) and accompanying notes for the 
year ended December 31, 2019, (the “financial statements”), which have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards.   
 
Our financial statements and the management's discussion and analysis are intended to provide a reasonable base for the 
investor to evaluate our financial situation. 
 
Our financial statements have been prepared using accounting policies consistent with International Financial Reporting 
Standards (“IFRS”). All dollar amounts contained in this MD&A are expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise 
specified. 
 
Where we say “we”, “us”, “our”, the “Company” or “numbered company”, we mean 1014379 B.C. Ltd., as it may apply.  

 

This management discussion and analysis may contain forward-looking statements in respect of various matters including 
upcoming events and include without limitation, statements regarding discussions of the Company’s business strategy, 
future plans, projections, objectives, estimates and forecasts and statements as to management's expectations with respect 
to, among other things, the development of the Company’s project.  These forward-looking statements involve numerous 
risks and uncertainties and actual results may vary.  Important factors that may cause actual results to vary include without 
limitation, certain transactions, certain approvals, changes in commodity prices, risks inherent in exploration results, 
timing and success, inaccurate geological and metallurgical assumptions (including with respect to the size, grade and 
recoverability of mineral reserves and mineral resources), delays in the receipt of government approvals, and changes in 
general economic conditions or conditions in the financial markets. In making the forward-looking statements in this 
MD&A, the Company has applied several material assumptions, including without limitation, the assumptions that: (1) 
any additional financing needed will be available on reasonable terms.   
 
Additional factors that could cause actual results to differ materially from those expressed or implied by such forward-
looking statements include, among other factors: (1) weak commodity prices and general metal price volatility; (2) the 
state of the global economy and economic and political events, including the deterioration of the global capital markets, 
affecting supply and demand and economic and political events affecting supply and demand; and (3) securing and the 
nature of regulatory permits and approvals and the costs of complying with environmental, health and safety laws and 
regulations. 
 
The Company cannot assure you that any of these assumptions will prove to be correct. 
 
The words “expect,” “anticipate,” “estimate,” “may,” “will,” “should,” “intend,” “believe,” “target,” “budget,” “plan,” 
“projection” and similar expressions are intended to identify forward-looking statements. Information concerning mineral 
reserve and mineral resource estimates also may be considered forward-looking statements, as such information 
constitutes a prediction of what mineralization might be found to be present during operations or if and when an 
undeveloped project is actually developed.  

These factors should be considered carefully, and readers should not place undue reliance on the Company’s forward-
looking statements. The Company believes that the expectations reflected in the forward-looking statements, including 
future-oriented financial information, contained in this MD&A and any documents incorporated by reference are 
reasonable, but no assurance can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct. In addition, although the 
Company has attempted to identify important factors that could cause actual actions, events or results to differ materially 
from those described in forward-looking statements, including future-oriented financial information, there may be other 
factors that cause actions, events, or results not to be as anticipated, estimated, or intended. The Company undertakes no 
obligation to disclose publicly any future revisions to forward-looking statements, including future-oriented financial  
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information, to reflect events or circumstances after the date of this MD&A or to reflect the occurrence of unanticipated 
events, except as expressly required by law.  

Additionally, the forward-looking statements, including future-oriented financial information, contained herein are 
presented solely for the purpose of conveying our reasonable belief of the direction of the Company and may not be 
appropriate for other purposes. 

The results or events predicted in these forward-looking statements may differ materially from the actual results or events. 
The Company disclaims any obligation to update or revise any forward-looking statements, whether as a result of new 
information, future events or otherwise, except as may be required under applicable securities laws. 

OVERALL PERFORMANCE 

The Company was incorporated under the Business Corporations Act (British Columbia) on September 23, 2014. The 
principal business of the Company is to identify, evaluate and then acquire an interest in a business or assets. The address 
of its head office is 810 - 789 West Pender Street, Vancouver, British Columbia, Canada, V6C 1H2. 

On May 08, 2020, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement consisting of 2,040,000 shares at $0.025 
per share, for gross proceeds of $51,000. In connection with the private placement, the Company paid a cash finder’s fee 
of $1,455 to PI Financial Corp. 

On November 21, 2019, pursuant to debt settlement agreements, the Company issued 13,440,000 common shares with a 
fair value of $336,000 to certain creditors of the Company, including a company controlled by a director of the Company, 
to settle accounts payable of $336,000.  

On October 14, 2014, the Company entered into an arrangement agreement with Bravura Ventures Corp (“Bravura,” its 
former parent Company) and Nuran Wireless Inc. (“Nuran”, previously 1014372 B.C. Ltd.) whereby the Company will 
form part of a statutory plan of arrangement (the "Arrangement") to become a reporting issuer in the provinces of British 
Columbia and Alberta. The arrangement was approved November 14, 2014 and was completed March 11, 2015. 

The Company has addressed all of the outstanding filing deficiencies and brought its continuous disclosure records on 

SEDAR up to date. As a condition of receiving the revocation order, the Company has provided the BCSC with an 

undertaking to hold its annual shareholders’ meeting within three months the CTO is revoked. 

On May 6, 2019, a cease trade order (“CTO”) was issued by the British Columbia Securities Commission (the “BCSC”), 

as a result of the failure of the Company, under its previous management, to file annual financial statements and related 
management’s discussion and analysis within the required time. On November 7, 2019, the CTO has been revoked. The 
Company has addressed all of the outstanding filing deficiencies and brought its continuous disclosure records on SEDAR 
up to date. As a condition of receiving the revocation order, the Company has provided the BCSC with an undertaking to 
hold its annual shareholders’ meeting within three months from November 7, 2019. 

The Company’s continuing operations, as intended, are dependent upon its ability to identify, evaluate and negotiate an 
acquisition of or participation in an interest in properties, assets or businesses. There can be no assurance that the 
Company will be able to complete such activities or obtain financing to continue; therefore, a material uncertainty exists 
that casts significant doubt over the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. 

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

 

Six-months ended June 30, 2020 and 2019 

 

During the six months ended June 30, 2020, the Company had no revenue (2019 - $Nil), reported a net loss of $57,585 
(2019 - $35,745). The Company incurred consulting fees of $17,401(2019 - $Nil), filing fees of $4,857 (2019 - $1,969), 
management fees of $Nil (2019 - $31,500), Marketing fees of $12,500 (2019 - $Nil0, office expenses of $163 (2019 - 
$54), and professional fees of $22,664 (2019 - $2,222). The increase in expenses was due to the increased activity, mainly 
in accounting expenses incurred to maintain the good standing and a decrease in management fees during the period. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS (Continued) 

 
Some of the significant charges to operations are as follows: 
 

- Consulting fees of $17,401 (2019 - $Nil) Corporate fees were charged as the Company engaged consultants to 
assist in the execution of the Company’s business plan. 

- Filing fees of $4,857 (2019 - $1,969) as the Company is keeping its filing up to date. 
- Management fees of $Nil (2019 - $31,500) were charged for management fees by Bridgemark Financial Corp., 

a company controlled by Anthony Jackson, the former CEO and Director.  
- Marketing fees of $12,500 (2019 - $Nil) paid to a marketing company. 
- Office expenses of $163 (2019 – $54) was paid mainly for bank charges. 
- Professional fees of $22,664 (2019 - $2,222) increased as legal and accounting fees increased in an attempt to 

maintain the accounting records and financial statements up to date. 
 

Cash flow analysis 

Operating Activities 

During the six-month periods ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, cash used in operating activities was $29,928 and (2019 – 
$54) respectively for activities as described above. 

Investing activities 

During the six-month periods ended June 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company did not use or generate any cash from investing 
activities. 

Financing activities 

During the three-months periods ended June 30, 2020, the Company received $89,153 (2019 - $Nil) from financing 
activities. The amount received from financing activities comprised of $49,545 net received from a non-brokered private 
placement,  $17,803 received from loans and $21,805 from subscriptions received. 

 

SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 

 

 
June 

30, 2020 

March 

31, 2020 

December 

31, 2019 

September 

30, 2019 

June 

30, 2019 

March 

31, 2019 

December 

31, 2018 

September 

30, 2018 

 $ $ $ $ $ $ $ $ 

Revenue 
 
Nil Nil Nil Nil Nil 

 
Nil Nil Nil 

Net income 
(loss) (29,505) (28,080) 

 
(30,760) (25,916) (17,728) 

 
(18,017) 

 
122,303 (60,065) 

Basic and 
diluted income 
(loss) per share (0.00) (0.00) (0.00) (0.05) (0.04) (0.04) 0.24 (0.12) 

 

As at December 31, 2018, the Company recorded a net income of $122,303, mainly because of the reversal adjustment 
to management fees, during the fourth quarter of 2018. As at March 31, 2020, the Company had cash of $5,835 (2019 - 
$298). The Company has relied on funds from related parties to generate liquidity. The Company has current liabilities 
of $109,435 (2019 - $63,975) and will be required to obtain continued deferral of payments to related parties or raise 
additional financing to satisfy its liabilities and to identify an interest in a business or assets. 
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EQUITY 

 
At June 30, 2020 there were 15,986,023 (December 31, 2019 – 13,946,023) issued and fully paid common shares 
outstanding.  
 
On May 08, 2020, the Company completed a non-brokered private placement consisting of 2,040,000 shares at $0.025 
per share, for gross proceeds of $51,000. In connection with the private placement, the Company paid a cash finder’s fee 
of $1,455 to PI Financial Corp. 
 
On November 21, 2019, pursuant to debt settlement agreements, the Company issued 13,440,000 common shares with a 
fair value of $336,000 to certain creditors of the Company, including a company controlled by a director of the Company, 
to settle accounts payable of $336,000. No gains or losses have been recorded on the settlement of debt. Of the $336,000 
accounts payable settled, $301,500 was owed to companies controlled by the former CEO, CFO and Director of the 
Company. Prior to entering into debt settlement agreements, the accounts payable of $301,500 was assigned to various 
arms-length creditors. After the debt was assigned, the Company issued common shares to settle the debt to these arms-
length creditors.  
 
Share Purchase Options 
 
The Company has no stock options outstanding at June 30, 2020 (December 31, 2019). 
  
Warrants 
 
The Company has no share purchase warrants outstanding at June 30, 2020 (December 31, 2019). 
 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis, which assumes the realization of assets and 
liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of business. Continuing operations, as intended, are dependent on 
management’s ability to raise required funding through future equity issuances, its ability to acquire resource property or 
business interests and develop profitable operations or a combination thereof, which is not assured, given today’s volatile 
and uncertain financial markets. The Company may revise programs depending on its working capital position.  
 
As at June 30, 2020 the Company had a negative working capital of $49,912 (December 31, 2019 – $63,677) which 
primarily consisted of cash of $59,523 (December 31, 2019 - $298). Current liabilities, being accounts payable and 
accrued liabilities of $109,435 (December 31, 2019 – $63,975). 
 
Cash used in operating activities were $29,928 compared to cash used of $54 for the same quarter in the prior year..  
 
There were no cash provided by or used in investing activities during the six-month periods ended in June 30, 2020 and 
June 30, 2019. 
 
Cash provided by financing activities were $89,153 ($Nil) for the six-months periods ended June 30, 2020 and 2019.  
 
Other than the above-mentioned current liabilities, the Company has no short-term capital spending requirements and 
future plans and expectations are based on the assumption that the Company will realize its assets and discharge its 
liabilities in the normal course of business rather than through a process of forced liquidation. There can be no assurance 
that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the future or if available that such financing will be on 
acceptable terms. If adequate financing is not available when required, the Company may be required to delay, scale back 
or eliminate various programs and may be unable to continue in operation. The Company may seek such additional 
financing through debt or equity offerings. Any equity offering will result in dilution to the ownership interests of the 
Company’s shareholders and may result in dilution to the value of such interests.  
 
The Company has no assets and has no pledges as security for loans, or otherwise and is not subject to any debt covenants.  
 
Historically, the Company's sole source of funding has been loans from related parties and private placements.  The 
Company’s access to financing is always uncertain. There can be no assurance of continued access to significant equity 
funding.  Liquidity risk is assessed as low. 
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OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 

 
The Company has not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements. 

 

DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 

 
The Directors and Executive Officers of the Company are as follows: 
 
Eugene Beukman            - Director and Chief Executive Officer, member of the audit committee (Newly appointed) 
Joel Dumaresq                - Director, member of the audit committee (Newly appointed) 
Alexander Somjen          - Director, member of the audit committee (Newly appointed) 
Peter Nguyen                  - Chief Financial Officer (Newly appointed) 
Anthony Jackson            - Former Director and Chief Executive Officer (Resigned) 

 

TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

 
During the six-months period ended June 30, 2020, the Company was charged $Nil (2019 - $15,750) for management 
fees by Bridgemark Financial Corp., a company controlled by Anthony Jackson, the former CEO and Director. An amount 
of $31,350 accounting and consulting fees was charged by a company controlled by a director of the Company.  
 
As at June 30, 2020, $13,288 (December 31, 2019 - $13,288) was included in accounts payable and accrued liabilities 
owing to Anthony Jackson and companies controlled by Anthony Jackson.  
 
As at June 30, 2020, there was $86,018 (December 31, 2019 - $38,215) included in accounts payable owing to a company 
controlled by a director of the Company.  The balances are unsecured, payable on demand and non-interest bearing. 
 
On November 21, 2019, pursuant to debt settlement agreements (Note 4), the Company issued 1,260,000 common shares 
to a company controlled by a director of the Company to settle accounts payable of $31,500. No gains or losses have 
been recorded on the settlement of debt.  
 

PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 

 
There are no specific proposed transactions as at the date of this MD&A. 
 

COMMITMENTS 

 
The Company is not subject to any commitments. 
 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES 

 
The preparation of financial statements in accordance with IFRS requires the Company to make judgments, apart from 
those involving estimates, in applying accounting policies.  The most significant judgments in applying the Company’s 
financial statements include: 

 the assessment of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and whether there are events or conditions 

that may give rise to significant uncertainty; and 

 the fair value of common shares issued to settle accounts payable.  

 

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES INCLUDING INITIAL ADOPTION 

 
Accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued but have future effective 
dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial statements. 
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FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS 

 
The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board of Directors 
approves and monitors the risk management processes, inclusive of documented investment policies, counterparty limits, 
and controlling and reporting structures. The type of risk exposure and the way in which such exposure is managed is 
provided as follows: 
 

Credit risk 

 
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation and cause the other party 
to incur a financial loss.  The Company’s primary exposure to credit risk is on its cash held in bank accounts and 
subscription receivable. The majority of cash is deposited in bank accounts held with a major bank in Canada.  As most 
of the Company’s cash is held by one bank there is a concentration of credit risk.  This risk is managed by using major 
banks that are high credit quality financial institutions as determined by rating agencies.  Credit risk related to cash is 
assessed as low.  Subscription receivable was owed by subscribers to the Company’s private placements.  Credit risk 
related to subscription receivable was assessed as low.  
 

Liquidity risk  

 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Company 
has a planning and budgeting process in place to help determine the funds required to support the Company’s normal 
operating requirements on an ongoing basis. The Company ensures that there are sufficient funds to meet its short-term 
business requirements, taking into account its anticipated cash flows from operations and its holdings of cash. As of 
March 31, 2020, the Company has insufficient negative working capital of $91,757 to cover short term obligations. 
 
Historically, the Company's sole source of funding has been loans from related parties and private placements.  The 
Company’s access to financing is always uncertain. There can be no assurance of continued access to significant equity 
funding.  Liquidity risk is assessed as low. 
 

Foreign exchange risk 

 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because 
they are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. The Company is not exposed to 
foreign exchange risk. 
 

Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of 
changes in market interest rates.  As at June 30, 2020, the Company did not have any financial instruments subject to 
interest rate risk. 

 

Management of capital 

 
The Company's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and creditor confidence and to sustain 
future development of the business. The capital structure of the Company consists of equity and cash. There were no 
changes in the Company's approach to capital management during the period.  The Company is not subject to any 
externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

OUTSTANDING SHARE DATA 

 

As at the date of this MD&A the Company had 15,986,023 common shares issued and outstanding.  The Company has 
no warrants and no stock options outstanding. 
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CONTINGENCIES 

 
The Company is not aware of any contingencies or pending legal proceedings as of June 30, 2020 and as of the date of 
this report. 
 

CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION 

 
Certain statements contained in this document constitute “forward-looking statements”.  Such forward-looking statements 
involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the actual results, performance, or 
achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future results, performance, or achievements expressly 
stated or implied by such forward-looking statements.   
 

ADDITIONAL DISCLOSURE FOR VENTURE COMPANIES WITHOUT SIGNIFICANT REVENUE 

 
Additional disclosure concerning the Company’s general and administrative expenses is provided in the Company’s 
statement of loss and comprehensive loss and note disclosures contained in its condensed interim financial statements for 
the three-month period ended March 31, 2020. These statements are available on SEDAR - Site accessed through 
www.sedar.com. 

 

DISCLAIMER      
 
The information provided in this document is not intended to be a comprehensive review of all matters concerning the 
Company.  The users of this information, including but not limited to investors and prospective investors, should read it 
in conjunction with all other disclosure documents provided including but not limited to all documents filed on SEDAR.  
No securities commission or regulatory authority has reviewed the accuracy or adequacy of the information presented 
herein. 

 

SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

 
There is no subsequent event to report on. 
 

CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 
See Note 2 “Basis of Presentation and Significant Accounting Policies” of the audited financial statements for the year 
ended December 31, 2019 and the financial statements for the year ended December 30, 2018. 

 

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

 

New accounting standards issued but not yet effective 
 
Other accounting standards or amendments to existing accounting standards that have been issued but have future 
effective dates are either not applicable or are not expected to have a significant impact on the Company’s financial 
statements. 
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Dated: November 23, 2020 
 
This management's discussion and analysis provides an analysis of our financial situation which will enable 
the reader to evaluate important variations in our financial situation for the period from incorporation on 
March 11, 2020 to August 31, 2020. This report prepared as at November 23, 2020 intends to complement 
and supplement our financial statements (the “Financial Statements”) as at August 31, 2020, which have 
been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards issued by the International 
Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and should be read in conjunction with the financial statements and 
the accompanying notes.  
 
Our financial statements and the management's discussion and analysis are intended to provide a reasonable 
base for the investor to evaluate our financial situation. 
 
All dollar amounts contained in this MD&A are expressed in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise specified. 
 
Where we say “we”, “us”, “our”, the “Company” we mean Captios LLC., as it may apply.  
 
OVERVIEW  
 
Captios, LLC is a Delaware Limited Liability Company (the “Company” or “Captios”) formed on March 11, 
2020 under the Limited Liability Company Act of the State of Delaware. 
 
The business of Captios is comprised of the delivery of a SaaS-based supply chain execution and 
sustainability platform to enterprise customers in the pharmaceutical, healthcare and agricultural industries, 
and is known as SpotLite360. By leveraging IoT technologies, blockchain, machine learning and analytics, 
SpotLite360 is uniquely positioned to meet customer needs for supply chain execution,  tracing, tracking, 
and sustainability. Customers will benefit by realizing improved visibility, a reduction in loss and theft, 
increased supply chain velocity, labor efficiency, improves asset utilization, and support of their global 
sustainability initiatives. 
 
 
Management is responsible for the preparation and integrity of the financial statements, including the 
maintenance of appropriate information systems, procedures and internal controls. Management is also 
responsible for ensuring that information disclosed externally, including condensed interim financial 
statements and Management Discussion and Analysis (“MD&A”), is complete and reliable. 
 
This discussion contains forward-looking statements that involve risks and uncertainties. Such information, 
although considered to be reasonable by the Company’s management at the time of preparation, may prove 
to be inaccurate and actual results may differ materially from those anticipated in the statements made.   
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DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS 

BUSINESS DEVELOPMENT 

• On July 6, 2020 Captios signed a software licensing agreement with TrackX for the worldwide non-
exclusive use of TrackX’s software for the authorized industries. The authorized industries are the 
pharmaceutical, healthcare agriculture industries. The Company intends to focus on the 
pharmaceutical and healthcare industries initially.  
 

• During the period ended August 31, 2020, the Company issued 9,700,000 ordinary  shares to the 
directors of the Company for gross proceeds of $190,000. 

 
• During the period ended August 31, 2020, the Company issued 300,000 ordinary shares pursuant to 

the shares for debt for gross proceeds of $20,000. 
 

• Subsequent to the year end, the Company issued 100,000 ordinary shares for gross proceeds of 
$11,194 pursuant to contribution to Company’s paid-in capital. 
 

• Pursuant to debt settlement agreements dated November 1, 2020, the Company issued 10,000,000 
ordinary shares to settle accounts payable of $298,669. 
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SELECTED ANNUAL INFORMATION 
 
A summary of selected annual financial information for the last three fiscal years is as follows, as expressed 
in Canadian dollars, and in accordance with IFRS: 
 

  For the period from 
incorporation on March 11, 

2020 to August 31, 2020 
$ 

Total assets  473,871 
Total long-term financial liabilities  - 
Net loss and comprehensive loss  (399,558) 

 
The Company was incorporated on March 11, 2020, therefore there are no comparative period numbers prior 
to this date. 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

The Company recorded net loss of $399,558 for the period ended August 31, 2020. The Company was 
incepted on March 11, 2020 and thus, there is no comparative period. Some of the significant charges to 
operations are as follows: 

- The Company incurred financial consulting fees of $248,335 in relation to the general financial 
consulting fees. The Company relies heavily on consultants to help them achieve their goals on 
all facets of business. Consultants include Management, Advisors, Technical Support and other 
support roles. 

- The Company incurred research and development fees of $80,000 in relation to the engineering 
and development of the software.  

- The Company incurred sales and marketing fee of $60,000 in relation to the general sales and 
marketing fees.  

 
  

  

  

For the period 
from 

incorporation on 
March 11, 2020 

to August 31, 
2020 

$ 
   
EXPENSES   
    Amortization  6,372 
    Consulting   248,335 
    General and administrative  647 
    Interest  2,418 
    Professional fees  1,786 
Research and development   80,000 
    Sales and marketing  60,000 
Loss and comprehensive loss for the period  (399,558) 
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SUMMARY OF QUARTERLY RESULTS 
 
The table below presents selected financial data for the Company’s eight most recently completed quarters, 
all prepared in accordance with IFRS.  
 

  August 31,  
  2020 
  $  
Deficit and Cash Flow    
Net loss   399,558 
Basic and diluted loss per share  (0.04) 
Balance Sheet   
Total Assets  473,871 

 
There are no general trends regarding the Company’s quarterly results and the Company’s business is not 
seasonal, as it can develop and progress on a year-round basis (funding permitting). Quarterly results may 
vary significantly depending mainly on whether the Company has engaged in new activities or abandoned 
any projects and these factors which may account for material variations in the Company’s quarterly net 
income (losses) are not predictable. The Company was incepted on March 11, 2020, and as such, there are 
no comparative quarters. 
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LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
The financial statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis, which assumes the realization of 
assets and liquidation of liabilities in the normal course of business. Continuing operations, as intended, are 
dependent on management’s ability to raise required funding through future equity issuances, its ability to 
acquire resource property or business interests and develop profitable operations or a combination thereof, 
which is not assured, given today’s volatile and uncertain financial markets. The Company may revise 
programs depending on its working capital position.  
 
As at August 31, 2020, the Company had a working capital deficiency of $473,904 which primarily consisted 
of cash of $41,575, investment of $72,950, and loan receivable of $75,000. Current liabilities, being accounts 
payable and accrued liabilities of $370,293 and software license liability of $293,136. 
 
Cash used in operating activities were $475 The Company was incepted on March 11, 2020 and incurred 
minimal activity during the period ended August 31, 2020.  
 
Cash used in investing activities were $147,950, which comprises of acquiring marketable securities and 
advances for investment purposes. 
 
Cash provided by financing activities were $190,000. The fluctuation relates to common shares being issued 
pursuant to shareholder’s contribution to Company’s paid-in capital. 
 
Other than the above-mentioned current liabilities, the Company has no short-term capital spending 
requirements and future plans and expectations are based on the assumption that the Company will realize 
its assets and discharge its liabilities in the normal course of business rather than through a process of forced 
liquidation. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to obtain adequate financing in the 
future or if available that such financing will be on acceptable terms. If adequate financing is not available 
when required, the Company may be required to delay, scale back or eliminate various programs and may be 
unable to continue in operation. The Company may seek such additional financing through debt or equity 
offerings. Any equity offering will result in dilution to the ownership interests of the Company’s shareholders 
and may result in dilution to the value of such interests. 
 
OFF-BALANCE SHEET ARRANGEMENTS 
 
The Company has not entered into any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
 
TRANSACTIONS WITH RELATED PARTIES 

The Executive Officers and Directors of the Company are as follows: 
James Greenwell  President, CEO 
Gene McConnell  CFO 
 

Key management compensation consists of the following: 

 

  

August 31, 
2020 

$ 
Consulting paid or accrued to a company controlled by an Officer of the 
Company  35,000 
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PROPOSED TRANSACTIONS 
 
On June 21, 2020, the Company entered into a share exchange agreement dated as of June 21, 2020, with 
1014379 B.C. Ltd. (the “Share Exchange Agreement”). Pursuant to the Share Exchange Agreement, the 
Company agreed to sell 10,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company to 1014379 B.C. Ltd. (the 
“Acquisition”). As consideration for the sale of the 10,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company 1014379 
B.C. Ltd has agreed to:  

• issue to the Company an aggregate of 10,000,000 Common Shares; and  
• issue an additional 10,000,000 Common Shares (the “Debt Settlement Shares”) to settle all 

outstanding debt of the Company. A condition of Closing includes, among other things, that the 
Common Shares will have been approved for listing on the CSE. 

 
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS AND RISKS 

The Company is exposed in varying degrees to a variety of financial instrument related risks. The Board of 
Directors approves and monitors the risk management processes, inclusive of documented investment 
policies, counterparty limits, and controlling and reporting structures. The type of risk exposure and the way 
in which such exposure is managed is provided as follows: 
Credit risk 
 
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet 
its payment obligations. The Company’s exposure to credit risk is limited to its cash balances. The risk 
exposure is limited to the carrying amounts at the statement of financial position dates. 
 
The Company’s cash balances are held in accounts at a major Canadian financial institution. The credit risk 
associated with cash is mitigated, as cash is held at major institutions with high credit ratings. 
 
Liquidity risk  
 
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. 
The Company has a planning and budgeting process in place to help determine the funds required to support 
the Company’s normal operating requirements on an ongoing basis. The Company ensures that there are 
sufficient funds to meet its short-term business requirements, taking into account its anticipated cash flows 
from operations and its holdings of cash. As of August 31, 2020, the Company had working capital deficit 
of $473,904 to cover short term obligations.  
 
Historically, the Company's sole source of funding has been loans from related parties and private 
placements.  The Company’s access to financing is always uncertain. There can be no assurance of continued 
access to significant equity funding.  Liquidity risk is assessed as low. 
 
Foreign exchange risk 
 
Foreign currency risk is the risk that the fair values of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because they are denominated in currencies that differ from the respective functional currency. The Company 
is not exposed to foreign exchange risk. 
 
Interest rate risk 
 
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates.  As at August 31, 2020, the Company did not have any financial 
instruments subject to interest rate risk. 
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Management of capital 
 
The Company's policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor and creditor confidence 
and to sustain future development of the business. The capital structure of the Company consists of equity 
and cash. There were no changes in the Company's approach to capital management during the year.  The 
Company is not subject to any externally imposed capital requirements. 
 
ADDITIONAL SHARE INFORMATION 
 
As at the date of this MD&A, the Company had 20,100,000 common shares issued and outstanding.   
 
CONTINGENCIES 
 
The Company is not aware of any contingencies or pending legal proceedings as of August 31, 2020 and as 
of the date of this report. 
 
CAUTIONARY STATEMENT ON FORWARD LOOKING INFORMATION 
 
Certain statements contained in this document constitute “forward-looking statements”.  Such forward-
looking statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors which may cause the 
actual results, performance, or achievements of the Company to be materially different from any future 
results, performance, or achievements expressly stated or implied by such forward-looking statements.   
 
DISCLAIMER      
 
The information provided in this document is not intended to be a comprehensive review of all matters 
concerning the Company.  The users of this information, including but not limited to investors and 
prospective investors, should read it in conjunction with all other disclosure documents provided including 
but not limited to all documents filed on SEDAR.  No securities commission or regulatory authority has 
reviewed the accuracy or adequacy of the information presented herein. 
 
RISK FACTORS 
 
The following are certain risk factors relating to the business carried on by the Company that prospective 
holders of Shares should carefully consider.  
 
Risk Factors Associated with the Company’s Business 

The following are certain risk factors relating to the business carried on by the Company that prospective 
holders of Shares should carefully consider. 

Limited Operating History  

The Company has limited operating history. The Company and its business prospects must be viewed against 
the background of the risks, expenses and problems frequently encountered by companies in the early stages 
of their development, particularly companies in new and rapidly evolving markets such as the blockchain 
and business intelligence markets. There is no certainty that the Company will operate profitably. 

No Profits to Date  

The Company has not made profits since its incorporation and it may not be profitable for the foreseeable 
future. Its future profitability will, in particular, depend upon its success in developing its database solution 
and to the extent to which it is able to generate significant revenues. Because of the limited operating history 
and the uncertainties regarding the development of blockchain technology, management does not believe that 
the operating results to date should be regarded as indicators for the Company’s future performance. 

Going Concern Assumption  
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The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with IFRS on a going concern 
basis, which presumes that the Company will be able to realize its assets and discharge its liabilities in the 
normal course of business for the foreseeable future. The Company’s continuation as a “going concern” is 
uncertain and is dependent upon, amongst other things, attaining a satisfactory revenue level, the support of 
its customers, its ability to continue profitable operations, the generation of cash from operations, and its 
ability to obtain financing arrangements and capital in the future. These material uncertainties represent risks 
to the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern and realize its assets and pay its liabilities as they 
become due. If the “going concern” assumption was not appropriate for the financial statements, then 
adjustments would be necessary to the carrying values of assets and liabilities, the reported expenses and the 
balance sheet classifications used. Such adjustments could be material. 

Additional Requirements for Capital  

Substantial additional financing may be required if the Company is to successfully develop its supply chain 
management business. No assurances can be given that the Company will be able to raise the additional 
capital that it may require for its anticipated future development. Any additional equity financing may be 
dilutive to investors and debt financing, if available, may involve restrictions on financing and operating 
activities. There is no assurance that additional financing will be available on terms acceptable to the 
Company, if at all. If the Company is unable to obtain additional financing as needed, it may be required to 
reduce the scope of its operations or anticipated expansion. 

Expenses May Not Align With Revenues  

Unexpected events may materially harm the Company’s ability to align incurred expenses with recognized 
revenues. The Company incurs operating expenses based upon anticipated revenue trends. Since a high 
percentage of these expenses may be relatively fixed, a delay in recognizing revenues from transactions 
related to these expenses (such a delay may be due to the factors described elsewhere in this risk factor section 
or it may be due to other factors) could cause significant variations in operating results from quarter to quarter, 
and such a delay could materially reduce operating income. If these expenses are not subsequently matched 
by revenues, the Company’s business, financial condition, or results of operations could be materially and 
adversely affected. 

Market Acceptance  

If the Company’s supply chain solution does not gain market acceptance, its operating results may be 
negatively affected. If the markets for the Company’s solution fail to develop, develop more slowly than 
expected or become subject to increased competition, its business may suffer. As a result, the Company may 
be unable to: (i) successfully market its solution; (ii) develop new products or services; or (ii) complete new 
products and services currently under development. If the Company’s solution is not accepted by its 
customers or by other businesses in the marketplace, the Company’s business, operating results and financial 
condition will be materially affected. 

Global Financial Developments  

Stress in the global financial system may adversely affect the Company’s finances and operations in ways 
that may be hard to predict or to defend against. Financial developments seemingly unrelated to the Company 
or to its industry may adversely affect the Company over the course of time. For example, material increases 
in any applicable interest rate benchmarks may increase the debt payment costs for any credit facilities. Credit 
contraction in financial markets may hurt its ability to access credit in the event that the Company identifies 
an acquisition opportunity or require significant access to credit for other reasons. A reduction in credit, 
combined with reduced economic activity, may adversely affect business. Any of these events, or any other 
events caused by turmoil in 36 world financial markets, may have a material adverse effect on the Company 
business, operating results, and financial condition. 

Compliance with Complex Domestic and Foreign Laws  
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The Company is subject to a variety of laws and regulations in the United States and abroad that involve 
matters central to its business, including user privacy, data protection, intellectual property, distribution, 
contracts and other communications, consumer protection, and taxation. Foreign laws and regulations are 
often more restrictive than those in the United States. These US federal and state and foreign laws and 
regulations are constantly evolving and can be subject to significant change. In addition, the application and 
interpretation of these laws and regulations are often uncertain, particularly in the new and rapidly evolving 
industry in which the Company operates. Existing and proposed laws and regulations can be and may be 
costly to comply with and can delay or impede the development of new products, result in negative publicity, 
increase the Company’s operating costs, require significant management time and attention, and subject the 
Company to claims or other remedies, including fines or demands that the Company modify or cease existing 
business practices. 

Regulatory Risks  

Changes in or more aggressive enforcement of laws and regulations could adversely impact the Company’s 
business. Failure or delays in obtaining necessary approvals could have a materially adverse effect on the 
Company’s financial condition and results of operations. Furthermore, changes in government, regulations 
and policies and practices could have an adverse impact on the Company’s future cash flows, earnings, results 
of operations and financial condition. Regulatory agencies could shut down or restrict the use of platforms 
using blockchain based technologies. This could lead to a loss of any investment made in the Company and 
may trigger regulatory action by the OSC or other securities regulators. 

Dependence on Internet Infrastructure; Risk of System Failures, Security Risks and Rapid 
Technological Change  

The success as a developer of blockchain-based platforms will depend by and large upon the continued 
development of a stable public infrastructure, with the necessary speed, data capacity and security, and the 
timely development of complementary products such as high-speed modems for providing reliable internet 
access and services. It cannot be assured that the infrastructure that supports blockchain-based technologies 
will continue to be able to support the demands placed upon it by this continued growth or that the 
performance or reliability of the technology will not be adversely affected by this continued growth. It is 
further not assured that the infrastructure or complementary products or services necessary to make 
blockchain-based technologies viable will be developed in a timely manner, or that such development will 
not result in the requirement of incurring substantial costs in order to adapt the Company’s services to 
changing technologies. 

Errors in Company Products  

The Company’s products are highly technical and complex. The Company’s products may now or in the 
future contain undetected errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities. Some errors in the Company’s products may only 
be discovered after they have been released. Any errors, bugs, or vulnerabilities discovered in the Company’s 
products after release could result in damage to the Company’s reputation, loss of users, loss of revenue, or 
liability for damages, any of which could adversely affect the Company’s business and financial results. 

Protection of Intellectual Property Rights  

The Company’s supply chain solution is proprietary. The Company’s strategy is to rely on a combination of 
intellectual property protections in the United States and other jurisdictions, and to rely on license and 
confidentiality agreements and software security measures to further protect its proprietary technology and 
brand. The steps the Company has taken to protect its proprietary rights may not be adequate to avoid the 
misappropriation of its technology or independent development by others of technologies that may be 
considered a competitor. The Company’s intellectual property rights may expire or be challenged, invalidated 
or infringed upon by third parties or it may be unable to maintain, renew or enter into new licenses or user 
agreements on commercially reasonable terms. Any misappropriation of the Company’s technology or 
development of competitive technologies could harm its business or cause it to lose the competitive 
advantages associated with its proprietary technology, and could subject it to substantial costs in protecting 
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and enforcing its intellectual property rights, and/or temporarily or permanently disrupt its sales and 
marketing of the affected products or services.  

Violation of Third Party Intellectual Property Rights  

The only significant intellectual property rights are certain intellectual property the Company has in the graph 
database solution and in other future products and solutions it develops. Although the Company is not aware 
of violating commercial and other proprietary rights of third parties, there can be no assurance that its 
products do not violate proprietary rights of third parties or that third parties will not assert or claim that such 
violation has occurred. Although no legal disputes in this respect or perceptible detrimental effects on the 
Company business have arisen to date, any such claims and disputes arising may result in liability for 
substantial damages which in turn could harm the Company’s business, results of operations and financial 
condition. 

Dependence on Third Party Relationships  

The Company is highly dependent on a number of third party relationships to conduct its business and 
implement expansion plans. it cannot be assured that all of these partnerships will turn out to be as 
advantageous as currently anticipated or that other partnerships would not have proven to be more 
advantageous. In addition, it is impossible to assure that all associated partners will perform their obligations 
as agreed. 

General Regulatory Risks 

The Company’s business will be subject to a variety of laws, regulations and guidelines and licensing 
requirements in Canada and the United States. Achievement of the Company’s business objectives will be 
contingent, in part, upon compliance with applicable regulatory requirements and obtaining all requisite 
regulatory approvals.  

The Company will be required to obtain or renew further government permits, licenses and registrations for 
its contemplated operations. Obtaining, amending or renewing the necessary governmental permits and 
licenses can be a time-consuming process potentially involving numerous regulatory agencies, involving 
public hearings and costly undertakings on the Company’s part. The duration and success of the Company’s 
efforts to obtain, amend and renew permits and licenses will be contingent upon many variables not within 
its control, including the interpretation of applicable requirements implemented by the relevant permitting or 
licensing authority. The Company may not be able to obtain, amend or renew permits or licenses that are 
necessary to its operations. Any unexpected delays or costs associated with the permitting and licensing 
process could impede the ongoing or proposed operations of the Company. To the extent permits, licenses or 
registrations are not obtained, amended or renewed, or are subsequently suspended or revoked, the Company 
may be curtailed or prohibited from proceeding with its ongoing operations or planned development and 
commercialization activities. Such curtailment or prohibition may result in a material adverse effect on the 
Company’s business, financial condition, results of operations or prospects. 

There is no assurance that the Company’s licenses, permits or registrations will be renewed by each 
applicable regulatory authority in the future in a timely manner. Any unexpected delays or costs associated 
with the licensing renewal process for any of the licenses held by the Company could impede the ongoing or 
planned operations of the Company and have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, financial 
condition, results of operations or prospects. 

The Company may become involved in a number of government or agency proceedings, investigations and 
audits. The outcome of any regulatory or agency proceedings, investigations, audits, and other contingencies 
could harm the Company’s reputation, require the Company to take, or refrain from taking, actions that could 
harm its operations or require the Company to pay substantial amounts of money, harming its financial 
condition. There can be no assurance that any pending or future regulatory or agency proceedings, 
investigations and audits will not result in substantial costs or a diversion of management’s attention and 
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resources or have a material adverse impact on the Company’s business, financial condition, results of 
operations or prospects. 

Economic Environment 

The Company’s operations could be affected by general economic context conditions should the 
unemployment level, interest rates or inflation reach levels that influence consumer trends, and consequently, 
impact the Company’s sales and profitability. As well, general demand for banking services and alternative 
banking or financial services cannot be predicted and future prospects of such areas might be different from 
those predicted by the Company’s management. 

Failure to Grow at the Rate Anticipated  

The Company is a start-up company with no history of sales or profitability. If the Company is unable to 
achieve adequate revenue growth, its ability to become profitable may be adversely affected and the 
Company may not have adequate resources to execute its business strategy. 

Management of Growth  

The Company may be subject to growth-related risks including pressure on its internal systems and controls. 
The Company’s ability to manage its growth effectively will require it to continue to implement and improve 
its operational and financial systems. The inability of the Company to deal with this growth could have a 
material adverse impact on its business, operations and prospects. While management believes that it will 
have made the necessary investments in infrastructure to process anticipated volume increases in the short 
term, the Company may experience growth in the number of its employees and the scope of its operating and 
financial systems, resulting in increased responsibilities for the Company’s personnel, the hiring of additional 
personnel and, in general, higher levels of operating expenses. In order to manage its current operations and 
any future growth effectively, the Company will also need to continue to implement and improve its 
operational, financial and management information systems and to hire, train, motivate and manage its 
employees. There can be no assurance that the Company will be able to manage such growth effectively, that 
its management, personnel or systems will be adequate to support the Company’s operations or that the 
Company will be able to achieve the increased levels of revenue commensurate with the increased levels of 
operating expenses associated with this growth. 

Strain of Being a Public Company  

As a reporting issuer, the Company will be subject to the reporting requirements of applicable securities 
legislation of the jurisdictions in which it is a reporting issuer, the listing requirements of the CSE and other 
applicable securities rules and regulations. Compliance with these rules and regulations will increase the 
Company’s legal and financial compliance costs, make some activities more difficult, time-consuming or 
costly and increase demand on its systems and resources. Applicable securities laws will require the Company 
to, among other things, file certain annual and quarterly reports with respect to its business and results of 
operations. In addition, applicable securities laws will require the Company to, among other things, maintain 
effective disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting. In order to maintain 
and, if required, improve its disclosure controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting 
to meet this standard, significant resources and management oversight may be required. Specifically, due to 
the increasing complexity of its transactions, it is anticipated that the Company will improve its disclosure 
controls and procedures and internal control over financial reporting primarily through the continued 
development and implementation of formal policies, improved processes and documentation procedures, as 
well as the continued sourcing of additional finance resources. As a result, management’s attention may be 
diverted from other business concerns, which could harm the Company’s business and results of operations. 
To comply with these requirements, the Company may need to hire more employees in the future or engage 
outside consultants, which will increase its costs and expenses.  

In addition, changing laws, regulations and standards relating to corporate governance and public disclosure 
are creating uncertainty for public companies, increasing legal and financial compliance costs and making 
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some activities more time-consuming. These laws, regulations and standards are subject to varying 
interpretations, in many cases due to their lack of specificity, and, as a result, their application in practice 
may evolve over time as new guidance is provided by regulatory and governing bodies. This could result in 
continuing uncertainty regarding compliance matters and higher costs necessitated by ongoing revisions to 
disclosure and governance practices. the Company intends to continue to invest resources to comply with 
evolving laws, regulations and standards, and this investment may result in increased general and 
administrative expenses and a diversion of management’s time and attention from revenue- generating 
activities to compliance activities. If its efforts to comply with new laws, regulations and standards differ 
from the activities intended by regulatory or governing bodies due to ambiguities related to their application 
and practice, regulatory authorities may initiate legal proceedings against the Company, which could 
adversely affect the Company’s business and financial results.  

As a public company subject to these rules and regulations, the Company may find it more expensive for it 
to obtain director and officer liability insurance, and it may be required to accept reduced coverage or incur 
substantially higher costs to obtain coverage. These factors could also make it more difficult for the Company 
to attract and retain qualified members of its board of directors, particularly to serve on its audit committee, 
and qualified executive officers.  

As a result of disclosure of information in filings required of a public company, the Company’s business and 
financial condition will become more visible, which may result in threatened or actual litigation, including 
by competitors and other third parties. If such claims are successful, the Company’s business and results of 
operations could be harmed, and even if the claims do not result in litigation or are resolved in its favor, these 
claims, and the time and resources necessary to resolve them, could divert the resources of the Company’s 
management and harm its business and results of operations. 

Litigation  

The Company may become involved in litigation that may materially adversely affect it. From time to time 
in the ordinary course of the Company business, it may become involved in various legal proceedings. Such 
matters can be time-consuming, divert management’s attention and resources and cause the Company to 
incur significant expenses. Furthermore, because litigation is inherently unpredictable, the results of any such 
actions may have a material adverse effect on the Company’s business, operating results or financial 
condition. More specifically, the Company may face claims relating to information that is retrieved from or 
transmitted over the Internet or through the solution and claims related to the Company’s products. In 
particular, the nature of the Company’s business exposes it to claims related to intellectual property rights, 
rights of privacy, and personal injury torts. Furthermore, there is no assurance that any liability incurred as a 
result of litigation ican be recovered from the Company’s insurance policy. 

Conflicts of interest  

The directors of the Company are required by law to act honestly and in good faith with a view to the best 
interests of the Company and to disclose any interests, which they may have in any project or opportunity of 
the Company. If a conflict of interest arises at a meeting of the board of directors, any director in a conflict 
will disclose his interest and abstain from voting on such matter. Conflicts, if any, will be subject to the 
procedures and remedies as provided under the OBCA. To the best of the Company’s knowledge, and other 
than disclosed herein, there are no known existing or potential conflicts of interest between the Company and 
its directors and officers except that certain of the directors and officers may serve as directors and/or officers 
of other companies, and therefore it is possible that a conflict may arise between their duties to the Company 
and their duties as a director or officer of such other companies. 
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Currency Risk  

To the extent that the Company expands its business into Asia, the United States and Europe, the Company 
will be exposed to foreign currency fluctuations to the extent that certain operations are located in Asia, the 
United States and Europe and therefore certain expenditures and obligations are denominated in foreign 
currency, yet the Company is headquartered in Canada, has applied to list its Common Shares on a Canadian 
stock exchange and typically raises funds in Canadian dollars. As such, the Company’s results of operations 
are subject to foreign currency fluctuation risks and such fluctuations may adversely affect the financial 
position and operating results of the Company. 

Difficulty to Forecast  

The Company must rely largely on its own market research to forecast sales as detailed forecasts are not 
generally obtainable from other sources at this early stage of the industrial supply chain management industry 
in the USA. A failure in the demand for its products to materialize as a result of competition, technological 
change or other factors could have a material adverse effect on the business, results of operations and financial 
condition of the Company. 

Internal Controls  

Effective internal controls are necessary for the Company to provide reliable financial reports and to help 
prevent fraud. Although the Company will undertake a number of procedures and will implement a number 
of safeguards, in each case, in order to help ensure the reliability of its financial reports, including those 
imposed on the Company under Canadian securities law, the Company cannot be certain that such measures 
will ensure that the Company will maintain adequate control over financial processes and reporting. Failure 
to implement required new or improved controls, or difficulties encountered in their implementation, could 
harm the Company's results of operations or cause it to fail to meet its reporting obligations. If the Company 
or its auditors discover a material weakness, the disclosure of that fact, even if quickly remedied, could reduce 
the market's confidence in the Company's consolidated financial statements and materially adversely affect 
the trading price of the Company’s Shares. 

COVID-19 

The outbreak of the coronavirus (“COVID-19”) pandemic has impacted the Company’s plans and activities. 
The Company may face disruption to operations, supply chain delays, travel and trade restrictions and impact 
on economic activity in affected countries or regions can be expected and can be difficult to quantify. Such 
pandemics or diseases represent a serious threat to maintaining a skilled workforce industry and could be a 
major health-care challenge for the Company. There can be no assurance that the Company’s personnel will 
not be impacted by these pandemic diseases and ultimately that the Company would see its workforce 
productivity reduced or incur increased medical costs/insurance premiums as a result of these health risks. In 
addition, the COVID-19 pandemic has created a dramatic slowdown in the global economy. The duration of 
the COVID-19 outbreak and the resultant travel restrictions, social distancing, Government response actions, 
business closures and business disruptions, can all have an impact on the Company’s operations and access 
to capital. There can be no assurance that the Company will not be impacted by adverse consequences that 
may be brought about by the COVID-19 pandemic on global financial markets may reduce resource prices, 
share prices and financial liquidity and thereby that may severely limit the financing capital available. 
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Cautionary Statement  
 
The actual results could differ materially from those anticipated in these forward-looking statements as a 
result of the risk factors set forth below and elsewhere in this MD&A: Certain statements contained in this 
MD&A may constitute forward-looking statements. These statements relate to future events or the 
Company's future performance. All statements, other than statements of historical fact, may be forward-
looking statements. Forward-looking statements are often, but not always, identified by the use of words such 
as "seek", "anticipate", "plan", "continue", "estimate", "expect", "may", "will", "project", "predict", 
“propose”, "potential", "targeting", "intend", "could", "might", "should", "believe" and similar expressions. 
These statements involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause actual 
results or events to differ materially from those anticipated in such forward-looking statements. The Company 
believes that the expectations reflected in those forward-looking statements are reasonable, but no assurance 
can be given that these expectations will prove to be correct and such forward-looking statements included 
in this MD&A should not be unduly relied upon by investors as actual results may vary. These statements 
speak only as of the date of this MD&A and are expressly qualified, in their entirety, by this cautionary 
statement. In particular, this MD&A contains forward-looking statements, pertaining to the following: capital 
expenditure programs, development of resources, treatment under governmental regulatory and taxation 
regimes, expectations regarding the Company's ability to raise capital, expenditures to be made by the 
Company to meet certain work commitments, and work plans to be conducted by the Company 
 



SCHEDULE “J” 

AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER



CHARTER OF THE AUDIT COMMITTEE  

OF 1014379 B.C. LTD. (the “Company”) 

1. Purpose 

1.1. The Audit Committee is ultimately responsible for the policies and practices relating to 

integrity of financial and regulatory reporting, as well as internal controls to achieve the 

objectives of safeguarding of corporate assets; reliability of information; and compliance 

with policies and laws.  Within this mandate, the Audit Committee’s role is to: 

(a) support the Board of Directors in meeting its responsibilities to shareholders; 

(b) enhance the independence of the external auditor; 

(c) facilitate effective communications between management and the external auditor 

and provide a link between the external auditor and the Board of Directors; 

(d) increase the credibility and objectivity of the Company’s financial reports and 

public disclosure. 

1.2. The Audit Committee will make recommendations to the Board of Directors regarding 

items relating to financial and regulatory reporting and the system of internal controls 

following the execution of the Committee’s responsibilities as described herein. 

1.3. The Audit Committee will undertake those specific duties and responsibilities listed below 

and such other duties as the Board of Directors from time to time prescribe. 

2. Membership 

2.1. Each member of the Audit Committee must be a director of the Company. 

2.2. The Audit Committee will consist of at least three members, the majority of whom are 

neither officers nor employees of the Company or any of its affiliates. 

2.3. The members of the Audit Committee will be appointed annually by and will serve at the 

discretion of the Board of Directors. 

3. Authority 

3.1. In addition to all authority required to carry out the duties and responsibilities included in 

this charter, the Audit Committee has specific authority to: 
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(a) engage, and set and pay the compensation for, independent counsel and other 

advisors as it determines necessary to carry out its duties and responsibilities; and 

(b) communicate directly with management and any internal auditor, and with the 

external auditor without management involvement. 

(c) Approve interim financial statements and interim MD&A on behalf of the Board of 

Directors.

4. Duties and Responsibilities 

4.1. The duties and responsibilities of the Audit Committee include: 

(a) recommending to the Board of Directors the external auditor to be nominated by 

the Board of Directors; 

(b) recommending to the Board of Directors the compensation of the external auditor; 

(c) reviewing the external auditor’s audit plan, fee schedule and any related services 

proposals; 

(d) overseeing the work of the external auditor; 

(e) ensuring that the external auditor is in good standing with the Canadian Public 

Accountability Board and will enquire if there are any sanctions imposed by the 

CPAB on the external auditor; 

(f) ensuring that the external auditor meets the rotation requirements for partners and 

staff on the Company’s audits; 

(g) reviewing and discussing with management and the external auditor the annual 

audited financial statements, including discussion of material transactions with 

related parties, accounting policies, as well as the external auditor’s written 

communications to the Committee and to management; 

(h) reviewing the external auditor’s report, audit results and financial statements prior 

to approval by the Board of Directors; 

(i) reporting on and recommending to the Board of Directors the annual financial 

statements and the external auditor’s report on those financial statements, prior to 

Board approval and dissemination of financial statements to shareholders and the 

public; 
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(j) reviewing financial statements, MD&A and annual and interim earnings press 

releases prior to public disclosure of this information; 

(k) ensuring adequate procedures are in place for review of all public disclosure of 

financial information by the Company, prior to is dissemination to the public; 

(l) overseeing the adequacy of the Company’s system of internal accounting controls 

and internal audit process obtaining from the external auditor summaries and 

recommendations for improvement of such internal accounting controls; 

(m) ensuring the integrity of disclosure controls and internal controls over financial 

reporting; 

(n) resolving disputes between management and the external auditor regarding 

financial reporting; 

(o) establishing procedures for:  

i. the receipt, retention and treatment of complaints received by the Company 

from employees and others regarding accounting, internal accounting 

controls or auditing matters and questionable practices relating thereto; and 

ii. the confidential, anonymous submission by employees of the Company or 

concerns regarding questionable accounting or auditing matters.  

(p) reviewing and approving the Company’s hiring policies with respect to partners or 

employees (or former partners or employees) of either a former or the present 

external auditor; 

(q) pre-approving all non-audit services to be provided to the Company or any 

subsidiaries by the Company’s external auditor; 

(r) overseeing compliance with regulatory authority requirements for disclosure of 

external auditor services and Audit Committee activities. 

4.2. The Audit Committee will report, at least annually, to the Board regarding the Committee’s 

examinations and recommendations. 

5. Meetings 

5.1. The quorum for a meeting of the Audit Committee is a majority of the members of the 

Committee who are not officers or employees of the Company or of an affiliate of the 

Company. 
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5.2. The members of the Audit Committee must elect a chair from among their number and 

may determine their own procedures. 

5.3. The Audit Committee may establish its own schedule that it will provide to the Board of 

Directors in advance. 

5.4. The external auditor is entitled to receive reasonable notice of every meeting of the Audit 

Committee and to attend and be heard thereat. 

5.5. A member of the Audit Committee or the external auditor may call a meeting of the Audit 

Committee. 

5.6. The Audit Committee will meet separately with the President and separately with the Chief 

Financial Officer of the Company at least annually to review the financial affairs of the 

Company. 

5.7. The Audit Committee will meet with the external auditor of the Company at least once 

each year, at such time(s) as it deems appropriate, to review the external auditor’s 

examination and report. 

5.8. The chair of the Audit Committee must convene a meeting of the Audit Committee at the 

request of the external auditor, to consider any matter that the auditor believes should be 

brought to the attention of the Board of Directors or the shareholders. 

6. Reports 

6.1. The Audit Committee will record its recommendations to the Board in written form which 

will be incorporated as a part of the minutes of the Board of Directors’ meeting at which 

those recommendations are presented. 

7. Minutes 

7.1. The Audit Committee will maintain written minutes of its meetings, which minutes will be 
filed with the minutes of the meetings of the Board of Directors.



SCHEDULE “K” 

DIRECTORS’ MANDATE



1014379 B.C. LTD.
(the “Corporation”)

DIRECTORS’ MANDATE

Directors’ Responsibilities

The board of directors of the Corporation (the “Directors”) are explicitly responsible for the 
stewardship of the Corporation. To discharge this obligation, the Directors should assume 
responsibility in the following areas: 

Strategic Planning Process

 Provide input to management on emerging trends and issues. 
 Review and approve, if appropriate, management’s strategic and/or business plans as well 

as the process by which such plans are developed on an annual basis. 
 Review and approve the Corporation’s financial objectives, plans and actions, including 

significant capital allocations and expenditures. 

Monitoring Tactical Progress

 Monitor corporate performance of the Corporation against the strategic and business plans, 
including assessing operating results to evaluate whether the business is being properly 
managed. 

Risk Assessment

 Identify the principal risks of the Corporation’s businesses and ensure that appropriate 
systems are in place to manage these risks. 

Senior Level Staffing and Succession Planning

 Select, monitor and evaluate the Chief Executive Officer of the Corporation (the “CEO”) 
and other senior executives of the Corporation, and ensure management succession. 

 Approve a position description for the CEO, including limits to management’s 
responsibilities and corporate objectives which the CEO is responsible for meeting. 

 Engage in succession planning including appointing, training and monitoring senior 
management. 

Integrity

 Ensure the integrity of the Corporation’s internal control and management information 
systems. 

 Ensure ethical behaviour and compliance with laws and regulations, audit and accounting 
principles, and the Corporation’s own governing documents. 
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 Satisfy themselves as to the integrity of the CEO and other executive officers and that the 
CEO and other executive officers create a culture of integrity throughout the organization. 

Material Transactions

 Review and approve material transactions involving the Corporation and/or affiliates of the 
Corporation not in the ordinary course of business. 

Monitoring Directors’ Effectiveness

 Assess its own effectiveness in fulfilling the above and Directors’ responsibilities, 
including monitoring the effectiveness of individual Directors. 

Expectations and Responsibilities

 Directors are expected to attend all meetings of the board. Directors are expected to have 
reviewed meeting materials in advance of meetings. 

Other

 Perform such other functions as prescribed by law or assigned to the Directors in the 
Corporation’s Articles and By-laws. 



C-1 

CERTIFICATE OF THE COMPANY 

Dated: November 27, 2020  

This Prospectus constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating to the securities 
previously issued by the issuer as required by securities legislation of the Provinces of British Columbia 
and Alberta. 

(Signed) Eugene Beukman
President 

(Signed) Peter Nguyen 

Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

(Signed) Alexander Somjen
Director 

(Signed) Joel Dumaresq
Director 
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CERTIFICATE OF CAPTIOS 

Dated: November 27, 2020  

The foregoing, as it relates to Captios, constitutes full, true and plain disclosure of all material facts relating 
to the securities of Captios. 

(Signed) James Greenwell
President 

(Signed) Gene McConnell 

Chief Financial Officer and Corporate Secretary 

On behalf of the Board of Directors 

(Signed) James Greenwell
Director 

(Signed) Gene McConnell
Director 
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	 $300,000  in Software License Fees as follows:
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	i) $200,000 paid on or before November 30, 2020.
	ii) $10,000 per month paid at the end of each of the subsequent 10 months, through September 2021.
	ii) $10,000 per month paid at the end of each of the subsequent 10 months, through September 2021.
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	 The Company retains the right to obtain exclusivity within the 12 month period following execution of the agreement for the licensed industries under terms which will be negotiated between the parties and for not less than $900,000.
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	 The Company will pay to TrackX development, integration, support and other service fees based upon the then current TrackX services pricing and as agreed by TrackX and the Company within an associated services agreement.




